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CKPUHIHT ITPAMHUX
IHO3EMHMX IHBECTHULIIH:
MIXK CIIJIVIOIO TA XAPUB/JI010

Bcemyn. [nozemui ineecmuyii moocymo 6ymu
AK YMOB0I0 NPOYGIMAHHA Y 0epiHcasi-peyunicHmi,
mak i Hecmu cymmesi pusuku O01A HAYIOHANbHUX
inmepecie ma exonomiunoi Oesnexu. Came momy
3a0eK1aposana 0epacasamu ceiny 6e33acmepedrcHa
BIOKpUMICMYb 0151 MIJICHAPOOHUX THEeCmuUYiti KOMNEH-
CYEMbCA  MeXauizMamu  ynpagninus GION0SIOHUMU
pusuKamu, wo uacmiwe 3a eéce Habysaioms Gopmy
MeXaHizmMie CKpUHIH2Y THO3eMHUX THBeCMUYT.

Ilpoonema. Ilpomubopcmeo mipKysans HeoOXio-
HOCMi, 6aAXCAHOCMI THO3EMHUX THEeCUYIL | MIDKY8aHb
HayioHANbHOI besneku ma nyoONUHO20 NOPAOKY €
Cyinnoro ma Xapuboorw 05 CyuacHux 3aKoHo0asyis,
AKI HAMAa2aromuvcsl 8UOYOysamu 30aNAHCO8AHT MEXAHIZMU
Odeparcagnozo konmponio. Ane yiii npodoremamuyi ne
NPUOLTSIENLESL OOCIAMHBOL Y8a2Y GINTYLBHHUMU HAYKOGYSIML.

Mema cmammi — 6usHauumu Hanpamu Gopmy-
8AHHA NONMUKU YKpaiHu Wo0o 3anpoeaoicentst cKpu-
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FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT
SCREENING: BETWEEN SCYLLA
AND CHARYBDIS

Introduction. Foreign investments can be
both a condition for prosperity in the recipient state
and carry significant risks for national interests and
economic security. That is why the unconditional
openness to international investments declared
by the states of the world is compensated by mecha-
nisms for managing the corresponding risks, which
most often take the form of screening mechanisms
for foreign investments.

Problem. The conflict between considerations
of necessity, the quality of foreign investments, and
considerations of national security and public
order is Scylla and Charybdis for modern
legislators who are trying to build balanced
mechanisms of state control. But domestic scientists
do not pay enough attention to this issue.

The aim of the article: changes in the
direction of policy formation of Ukraine regarding

ABTOPM He OTPMMYBaAMN NPAMOro GiHaHCYBaHHA ANA LbOTO AOCAIAKEHHS.

BHecoK aBTOpiB € pPiBHO3HAYHUM.
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BUKAVIKU €BPOIHTEIPAIILI

HIHEY NpAMUX [HO3eMHUX IHéecmuyill uepe3 Npusmy
npakmuxu €sponeticbkoeo Coro3y ma 3abe3neueHHs
61ACHUX HAYIOHATIbHUX [HMEpeCis.

Pezynomamu. Possurymi Oepoicasu ma oepoicasu,
Wo po36UBAIOMbCA, 3aNPoBAOUNU HOBI aDO NOCUNUNU
HAABHI MEXAHIZMU CKPUHIHZY NPAMUX IHO3EMHUX
ineecmuyill, 6CMAHOBIIOIOYU HOBI Pe2VIIIMOPHI GUMO2U
ona  iHeecmopis, pO3UIUPIOIOYYU CREeKmp  2any3eil
EeKOHOMIKU, W0 RNiONa0amumyms ni0 MOHIMOPUHS,
Haoanuu 000amKO8i NOBHOBANCEHHS Pe2yIAMOPHUM
opzanam.

OcHosHi Kpumepii 0151 NPO8eOeH s CKPUHIHZY
NPAMUX THO3EMHUX THEeCUYIll — HAYIOHATbHA Oe3neKa
ma nyoniuHull NOPsIOOK — HAbY8AIMb HOB020 PO3ULU-
PEHO20 MAYMAYEHHS ) PI3HUX I0PUCOUKYIAX, WO Hece
pusuKu 30iIbeHHs 06C52I68 IHO3EMHUX THEeCmUYIlL.

Bucnoeku. Mexanizmu  ckpuniney npamux
iHO3eMHuXx iHgecmuyitl mpaouyitino Oyoyiomvca Ha
NPUHYUNAX NPO30POCHI, HEOUCKPUMIHAYIL, 00IpyHmO-
8aHOCI, 00 €KMUBHOCI, KOH@IOeHyitiHocmi, Wo oae
3MO2y NEeGHOI0 MIpOI0 Helimpanizyeamu He2amueHull
eghexm 6i0 maxoi pezyisiMOPHOL nepeuKoou.

Bimuusnuani 3axonooaeyi marome y coemy
PO3NOPAONCEHHI 3HAYHUL [HO3EMHULL 00C8I0 3anpo-
BAOJICEHHS CKPUHIHZY NPAMUX [HO3EMHUX [HEeCmuyitl
Ma NOMEHYILIHO MOXHCYMb 6MINUMU HAUIKPAW NPAKMUKU
ma saxuwamu HayionamvHi inmepecu Yxpainu. 3anpo-
BAOIICEHHSL MEXAHI3MY CKPUHIHZY NPAMUX [THO3EMHUX
ineecmuyiti Cynpo8ooICyEmovcs NeGHUMU BUKTUKAMU
Ma pusukamu, 0 HOOOJIAHHS SIKUX HeOOXIOHA pemebHa
3aKOHONPOEKNHA pOOOMA Ma GUCOKONPOPeCiliHa Ni02o-
moeka Kaopie 0 peanizayii Mexawizmy CKpUHinzy
NPAMUX THOZEMHUX THBECTNUYITL.

Knwuoei cnoea: CKpHHIHT MPSIMUX 1HO3EM-
HUX 1HBECTHIIiH, IHO3EMHHI 1HBECTOpP, HAIllIOHAIbLHA
Oesneka, eBpoinTerpais, Permament 2019/452.

JEL Classification: F15, F21, F52.

the introduction of screening of direct foreign
investments through the prism of the practice of the
European Union and ensuring its own national
interests.

Results. Developed and developing countries
have introduced new or strengthened existing
screening mechanisms for foreign direct investment,
establishing new regulatory requirements for
investors, expanding the range of economic sectors
subject to monitoring, and providing additional
powers to regulatory authorities. The main criteria
for screening foreign direct investments - national
security and public order — are given a new and
expanded interpretation in different jurisdictions,
which carries the risks of increasing the volume of
foreign investments.

Conclusions. Screening mechanisms of direct
foreign investments are traditionally built on the
principles of transparency, non-discrimination,
reasonableness, objectivity, and confidentiality,
which allows to neutralize to a certain extent the
negative effect of such a regulatory obstacle.
Ukrainian legislators have at their disposal
significant foreign experience in the introduction of
foreign direct investment screening and can
implement best practices and protect Ukraine’s
national interests. The introduction of the foreign
direct  investment screening mechanism  is
accompanied by certain challenges and risks, to
overcome which thorough project work and highly
professional  training of personnel for the
implementation of the foreign direct investment
screening mechanism is necessary.

Keywords: foreign direct investment scree-
ning, foreign investor, national security, European
integration, Regulation 2019/452

KoH®niKT iHTepeciB: ABTOpU 3aABNAIOTb, WO BOHM HE MatoTb GiHAHCOBUX UM HediHaHCOBUX KOHDNIKTIB
iHTepeciB wWoao uiei nybnikauii; He MaloTb BiAHOCMH 3 AepKaBHUMM OpraHamu, KomepuiiHumu abo
HEKOMEPLiNHUMM opraHisauismu, ki mornm 6 6yTu 3auikaBneHi y nogaHHi Liel To4KK 30py. 3 ornaay Ha Te,
O OAMH 3 aBTOPIB HE MPALIOE B YCTAHOBI, AKa € BUAABLEM JKYPHAJY, LLO MOXE 3YMOBUTU MOTEHLiNHWUIA
KOHONIKT abo nifo3py B ynepeakeHoCTi, OCTaToYHe pilleHHs npo nyb6aikauito uiei cTaTtTi (BKAKOYHO
3 BUOOPOM peLLeH3EeHTIB | peakTopis) Npuiimanocs TMMU YleHamu pefKoserii, AKi He MoB’A3aHi 3 Uiew
YCTaHOBOIO.

Beryn. [Ho3eMHI iHBeCTHIIIT MOXKYTh OYTH SIK YMOBOIO TPOIIBITAHHS
y Jep’KaBi-pEeIUIIEHT], TaK 1 HECTH CYTTEBI PU3MKHU JIs HalllOHAJTBHUX
1HTEepeciB Ta eKOHOMIUHO1 Oe3rneku. Came ToMy 3ajieKIapoBaHa Jiep:KaBaMu
CBiTy 0e33acTepeKHa BIAKPHUTICTH JJII MIKHAPOJAHUX 1HBECTHIIIN KOMIICH-
CY€TbCsSl MEXaHI3MaMM YNPaBiHHS BIANOBIAHUMHM PU3MKaMH, L0 YacTille
3a Bce HaO0yBaroTh (OPMY MEXaHI3MIB CKPUHIHTY 1HO3EMHHUX 1HBECTHIIIN.

[IpotubGopcTBO MipKyBaHb HEOOXIIHOCTI, OaXaHOCTI 1HO3EMHUX
IHBECTHI[I Ta MIpKYBaHb HalllOHAJILHOI O€3MEeKU W MyOJIYHOrO MOPSIKY €
Cuimnoro tTa Xapubmorw Il CydacHUX 3aKOHOJABIIB, 110 HAMAararoThCs
BUOYIyBaTH 30aJlaHCOBaHI MEXaHI3MHU JIEP>KaBHOTO KOHTpoio. J[o Toro x
CKIAAHICTh XapuOau TaK0XX BU3HAYAETHCS MIKHAPOJIHUMH TOPTOBEIHHO-
€KOHOMIYHUMH 3000B’SI3aHHSMHU  JIepKaB IIOJI0 JOMYCKY 1HO3EMHHX
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BUKAVIKU €BPOIHTEIPAIIIL

1HBECTOpIB Ha BHYTPIIIHI PUHKH, IO 3BYXKY€E MOXIMBOCTI 3alpOBaKEHHS
OOMEXeHb, 3BOISYM iX /10 BU3HAHUX (DAaKTOPIB HAIIOHATBHOI OE3IMEeKH Ta
MyOJIIYHOTO MOPANIKY. €BpOIHTErpalliiiHl MparHeHHs Y KpaiHu 3yMOBIIOIOTh
HEOOXITHICTh BpaxoByBaTH BuMoru €Bponeiicbkoro Coro3zy 11010
GyHKITIOHYBaHHSI MEXaHI3MIB CKpUHIHTY 1HO3eMHUX 1HBecTullii. Lle it Oyme
Npe/IMETOM  JIOCHI/DKEHHS, TIOpSI 3 aHali30M  EBOJIOII  CTAHOBJICHHS
BIJIMOBITHOTO MPABOBOTO 1HCTUTYTY B PI3HHUX JAeprKaBaX, BUOKPEMJICHHIM
¢dakTopiB, SKi BIIMBAIM Ha (OPMYBaHHS LHOTO IHCTHTYTY BIIPOJOBXK
octanHix 60 pokiB. I[HO3eMH1 1HBECTHIIli Oe33amepeyHo CTaHyTh (aKTOpOM
MOBOEHHOTO BIIHOBJICHHSI YKpaiHu, K 1 MOJaNbllla IHTEeTpallis y r1o0anpHi
JAHIIOTH MTOCTAYaHHSA, a B €KOHOMILI JIep>KaBU MaroTh OyTH MIHIMI30BaH1
MO>KJIMBI HETaTUBHI PU3UKH Bl 1HO3EMHHX 1HBECTHIIIH.

IIpo6aema. Came ToMy MOTOYHA MpoOJEeMaTHKa CTaTTl TOJIATAE
y BIZICYTHOCTI cepell BITUM3HSHHUX MyONiKaliii KPUTHYHOTO aHaji3y €BpO-
NEeHUChbKOr0 MEXaHI3My CKPUHIHTY NpPSIMUX 1HO3€MHHUX IHBECTHIIH, KU €
BOXJIMBUM 3 OTJISAy Ha T€, IO OCTaHHIN Mae OyTH BpaxOBaHUU Yy 3aKOHO-
IPOEKTHIN poOOTI.

AHaniz pochaimkens i1 myOuaikamii. [IpoGnemaTtnka CKpUHIHTY
npsmux iHo3emMHuX iHBectuliil (I11I) He € HOBOIO I IOPUANYHOI HAYKH,
nepiri 3 omyOIiKOBaHUX AOCTIIKEHb ciaratoTh 1970-x pokiB, 110 MOB’s13aHO
3 moyaTkoM ()OpMYyBaHHS BIATNOBITHUX MPAaBOBUX 1HCTUTYTIB Ta aHAII30M
BIUIMBY TPSIMHUX 1HO3EMHHUX IHBECTHLIM 3 OOKy TpaHCHaIlIOHAJTLHUX
kommaniii [1], 30kpema y CIIIA, ABcTpamii Ta IHIIMX FOPUCOUKINN [2].
[TomupeHUM MIAXOAOM 10 JOCTIHKEHHS MEXaHI3MIB CKPUHIHTY MPSIMHX
1HO3EeMHHX 1HBECTHIII}l CTaB MOPIBHAJIBHO-NIPAaBOBUH aHami3 [3], mo choky-
coBanuii Ha miaxoau CILIA ta €C [4].

BaxxnmuBuM mxepenom i pociipkeHb Tematuku ckpuHiary I €
JnokymeHTH OpraHizaiii eKOHOMIYHOTO CIIBPOOITHHUIITBA Ta PO3BUTKY, 30KpeMa
[Hmexc peryiasiTopHoro oOMeKeHHs MPSMUX 1HO3eMHUX iHBecTHli (OECD
Foreign Direct Investment Regulatory Restrictiveness Index), Pexomennariii
Pann momo kepiBHUX MPUHIMITB I KpaiHU-PEIliNi€HTa MO0 1HBECTH-
[IHOT TOJIITUKK CTOCOBHO HAITIOHAJBbHOI Oe31eku [5] Ta 1H.

Cepen ykpaiHCbKUX JIOCHIIHUKIB MexaHi3My ckpuHinry IIII Bapto
BUOKpPEMUTH aucepraiiiiine pociimkenns C. TeneHuka, B SKOMY PO3KPHUTO
aaMiHICTpaTUBHO-TIpaBoBi 3acaau ckpuHiHTy IIII B 00’e€kTH KpuUTHYHOT
1H(PACTPyKTypH Ta HAroJIOIIEHO Ha HEOOXITHOCTI (OpMyBaHHS BiIMOBIIHOI
HaIloHaJTLHOI KOHueNIii [6]. JlocTaTHRO IPYHTOBHUM € JOCIIIKEHHS HEYyps-
NOBOi jocHimHuibKoi opranizamii «LleHTp exoHoMiuHOi cTpaterii» (M. KuiB)
I0JI0 MIXXHAPOJHOTO JOCBIAYy Ta MEPCIEKTUBHUX HAIpPSMIB CTBOPECHHS
MEXaHI3My CKpUHIHTY TNpsSMUX 1HO3EMHHX IHBecTHLIH B Ykpaini [7].
OnyomikyBanas y 2021 p. mpoekty 3akony Ykpainu «Ilpo 3miiicHEHHs
1HO3EMHHX 1HBECTHIIN y Cy0’€KTH TOCIIOJAPIOBAHHS, II0 MAlOTh CTpaTeriuHe
3HAQYCHHS JI1 HalllOHAJIbHOI Oe3meku YKpaiHu» [8], BUKIMKAIO TMOSBY
HU3KM KPUTHUYHUX MyOIiKalii, Kl JEMOHCTPYIOTh MOTJIAIM FOPUIUYHOL
CHUIBHOTM Ha PHU3MKU Ta I[epeBard 3anpoBajKeHHs cKpuHiHry IIII
B Ykpaini [9]. BogHowac 111 TeMaTuka jaenan Oiubiiie HaOyBa€e aKTyalbHOCTI,
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€BPOIHTErpALlIfHUI Kypc YKpaiHW 3yMOBIIO€ HEOOXIAHICTH JTOCIHIJKEHHS
SIK OCTaHHIX 3pymieHs y miaxomax €C [10-12], Tak 1 Hallkpammx CBITOBUX
MpaKkTUK IIOAO0 TOMIyKY OallaHCy MIX TMOMNepeHKEHHSIM TOTEHIIIHHO
3arpO3JMBHUX 1HBECTHUIIIM 1 3a0e3MeUeHHsIM PO3BUTKY E€KOHOMIKH 3aBISKU
1HO3EMHHMM 1HBECTHIIISIM.

MeTa cTaTTi — BU3HAaUYUTH HanpsIMU (HOpPMYyBaHHS MOJITUKU Y KpaiHU
II0JI0 3alpPOBA/KCHHS] CKPUHIHTY MPSAMHUX 1HO3EMHHX IHBECTHIIN dYepe3
npu3My mpakTuku €Bponericbkoro Coro3y Ta 3a0e3NeueHHS BIACHUX
HalllOHAJILHUX 1HTEPECIB.

Metoam. /[ AOCATHEHHS METU CTaTTI MPOBEAEHO JTOKTPUHAIBHUMA
aHajiz mpoOnemMaTuku (OpPMYBaHHS MPABOBOTO 1HCTUTYTY CKPHUHIHTY
OpSMUX 1HO3EMHHMX I1HBECTHIIINA, TPOAHATI30BAaHO HOPMATHBHO-TIPABOBI
aktu CHIA, €C, Kutato Ta IHIIUX FOPUCAUKIIN, EMIIPUYHI JTOCTIIHKEHHS
Oprasxizaiiii eKOHOMIYHOTO CIIBPOOITHUIITBA Ta PO3BUTKY Ta €BpOMNEHCHKOT
Kowmicii, 6e3mocepeHb0 3aCTOCOBAHO METOAM aHaJi3y, CUHTE3Y, MOPIBHSILHO-
MPaBOBUI Ta ICTOPUYHUI METOJ TOIIO.

Pe3yabTaTn aociaigkenus. [lepedicmopis ma 0cHO8HI nepedymosu
3aNPOBAVNCEHHS CKPUHIH2Y NPAMUX THOZEMHUX THBECTNUYILL.

[linBanuuu MmexaHizMmy ckpuHinry Il 3akmageni y 1960-1970 pp.
3aB1IsKHM po0oTi OpraHizaiiii eKOHOMIYHOTO CIiBpOOITHHLITBA Ta po3BUTKY (OECP)
1 3akoHogaBuii nisuibHOCTI CIIIA. Tak, ct. 3 Komekcy OECP mpo miGepa-
mizaiito pyxy kamitairy Ta cT. 3 Konexcy OECP npo nibepanizariito moTouHuX
HEBUJIUMUX TPAHCAKII 3aKjiajJli OCHOBH PO3yMIHHSI HAalllIOHAJIbHHUX IHTE-
peciB 1 myOIIYHOTO MPABOTIOPSAIKY CTOCOBHO 1HBECTHIIHHOT TISITEHOCTI.

OpnuMm 3 mioHepiB MpaBoBOro peryntoBanHsa ckpuHiHry Il moxxHa
BBaxatn Cnonyueni [ltatn Amepuku, ne y 1975 p. cTBOpeHO BiANOBIIHUN
nepxaBHui opran — Komitet 3 iHo3eMHux iHBectulii (The Committee on
Foreign Investment) depe3 moOOIOBaHHS MOM0 MOPT(ETHHUX 1HBECTHUIIIN
nepxas — uneHiB OIIEK y CIA [13], a y1976 p. 3 MipKyBaHb HalllOHaJIbHOI
0e3neKH, MOMITHYHUX Ta €KOHOMIYHHUX MIPKYBaHb MPUNHATO BIAMOBIIHUI
3aKoH (the International Investment Survey Act) 11010 1HO3EMHUX THBECTHIIIMA
y HepyxoMicTh 1 3emito. Y 1980-x pp. BIANOBIAHI 3aKOHM NPUNHSATI
y Kanazi, Kutai Ta iHIIMX €KOHOMIYHO PO3BUHYTHUX Jiep:KaBax (HaIllpUKIal,
yiieHax «Benmkoi ciMkm»), 1 B)Ke Ha TOW Yac MOKHA OyJI0 BHOKPEMUTH J1Ba
OCHOBHI HAaIlpsIMU JEP’KABHOTO PEryJIOBaHHSA 1HO3EMHUX 1HBECTHUIIIN:
CEeKTOpaJIbHI OOMEXEHHsS 1HO3EMHHUX IHBECTULIN (HANpHUKiIaL, y ramysi
aBlalifHOTO Ta MOPCHKOTO TPAHCHIOPTY, TeNe(HOHHOTO 3B’SI3KYy, pagio Ta
TenebaueHHs, aTOMHO1 eHepreThuku, (iHaHCOBOTO cekTopy) [3] Ta kpocc-
CEeKTOpPAJIbHUN CKPUHIHT NpsAMUX 1Ho3eMHMX iHBecTulii (Himeuunna,
Opanunis, Kanaga, Anownist). Bapro 3a3naunTy, mo nutanas ckpuniary [T
SIK TIEBHOT'O OOMEXEHHS 1HBECTHUIIHOI AISUTPHOCTI BXOIWIN IO MPEAMETa
OaratoctoponHix (Hanpukiaa, ['ATT) Ta IBOCTOPOHHIX TOPrOBENBLHO-
€KOHOMIYHHMX yToJl, BIJJI3epKAJIOIOYM HaMaraHHs Jep)kaB 3HAMTH
edeKkTUBHUI OaylaHc MK KOHTPOJEM HaJ HAJXO/KCHHSM I1HBECTHIIIH,
(¢opMyBaHHAM BiJNOBIIHOTO BIUIUBY 1HO3EMHHUX 1HBECTOPIB 1 MO3UTUBHUM
edexrom Bix ckpuninry III.
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Cgoero ueproro OECP Bimirpana 3Ha4uHy pojib y TapMOHI30BaHOMY
PO3BUTKY 3aKOHOAaBCTBa 1070 ckpuHiHry IIII muisxom 3aTBepIKeHHS
y 2009 p. Pexomenpariii Pagu 1mono KepiBHUX NPUHIMUIIB ISl KpaiHH-
peuimenTa Mo/10 1HBECTUIIMHOT MOMITUKH [S5]. Tak, IpUHIIUIIN MPO30POCTI,
BIJIMOBIJAJIBHOCTI Ta MepeAdauyyBaHOCTI peali3oBaHl y HalllOHAIbHHUX
nmpaBoBUX akTax jaepxkaB — ydacHuilb OECP, a Oesnocepennbo cami
Pexomenpnarnii moBenu CBOIO €(EKTHUBHICTH, IMOMPH 3MIHH COLIATBHO-
€KOHOMIYHHUX 1 TE€OMOJITUYHUX YMOB.

[Tounnaroun 3 2016 p. migBUIIEHHS €QEKTUBHOCTI MEXaHI3MiB
ckpuninry I1II mepeGyBano y ¢okyci yBaru sik po3BUHYTHX JEpXkaB, TaK
1 Iep>KaB, IO PO3BUBAIOTHCA, amke HEKOHTposiboBaHi IIII cranoBumM
OUYEBHJIHY 3arpo3y HalllOHAJIBHUM IHTEpecaM OCTaHHIX, MOMPH TPAJAUILIIHHY
«BIOKPUTICTHY iXHIX eKoHOMIK. CyuyacHa XBWJISI yBard 3aKOHOJABIIIB
NpoBIAHUX JAepkaB cBity a0 ckpuninry [III 3ymoBnena mnepenycim
arpeCHBHOIO TIOJITUKOI0 KUTAHCHKUX 1HBECTOPIB, SKI IUISIXOM 1HBECTHIIIN
Yy BUCOKOTEXHOJIOT14HI MIAMPUEMCTBA IPArHyTh OTPUMATH AOCTYI /0 Mepe-
JOBUX TEXHOJOTIH 1 KOHTPOJIb HaJ BIJAMOBITHUMHU OO €KTaMHU I1HTENIEK-
TyanbHO1 BracHOCTI [4]. 3okpema y 2018 p. y CILIA npuitasito 3aKoH mpo
MOJICPHI3AIliI0 OISy PU3HMKIB 1HO3eMHUX 1HBecTULIN (the Foreign
Investment Risk Review Modernization Act) [14] 3 akiileHTOM Ha CKPUHIHT
KATAaHChKUX 1HBECTHIIH Ta TpaHchep TEXHOJOTIH y CTpaTeriyHUX, BUCOKO-
TeXHOJOryHuX cdepax (poOOTOTEXHIKa, ITYYHUH IHTENEKT, (hiHAHCOBI
TEXHOJIOT1i TOII0) Ta MOBHOBAXXEHHS aMEPUKAHCHKOIO YpsIly NEPEBIPSTH Ta
OJIOKYBaTH TaKi IHBECTHIIII.

Ha piBai €Bpomneiicbkkoro Coro3y MNpaBOBE PETYITIOBAHHS CKpH-
Hinry [1II 3ampoBamkeno mume y 2019 p., xomu €Bponeiiceka Kowmicis
Bu3Hana [15] HEOOXiIHICTh CTBOPEHHS BIJMOBIHOTO MEXaHI3MY IS
3axucty iHTepeciB €C, mpu UbOMY OOIPYHTYBaHHS MIAXOJIB 1 NEBHUU
doxyc Ha 3arpo3ax 3 OOKy KUTAWCHKHX 1HBECTOPIB OyJO aHAJIOTIYHUM [0
nomituku CHIA.

besnocepennro y Kurtai CKpuHIHT mpsIMUX 1HO3€MHUX 1HBECTHIIIN
3anpoBa/pKyBaBcs 13 1995 p. [16] 3 mocnioBHMUMH 3MIHaMH, Hapasi BiH
PEryIoeThesl 3aX0qaMu 1010 TIEPEBIPKH 1HO3EMHUX 1HBECTHLIIHN 3 MipKYBaHb
oesmeku [17]. Ilpu ibomy oOCAT BUJIIB AiSTBHOCTI, OXOTUICHUH MeXaHI3MOM
ckpuHinry I1II, nocriitHo 301bLIYBaBCs BiA chepH Hal[lOHATBLHOT 000POHH,
KPUTUYHOI IHPpacTpyKTypH A0 chepu nepeoBUX TEXHOIIOTIH 1 IOCTYITy 10
nepcoHabHUX JaHux. [lapanenbHOo 3akoHOMaBCTBO KwuTarw 10MOBHIO-
BAJIOCS HOpPMamH, IO PO3IIMPIOBAIM IEPeNiK BHJIB 1HBECTUIIH, SKI
M1/IT1a a1 T117] CKPHUHIHT.

Bapro 3aznaunrtu, mo mangemis COVID-19 minkpecnuia BaXJHUBICTh
Mexani3miB ckpuHiHTy 111 3 MeToro 3a0e3neueHHs CTablIbHOCTI Ta HAIIHOTO
(YHKITIOHYBaHHS CHCTEM OXOPOHH 3/I0pOB’SI Ta IMOB’SI3aHHUX 3 HEIO JaHIFOXKKIB
MOCTayaHHs, TOX OaraTto JepkaB 3HOBY TMOCWIMIM KOHTPOJIb HaJ
1HO3EMHHMH 1HBECTULISIMU.
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Tinmeku y 2020 p. 12 nepxaB — yuyacHuuib OECP mpuitHsau HOBI
3aKOHOJ[aBYl aKTW WIOJI0 TOTJIMHAHb Ta MPUAOAHHS MiANPUEMCTB, 15 —
BHECIIM 3MIHH JI0 HASBHUX MeXaHi3MiB [18].

LikaBum € Te, mo [lIBeiiapis sk oguH 3 HAMOLIBIINX PELUIIEHTIB
1HO3€MHUX 1HBECTHIIIM y CBITI TUIBKU 3aBEpIIy€e 3aKOHOIPOEKTHY POOOTY
moao Mexanizmy ckpuninry ITII [19].

Takok OYEBHUIHOI TEHACHINEID OCTAaHHIX I[IECTH MICIIIB BIJ
MOYaTKy MOBHOMACIITA0OHOTO BTOPTHEHHS POCIMCHKOI apMii HA TEPUTOPIIO
VYkpaiHu € 3anpoBa/PKEHHST HHU3KOK JEpXaB TMOCHICHUX MEXaHi3MiB
ckpuninry III, sxi moxonasaTe Bix pociiicekoro 6i3necy. Tak, ypan Kananu
onpunogHuB [IporpaMHuy 3asiBy 1100 MOHITOPUHTY POCIMCHKUX 1HBECTHLIIN
3TiIHO 3 HAIlIOHAJHHUM 1HBECTHULIHHUM 3aKoHOMaBCTBOM [20]. €Bponeiicbka
Kowmicist onpusmtoauina Pexomennanii aepxxkaBam-wienam mmozo [1II 3 pocii
Ta OLIOPYCi, 3aKJIMKAOUHU MOCKWIIMTH yBary 1o ckpuniHry I1II 3 mux nepikas [21].

Toxx MoOkHa 3pOOMTH BHUCHOBOK, IO MexaHi3MH ckpuHiHry I[III
dbopmyBaKCs BiMOBIIHO 0 3MIH I€OTOJITHYHUX YMOB, ITOCHJICHHS T7100a-
J3aifHAX BUKJIMKIB BIII3EPKATIOBAIO TOJITUKY MIOAO IMOMEPEHKCHHS Ta
pearyBaHHs Ha 3arpo3u HalllOHAJIbHIN Oe3nelll 3 00Ky 1HO3eMHUX THBECTOPIB.
[Ipy 1bOMY OYEBHJAHMM € TIOCTYNOBE PO3IIMPEHHS TOBHOBAaXXEHb
HAI[IOHAJIbHUX PETYJISTOPHUX OPTaHiB 1 3000B’s3aHbh 1HO3EMHUX 1HBECTOPIB,
po3LIMpeHHs 1HCTpyMeHTapito ckpuHidry IIII Ta Horo uyacoBux pamok.
Boanowac Taki TeHIEHINT 3yMOBIIOIOTh HEBHU3HAUCHICTh JJIS 1HBECTOPIB
1 He cnpusitoTh 3poctanHto 111, pi3Hi miaxoan A0 QYHKI[IOHYBaHHS CKpH-
Hinry 11l yckiagHO0Th IHBECTUIIIHHY MisUTBHICTD IS TPAHCHAIIOHATBHIX
KOpIopariii.

Ananiz Peenamenmy 2019/452, axum 6cmaHo8mOEMbCA MeXAHIZM
CKDUHIHZY NPAMUX THO3EMHUX THecmuyil, ujo Haoxoosms 0o €C.

Y KOHTEKCTI €BPOIHTETpallifHUX NparHeHb YKpaiHu OCOOJMBUIMA
iHTepec BUKIMKae aHami3 Permamenty 2019/452, skuM BCTaHOBIIOETHCS
MEXaHI3M CKPUHIHTY TPSIMUX I1HO3EMHUX IHBECTHIIH, 10 HAIXOIATH /0
€C (mamani — Permament 2019/452) [22], a TakoX MPaKTHKU WOTO 3aCTO-
cyBanHs (Hanpukinii 2021 p. €sponeiicbka Kowmicis omyOmikyBana 3BIT
moao ckpuninry IIII, mo naaxomute g0 €C [23]), iMImemeHTAaIll
Pernamenty 2019/452 y nepxaBax — unenax €C).

BonaTunbHiCTh  CBITOBUX T€ONOJITUYHUX YMOB, aKTyaji3auisd
3a0e3MeueHHss eKOHOMIYHOT Oe3neku sk €C 3arajoMm 1 OKpeMHX JIepkKaB —
yrieHiB €C mpuBend 10 HEOOX1HOCTI CKOOPAMHOBAHOTO TMIAXOAY Ta
3anpoBapKeHHS eauHNX miaxoaiB qo ckpuHinry Il y €C, amke mnesHi
1HO3EMHI1 1HBECTHIIIT 10 MIEBHOI JePKaBU-UICHA MOTJIM HECTH PU3UKHU TaKOK
1 JUIsl €AMHOTO BHYTPIMIHbOTO pUHKY €C, 1 11 €KOHOMIK 1HIIUX JepiKaB-
wieHiB. A orxke, Permament 2019/452 3anpoBanuB MiHIMaJIbHI BUMOTH JI0
HalllOHAJIbHUX MexaHi3MiB ckpuHiHry I[III Ta mopsimoxk cmiBpoGITHUITBA
nepxaB — uieHiB €C 11010 00MiHy 1HGOpPMAITIEI0 TTPO MOHITOPUHT MPSIMHX
1HO3€MHHUX 1HBECTHUIIIN, TMapajelbHO HAJABIIM IIMPOKI TOBHOBAXKEHHS
€Bpornelicekiii Komicii y cdepi ckpuninry I111.
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MipkyBaHHs «O€3MeKH Ta MyOJIIYHOTO MOPSAKY» 3aKJIaJIeHI B OCHOBY
€BPOIEHUCHKOTO0 MEXaHI3My CKPUHIHTY MpPSMUX 1HO3EMHHX 1HBECTHUIIIN.
VY IosicHroBansHOMY MeMopanaymi a0 Permamenty 2019/452 [24] 3a3Ha-
YEHO MPO HEOOXITHICTh «3a0€3MeUeHHs MOMITUYHOI BIAMOBIII AJIS 3aXUCTY
3aKOHHUX IHTEPECIB 010 MPSMUX 1HO3EMHHUX 1HBECTHUIIIN, K1 BUKJIUKAIOTh
3aHETIOKOEHHSI CTOCOBHO O€3MeKu 4u Tpomajicbkoro mopsanky Corosy uu
Horo aeprkaB-wieHiB». 30KpeMa depe3 Te, M0 «HEIIOAaBHO Cepis MOTJIMHAHD
€BPONEHCHKUX KOMIIAHIN 3aTyunyia 1HO3eMHHUX 1HBECTOPIB, K1 MalOTh MIITHI
3B’SI3KM 3 YpsAJAaMU CBOIX KpaiH, CTpaTerisi sIKUX 30Cepe/keHa Ha KyIiBIi
€BPONEHCHKUX KOMITaHIH, IO PO3POOISIOTh TEXHOJIOTII ad0 MATPUMYIOTH
HPpacTPyKTypy, HEOOXITHY AJIs1 BAKOHAHHS BaXJIMBUX (DYHKIIHN y CyCIUTBCTBI
Ta EKOHOMIILI.

Coepa 0ii ma mepminonocia Peenamenmy 2019/452. Tlin «ckpu-
HIHTOM» PO3YMIETHCS MPOLIEAYPa, IO Ja€ 3MOTY OLIHIOBATH, PO3CIIi Ty BaTH,
JIO3BOJISATA, OOYMOBIIIOBATH, 3a00pPOHSTH Ta 3ropTaTd MpsAMi 1HO3EMHI
inBectuili. [lomanpimmmM € BU3HaYeHHsT Oe3mocepeiHhO MPSIMUX 1HO3EMHHUX
1HBECTHUIII — Oy/ab-SKi 1HBECTHIlii 1HO3EMHOTO 1HBECTOpA, CIPSMOBaHI Ha
BCTAHOBJICHHSI a00 MIATPUMKY TPUBAJIUX 1 MPAMHX 3B’SI3KIB MK HUM Ta
¢i3uyHOI0 200 MOPUAMYHOIO 0C000I0, B SKY BKJIAAAIOTHCS 1HBECTHIIIT
3 METOIO0 BEJICHHS €KOHOMIYHOI AiSUIBHOCTI B JIepKaBi-4eHI, BKIIOUYAIOUU
IHBECTHIIIi, 10 JAIOTh MOXJIUBICTh €(EKTHUBHIM ydacTi B ympaBiiHHI abo
KOHTpOJII KOMIIaHIii, siKka BeJE€ EKOHOMIYHY JisUIbHICTh. B ocTaHHBOMY
BU3HAUCHHI 3’ SIBIISIETHCSI HOBA KOHIIETIIIS «e()EeKTHUBHOI y4acTi B yIpaBiIiHHI
Y KOHTPOJI», SIKa MIMOBIPHO BKJTFOUAE TIOBHOBAXXCHHS MPU3HAYATH TIPEICTAB-
HUKIB JI0 MIPaBJIIHHS KOMIIaHIi, HABITh 32 YMOBH HEOTPUMAaHHS Mpasa BeTo [25].
[HmwMiA miaxig 70 TIymMadyeHHS HaBEACHOIO BU3HAYEHHS rnepeadayae, 1110
iHBecTullli y (opmi MakeTiB akiid, SKi HE MPU3BOIATH 1O €(PEKTUBHOI
y4acTi B YIPaBIiHHI KOMIAHIEI0 YM KOHTPOJI, BIAMOBIAHO 10 Perimamenty
He KBali(iKylOThCs sK mpsiMi 1HO3eMHI iHBectHili. Lle Bce mie 3anuiiae
3HaYHUW TPOCTIP JJIs IHTEPIpEeTallii, HAMPUKIAJ, 00 YaCTKU aKIiiil abo
IpaB roJocy, M0 NPU3BOIUTH 10 e(heKTUBHOT y4yacTi abo koHTpodio [10].

CroBocnomydeHHs «TpUBaJll i TpsiMi 3B SI3KMW» OYEBUIHO BUKIIIOUAOTh
noptdenpbHl 1HBecTHIii 3-mig aii PermamenTty (3riiHO 3 BU3HAYCHHSIM
NOHATTS «nopTdenpHa iHBecTullis» y npakrtuill Cyay €C [26]).

Permament 2019/452 Bumarae Binm aepxkaB — wieHiB €C mig gac
ckpuniary I1II oriHrOBaTH pU3KKH I TIEBHUX c(hep eKOHOMIUHOT JISUTBHOCTI:

« KpuTHUYHA iH(}PpacTpyKTypa (BKIIOYAIOUYHU €HEPTreTUKY, TPAHCTIOPT,
BOJIONIOCTaYaHHs, OXOPOHY 3JI0pPOB’sI, 3B’S130K, 3ac00M MacoBoi iH(popmarrii,
00poOKy um 30epiraHHsl JaHHUX, a€pPOKOCMIYHY, OOOpPOHHY, BUOOpYY UHU
¢diHaHCOBY 1H(MPACTPYKTYpPY, a TAaKOXK Bpa3iuBi 00 €KTH Ta 1HBECTHUIII y
BIJIMTOBIJTHY HEPYXOMICTh);

« KPUTHYHI TEXHOJOTil Ta MpeIMEeTH MOJABIMHOTO BHKOPUCTAHHS
(30KpeMa ITYYHHM IHTEJIEKT, POOOTOTEXHIKA, HAIIBIPOBIAHUKH, KiOep-
Oe3mneka, KBAaHTOBI, a€pPOKOCMIiuHI, OOOPOHHI, €HEPrOHAKONMUYYBaIbHI Ta
SIIEPHI TEXHOJIOT11, HAHOTEXHOJIOT11 Ta 610TEXHOJIOT11);
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+ TIOCTaYaHHS KPUTUYHHUX PECypCiB (BKIIOYAIOYH E€HEPTrOpecypcH,
CHUPOBHHY Ta MPOJIOBOJIbUY O€3MeKy);

« JIOCTyn a00 MOXJIHMBICTh KOHTPOJIOBATH KOH(PIACHIINWHY 1H(OP-
Malliro (BKJIFOYar0Yu OCOOHMCTI JIaH1);

+ cBoOoa Ta mopainizm 3MI.

Cepen iHIIOTO OCOOJIMBO 3ayBaXKy€ThCS Ha 1HO3EMHHX 1HBECTOpaXx,
0 KOHTPOJIOIOTHCS YM (DIHAHCYIOTHCA TPETIMH JCpKaBaMU YU IXHIMHU
30poitHuMH cunamu (4. 2 ct. 4 Pernamenry). Bapto Takox 3a3HauuTH, 110
neperik cep eKOHOMIYHOT AISUTBHOCTI A7 3anpoBaKeHHs cKpuHiHTy [111
HE € BUKIIIOYHUM, 1 JIEP>KaBU-WICHH MOXYTh 3aIIPOBA/KYBATH OLIBII IIUPOKHUIA
Yy OUTHIIT BY3bKUH MIX1].

Bumoeu 0o nayionanvbHux mexanizmié CKpuminey npamux iHO3EeMHUX
ineecmuyiu. 3Mmict cr.3 PernmameHTy BHMarae BiJl JepiKaB-uJeHIB 3a0e3-
NEYCHHs] TPHUHIUIIB TMPO30POCTi, HEAUCKPUMIHAII, OOTPYyHTOBAHOCTI,
00’€KTUBHOCTI, KOH(IIEHIIMHOCTI 3a 3AIMCHEHHS CKPUHIHTY TMPSIMUX
1HO3EeMHUX 1HBECTHIIINA, a TaKOXX 3a0e3MEUYCHHS MOKJIUBOCTI 1HO3EMHOMY
1HBECTOPY OCKApKUTH PILLIEHHS, IPUIHATE Y pe3ybTaTi ckpuHiHry [1II.

Ilopsook koopounayii 30ilCHEHH CKPUHIHZY NPAMUX [HO3EMHUX
ineecmuyiu Oepoicasamu-uneHamu. Ct.6 Pernmamenty mnepenbavae, 110
Jep>KaBU-WICHH TOBUHHI MOB1AOMIATH Kowmicito Ta iHIN JAeprKaBU-UJIECHU
npo Oynap-aki 11, mo npoxonsars nepeBipky. SKuio nepxaBa-ujieH BBakKae,
0 MpsMi 1HO3EMHI 1HBECTHIlli, 3ariaHOBaHiI a0o 3aBepIIeH] B IHIIIN
Jiep>KaBi-wieHi, MOKYTh BIUTMHYTH Ha ii O€3MeKy Y1 rPOMaJICEKUI MOPSIIOK,
a00 1HIIMM YHWHOM Ma€ BIAMOBIIHY i1HOpMAaIli0O, BOHA MOXKE HaJIaTH
KOMEHTapl npuiiMarouiid JepkaBi-uwieHy 3 komiero ans Kowicii. [licns
poro Komicist moBMHHA MOBIJOMUTH PO 1€ 1HIII Jep)KaBU-UICHHU Ta caMa
MOK€ 3pOOMTH BHMCHOBOK. JlepkaBa-ujeH Moxe mnonpocutu Kowmicito
HaJaTH BUCHOBOK a00 1HIII Jep)KaBU-WICHH ToAaTH KoMeHTapi, i1 Komicis
NOBHHHA HAJAaTH TaKUW BHCHOBOK, SKIIO I[LOTO BHMarae MpUHAWMHI OJHA
TPETHHA JIePKaB-UYJICHIB.

[ToBHOBaXkeHHsI mpuiiMaTu octarouHi pimeHHs monao I Hamexarsb
npuiiMaroviil JepkaBi-WwieHy, Xouya BOHA IMOBUHHA «HAJEKHUM YHHOM
BpaxoByBaTW» KOMEHTapl Ta AYMKU I1HIIUX JepkaB-wieHiB 1 Kowicii.
VY Bunagkax «iHtepeciB Coro3y» NpuiiMaroul Jep:KaBU-YIEHH IOBUHHI
«MaKCHMaJbHO BpaxoByBaTu» IyMku Kowmicii Ta mosicHIOBaTH OyAb-SKy
HEBI1IMOBIIHICTD.

Tlosnosasicenns €sponeticokoi Komicii BkmodaroTs ckpuHidr IIII,
0 MOXE BIUIMHYTH Ha MPOEKTH YW MPOTPaMH, SKi MalOTh «IHTEpec
Coro3y», 30KkpeMa MPOEKTU Ta MPOrpaMu, sKi mepeadavyaroTh 3HAUYHY CyMy
abo 3HauHy 4acTKy ¢inancyBanHs €C, abo Ha $KI TOUIIUPIOETHCS
3akoHOAaBCTBO €C MI010 KPUTUYHOI 1HPPACTPYKTYpH, TEXHOJOTIH abo
pecypciB. Ilpoextu ym mporpamu, 10 CTAaHOBISATH 1HTepec st Corosy,
BUKJIQJICHI B JIOJATKy JO periaMeHTy, skuii Kowmicis wac Big wyacy
oHoBmoBatuMe. Jlo HUX HanmexaTh, cepen iHmoro, Galileo, Copernicus,
Eurocontrol, a Takox €eBpOMENCHKI €IEKTPO- Ta Ta30TPAHCTIOPTHI MEPEXKI.
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Axmo Komicist BBaxkae, 110 iHBECTHIIIS MOXKE BIUTMHYTH Ha MPOEKTH
Yl TPOTpaMM, IO MNPEeACTaBIAlOTh iHTepec g Coro3y, 3 MIpKyBaHb
Oe3neku 4u TpoMaachbKoro mopsaky, Kowicis Moxe HagaTH BHCHOBOK
BIJIMOBIIHIN JepkaBi-wieHy abo Jaep:kaBaM-ujeHaM 3 KOMISIMU JIJISl 1HIIHUX
JepkaB-wieHiB. Jlep)KaBU-WIEHH «MAaKCUMAIbHO BPAXOBYIOTHY» Il TyMKHU
Ta MOSICHIOIOTh Oy/b-sike HepoTpumaHHs. [Iporte, ockinbku Kowmicis He mMae
NOBHOBAXXEHb 3a00pOHATH a00 BCTAaHOBIIOBATH YMOBH JJIsi TPAaHCAKIIII,
Oyap-aKki 1ii, pekoMeHaoBaHi Komicieto, MOBUHHI BUKOHYBATHUCS BiJIOBIIHO
710 3aKOHIB Jep KaB-4YJICHIB.

oceio 3acmocysanns Pecnamenny 2019/452. OueBUIHUM Pe3yJIbTaTOM
Pernamenty ctaB OypXJMBHUM CIJIECK 3aKOHOJABYOI aKTHMBHOCTI JIEPKaB-
yneHiB €C 1mo/10 3anpoBakeHHs: MexaHi3MiB ckpuHiHry 111, 13 27 nepxas —
yineHiB €C Ha MOMEHT ONPUIIIOJHEHHS TpoekTy Permamenty y 2017 p.
TUTbkU 11 Manu 3ampoBa/KeHI MEXaHi3MH CKPUHIHTY MPSIMHX 1HO3EMHHUX
IHBECTHIIIH, yepe3 pik micas HaOyTTsa ynHHOCTI Permamentom y 2021 p. —
yxe 18 gepxkaB [23], Ha MOMEHT 3aBepIICHHS IMi€1 CTATTI BIAMOBIIHI
3akoHM OyiM Ha (iHaIbHIN cTaaii cxBaneHHs y benwrii ta Ipmannii. Takox
y 2022 p. bocHis 1 'epueroBuna 3anpoBaguin mexaHi3m ckpuHinry 111
y paMkax Beryny j0 €C.

[IpoBiBmm piunuii aHami3, €Bporneiicbka KoMicis MO3UTUBHO OIIHUIIA
3aCTOCYBAHHS JIepKaBaMU-UJICHAMH MEXaHI3MIB CKPHHIHTY MPSMHUX 1HO3EMHHUX
iHBecTuIld, Big3Hayatouu omepaTuBHICTh (y 80 % Bumazakis Il Oynu
HIBUAKO CXBaJieH1), 3 pemtu 20 % BUNAAKIB 1y>KE BUCOKY YAaCTKY CXBAJICHO
6e3 ymoB (79 %) 1 He3HauHy yacTky (12 %) cxBajieHO 3 yMOBaMHu, JIUIIE
2 % nawmipis 111 3a6opoHeHoO.

3a3HaueHi nudpu cBiIYaTh MPO T€, M0 €UHHUA BHYTPIIIHIA PHHOK
€C 3anuimaeTbcs IOCTATHBO BIIKPUTHM JJIsd IHBECTHUIIIM, a MeXaHI3MHU
ckpuHiHry I1II He CTBOPIOIOTH 3HAYHMX NEPENOH Y 3[1HCHEHHI 1HBECTHU-
IAHOT AISIJIBHOCTI.

BucHoBku. Po3BUHYTI JAepxkaBu Ta JAEpXaBu, 110 PO3BUBAIOTHCS,
BIIPOJIOBXK OCTAHHIX JBOX POKIB 3aIpOBAJAMIN HOBI a00 MOCHJIMIM HasBHI
MEXaHI3MHU CKPUHIHTY MPSMHUX 1HO3EMHUX 1HBECTHIIIH, BCTAHOBIIIOIOYH HOBI
peryJsiTOpHI BUMOTH JUIsl 1HBECTOPIB, PO3LIMPIOIOYM CIEKTP Taly3eu
€KOHOMIKH, 1110 ITiNaJaTAMYTh 111 MOHITOPUHT, HA/Ial0ud JI0JaTKOBI IIOBHO-
Ba)XECHHS peryysatopHuM opraHam. Tak, ckpusinr [1II mmpoko 3ailicHIOeTbCS
y cepax KpUTHUUHOI 1HPPACTPYKTYpPH, PO3POOKH TMEPEAOBUX TEXHOJIOTIH,
30KpeMa MITYYHOrO 1HTEJIEKTY, KBAaHTOBUX OOYHCIICHBb 1 010TEXHOJOTIH,
a TakoX Mmoo 300py mepcoHanbHUX nanux. [lanmemis COVID-19 cnpu-
YUHUJIA JOJATKOBUN IMITyJIbC 110710 ckpuHiHTY 111 y naHirorn noctayaHHs
MEIUYHOTO 00JIaTHAHHS Ta MEIUKAMEHTIB, C(hepy OXOPOHHU 310POB’Sl.

OcHoBHI kpuTepii anst npoBeneHHs ckpuninry Il — HamioHanbHa
Oe3neka Ta MyOJIYHUN NOPSAOK — HaOyBalOTh BCE HOBOT'O, PO3IIUPEHOrO
TIIyMA4€HHS Y PI3HUX IOPUCIUKLIAX, 10 HECE PU3UKU 30UIBIICHHS 00CSTIB
1HO3€MHHUX 1HBECTHIIH.
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Mexanizmu ckpuninry [l TpagumiitHo OyayrOThCS Ha MPUHIIUAIIAX
MPO30POCTi, HEAUCKPUMIHALII, OOTPYHTOBAHOCTI, O0O’€KTUBHOCTI, KOH(iIeH-
IIIHOCTI, 1110 JJa€ 3MOTY TEBHOIO MipOI0 HEUTpalli3yBaTH HETaTUBHUNA €PEeKT
B/l TAKOT PETYJIATOPHOI NEPEILKOIH.

VYKpaiHChK1 3aKOHO/IaBIll MAalOTh Y CBOEMY PO3NOPSHKEHH] 3HAUHUM
1HO3EMHUI JOCBIJI 3alpOBAKEHHS CKPUHIHTY MPSAMUX 1HO3EMHHX
IHBECTHIIA Ta TOTEHI[IWHO MOXYTh BTUIUTH HaWKpallll MPAKTUKH Ta
3aXMIIaTH HALIOHAJIbHI 1HTEpecH YKpaiHu. 3BICHO, OCHOBHA yBara Mae OyTH
30cepe/pkeHa Ha migxogax came €Bporeicbkoro Coro3y. 3anpoBaKEHHS
MEXaHI3My CKPHUHIHTY MNpPSIMHX 1HO3€MHHUX I1HBECTHII CYyNpPOBOKYETHCS
NEBHUMU BUKIMKAaMHU Ta PHU3UKAMM, A MOAOJAHHS SIKMUX HEOoOXigHa
perenpbHa 3aKOHOMPOEKTHA po0OTa Ta BHUCOKOIMpodeciiiHa MiArOTOBKA
KaJIpiB AJIs pealii3allii 3a3Hau€HOTr0 MEXaHI3MYy.
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RENEWABLE ENERGY OF THE EU
COUNTRIES IN THE CONTEXT OF
RISKS OF IMPORT DEPENDENCE

BIJHOBJ/IIOBA/IbHA EHEPTETHUKA
KPAIH €C Y KOHTEKCTI PU3UKIB
IMIIOPTO3AJIEAKHOCTI

Bemyn. [llupoxomacwmabue emopenenus pgh
6 Ykpainy npuckopuno piwenns yueinizoeano2o
ceimy, s3okpema Ui kpain €C, wodo HeobxioHocmi
Minimizayii, a Hadani U NO6HO20 NO30A6NeHHS
eHepeemuyHoi 3anexcHocmi 8i0 Kpainu-azpecopa.

Ilpobnema. Pospobra mexanizmié nocunenHs
eHepeemuyHoi be3neKu Oepacas-imnopmepie nepeo-
bauae 6i0M08Yy 6i0 BUKONHUX 6U0I8 NAIUBA KPATHU-
azpecopa. Jominysanns p@ Ha 2n06aibHUX pUHKAX
eHepaopecypcié npu3gooums 00 Hebe3neuHux MaHi-
nynayii 3 i 60Ky Ha noii eHepeemuuHoi Oe3nexu
Esponu.

Memow cmammi € 6cmaHoGNeHHs PiGHA
sanexcHocmi  ekonomik kpain €C 6i0 imnopmy
enepeopecypcie 3 pg ma ioenmuikayis eapia-
MUBHUX  CyeHapiie 8i0Mo6u 6i0 (DIHAHCYBAHHA

Introduction. The large-scale invasion of the
Russian Federation into Ukraine hastened the
decision of the civilized world, in particular the EU
countries, regarding the need to minimize, and in the
future, completely eliminate, energy dependence on
the aggressor country.

Problem. The development of mechanisms for
strengthening the energy security of the importing
countries includes, among a number of prerequisites,
the abandonment of fossil fuels of the aggressor
country. Russia's dominance in global energy
markets leads to dangerous manipulations on its part
in the field of European energy security.

The aim of the article is to reveal the state of
dependence of the economies of the EU countries on
the import of energy resources from the Russian

Federation and to identify variable scenarios of vefusal | easxciuseoeco cmpameziunoeo cekmopy Kpainu-
to finance an important strategic sector of the aggressor | acpecopa  uepe3  pO36UMOK  GIOHOBNHEATLHOL
country due to the development of renewable energy. | enepeemuxu.
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Methods. Methods of analysis and synthesis,
comparison, grouping and systematization, elements
of institutional analysis and process approach were
used.

Results. A high level of dependence of the
economies of the EU countries on the import of
energy carriers was identified against the background
of the dominance of the Russian Federation as a
priority supplier of the main types of fossil fuels. The
decarbonization of the world economy and the
transition to renewable energy sources is a long-term
trend and a priority of the national energy strategies
of the EU countries. The war of the Russian
Federation against Ukraine acted as a powerful
catalyst for the decarbonization of European economies.
Trade relations between European states and the
Russian Federation in the field of energy supply is
directly related to the problem of their national
security and sovereignty. The priority areas of
development of the renewable energy sector of the
EU are characterized.

Conclusions. The EU’s efforts to reduce the
level of energy dependence on Russian fossil fuels
are reflected in a set of strategic measures in the
field of foreign policy and coordination of efforts at
the level of global partnership. They are compatible
with the medium-term objectives of achieving climate
neutrality of the EU by 2050.

Prospects for further research can be seen in
the assessment of the consequences of reducing the
level of dependence of the economies of the EU
countries on the import of energy carriers from the
Russian Federation.

Keywords: energy security, energy strategy,
renewable energy sources (RES), war in Ukraine,
decarbonization of the world economy.

JEL Classification: L52; L59; L94; L95; Q42.

Memoou. Buxopucmano memoou aunanisy ma
cunmesy, NOPIGHAHH:, 2PYNYBAHHA MA Cucmema-
musayii, enemenmu HCMUMyYioHaIbHo20 AHANi3y
ma npoyecHo2o nioxooy.

Pesynomamu. [oenmughixosaro sucoxuil pigetn
3anedqcnocmi exonomix odepoicag €C 6i0 imnopmy
eHepeoHOCTie Ha Ml OOMIHY8AHHS P¢h AK npiopu-
MemHo20 NOCMAYANbHUKA OCHOGHUX 6UOIE BUKONHO20
nanusa. [lexapOonizayisi ceimosoi eKoHOMIKU ma
nepexio Ha 8i0H081I08aHI 0dxcepena enepeii € 00620-
CMPOKOBUM MPEHOOM | NPIOPUMEMOM HAYIOHATLHUX
eHepeemuynux cmpameeii xkpain €C. Bitna pgh
npomu Yxpainu cmana xamanizamopom npoyecie
Oexapbonizayii egponeticokux exoHomix. TopeogenvHi
83AEMUNU €BPONENCLKUX Oepdicas i3 pg 3 nocma-
YAHHSL eHepeopecypCi6 3a2podicyiomb IX HAYIOHANbHIL
besneyi i cysepenimemy. Oxapaxmepuzo8ano npiopu-
memmi HanPAMU PO3GUMKY CEeKMOpY GiOHOBNIOBANLHOT
enepeemuxu €C.

Bucnosku. 3ycunna €C wooo 3HudmCEeHHA
DIBHA eHepe03anedCHOCTI 8i0 POCIUCHKUX BUKONHUX
8UQI8 NATUBA 3HAXOOSINb BIOOOPANCEHHSL Y KOMNIEKCE
cmpameeiunux 3axo0ie y cgepi 306HIUHBOI NOTI-
MUKU Ma KOOPOUHAYIi 3yCulib HA Pi6Hi 2106AIbHO20
napmuepcmea. Bonu € cymicnumu 3 cepeoHvo-
CMPOKOBUMU 3AB0AHHAMU WOO0 OOCASHEHHA KIiMa-
muunoi neumpanvnocmi €C 0o 2050 p.

Ilepcnexmugu nooanvuiux 0ocuioxcenv 60a-
yarlomvca 8 OYiHYi HACTIOKI@ 3HUJMCEHHA pi6Hs
sanexcnocmi  exoHomix kpain €C 6i0 imnopmy
eHepeoHOCii i3 pa.
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Introduction. In recent decades the problem of finding effective
strategies for the modernization of national energy systems in the
conditions of unprecedented volatility of prices on international energy
markets, global environmental threats, and intensifying competition for
access and distribution of exhaustive energy resources is permanently in the
epicenter of attention of scientists — economists and ecologists, politicians
and statesmen. At the same time, the demand for rapid and effective
transformations in energy balances is more acutely articulated than ever in
the agenda of the EU countries today, as it has not only an economic
dimension but also directly relates to issues of energy and national security
as a whole, both of the EU itself and its partners, in particular Ukraine.

18 ISSN 2616-6100. 30BHIIITH TOPriBAs: €EKOHOMIKa, (piHaHcy, Ipaso. 2022. No 4



BUKAVIKU €BPOIHTEIPAIILI

The decades-old model of providing EU countries with imported energy
sources, in particular from the Russian Federation, shows its vulnerability
and hopelessness in the modern age because it creates the conditions for
pressure from the Russian Federation on the European community and
serves as a basis for financing the Putin’s regime.

The large-scale invasion of the Russian Federation into Ukraine
hastened the decision of the civilized world, in particular the EU countries,
regarding the need to minimize, and in the future, completely eliminate
energy dependence on the aggressor country. This will have far-reaching
consequences not only for the European region, but also for the entire
global economy and geopolitics. In view of the aforementioned, the topic of
reducing the level of import dependence due to the structural transformation
of the energy sector of the EU states thanks to the development of
renewable energy is relevant and has not only theoretical, but also practical
significance.

Problem. While countries around the world are developing mechanisms
to strengthen their own energy security by renouncing the fossil fuels of the
aggressor country and making appropriate decisions, Ukraine is fighting
every day on all fronts for freedom, democracy, and a free world without
bloody energy resources. The dominance of the Russian Federation on
world energy markets leads to manipulation of the civilized world, as a
result of which the energy security of the whole of Europe remains in
question. According to the estimates of the International Energy Agency (IEA),
the EU imports 90 % of the natural gas consumed, of which 45% comes
from the Russian Federation. In addition, the aggressor country also
supplies the EU with 25 % of oil, 45 % of coal and 20 % of uranium from
total imports [1]. In 2021, the European Union's expenditure on energy
carriers from the Russian Federation amounted to EUR 99 billion. And this
number continues to grow every day, even since the beginning of the full-
scale invasion of Ukraine. Nevertheless, there is a way out of this situation,
and EU leaders see it precisely in the development of the sector of
renewable energy sources (RES) and the strengthening of energy efficiency.

Analysis of recent research and publications. The request to
reduce energy dependence on fossil fuels, in particular the energy resources
of Russia, has been on the agenda of the governments of countries,
international organizations, funds and financial and credit institutions for a
long time. And all of them predict the emergence of new promising ways to
solve this problem. A significant contribution to the study of problems and
ways of ensuring energy security in terms of problems of import
dependence on fossil fuels, identification of threats to the national interests
of states was made by domestic scientists, including: A. Mazaraki, T. Melnyk,
S. Maistro, M. Bilovskyi, O. Sukhodolia, U. Andrusiv, 1. Mazur, O. Pavlova,
K. Pavlov, O. Novosad, L. Matiichuk, Y. Kharazishvili, D. Bobro, G. Riabtsev,
S. Zavhorodnia [2—7]. Foreign scholars have also studied this issue,
including: B. Ang, W. Choong, T. Ng, F. Gokgoz, M. Giivercin, P. Gasser,
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Y. Kharazishvili, A.Kwilinski, O. Sukhodolia, H. Dzwigol, D. Bobro,
J. Kotowicz, J. Sachs, W. Woo, N. Yoshino, F. Taghizadeh-Hesary, S. Huang,
Y. Chung, T.Wu [8-13] et al. Taking into account the significant amount of
work in this area of research, we believe that the issue of the possibility
of giving up the energy resources of the aggressor country to ensure the
safety of the civilized world in the new realities of an open military conflict
on the territory of Europe, as well as the prospects for the accelerated
development of the sector of renewable energy sources, requires in-depth
attention one of the ways to overcome energy dependence on the import of
fossil fuels and approach the general trends of decarbonization of the world
economy.

The aim of this article is to reveal the state and level of dependence
of the economies of the EU countries on the import of energy resources of
the Russian Federation and to identify variable scenarios of refusal to
finance an important strategic sector of the aggressor country, in particular
due to the development of renewable energy.

Methods. The information base of this article is statistical and
analytical materials of international organizations (International Energy
Agency, European Union), analytical and expert centers, and own research.
Methods of analysis and synthesis, comparison, grouping and systema-
tization, elements of institutional analysis and process approach are used.

Results. In 2014, when Russia treacherously invaded the territory of
Ukraine, annexed Crimea and occupied parts of the Donetsk and Luhansk
regions, the leading countries of the civilized world failed to recognize all
the threats posed by Russia and the dependence of the economies of these
states on Russian fossil fuels. And only since February 2022, after a full-
scale invasion of the territory of Ukraine, after a hundred deaths of civilians
and the destruction of peaceful cities, the entire civilized world began to
notice that the price of dependence on Russian fossil fuels in all its senses is
unacceptably high.

Today, it is obvious how tightly Russia tightened the energy
blockade, primarily for the countries of the European Union, and what the
profits from the sale of oil and natural gas are spent on, which according to
the Bloomberg agency estimate for 2021 will account for half of Russian
export revenues and form 40 % of the Kremlin's budget revenues [14].

According to another information resource, Europe Beyond Coal,
every day EU countries pay hundreds of millions of euros to the Kremlin's
criminal regime for oil, coal and gas. The amount of revenues from
February 2022 already exceeds EUR 64 billion and continues to increase. In
particular, the EU paid EUR 31.777 billion for oil imports from February
24 to July 1, gas — EUR 30.880 billion, coal — EUR 1.792 billion [15].

Payment for the import of energy carriers from the Russian
Federation 1is significantly differentiated (7able), which reflects the
different scales of the economies of the importing states and the differences
in the levels of energy dependence on the Russian Federation.
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Table
Expenditures of the EU countries on the import of energy resources
from the Russian Federation by individual types of fossil fuels

BU ¢ Expenditures on the import of energy resources from RF, EU millions
coun

v Total on coal on oil on gas
Austria 2093* 118 219 1757
Belgium 2417** 158 1460 799
Bulgaria 2784* 73 2136 575
Croatia 581** 61 119 401
Cyprus 13** 7 5 1
Czech Republic 4779** 30 1571 3179
Denmark 796** 6 790 no data available
Estonia 630** no data available 510 170
Finland 3735** 135 3479 122
France 8173* 347 5685 2140
Germany 24116* 1562 14641 7913
Greece 3636 * 22 2924 690
Hungary 3446** 36 1566 2045
Ireland 252 * 4 247 no data available
Italy 14304** 738 3771 9795
Latvia 520** 1 101 418
Lithuania 3173 * 21 2827 324
Luxembourg 3** 1 no data available 2
Malta 280 * no data available 280 no data available
Netherlands 13489** 441 11683 1365
Poland 9238** 681 8070 487
Portugal 629** no data available 374 255
Romania 2502 * 122 2119 261
Slovakia 5140** 96 2270 2774
Slovenia 271** 2 102 167
Spain 5085** 228 3867 991
Sweden 1125** 93 938 94

Source: created by the authors on the basis of [15].
Note: * statistical data for 2019; **statistical data for 2021.

At the beginning of March 2022, the USA announced an immediate
ban on the import of Russian oil, the same decision was adopted by the
United Kingdom, although the share of Russian imports of oil, natural gas
and coal in the energy consumption structure of both countries is quite
insignificant, only 1 % and 7 %, respectively [14].

However, the EU countries that pay for imported energy resources
are of great importance for the Russian budget. EU countries depend to
varying degrees on the supply of natural gas from Russia, but collectively
their share is about 45 % of gas imports to the EU for industry, residential
buildings and electricity generation.

Moreover, Russia began to put pressure on the EU countries for their
support for Ukraine, interrupting the supply of electricity and gas to
Bulgaria, Poland [16] and Finland [17]. That is why the European
Commission, concerned about energy dependence and its consequences,
presented in early May 2022 a modernized energy strategy through the
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RERowerEU program [18] in order to get rid of dependence on Russian
fossil fuels and accelerate the «green» transformation.

REPowerEU program defines the possibility for the EU to reduce its
dependence on Russian gas by 2/3 by the end of 2022 and to completely
abandon the import of fossil fuels from the Russian Federation by 2030.
Such a goal will require the implementation of a number of short-term
measures (mitigation of the price shock, fiscal incentives, obligations to fill
storage facilities, the initiative of joint gas purchases and the operation of
the corresponding platform) and measures to ensure long-term security
of supply and compliance with the goals of the European Green Deal
(increasing imports of liquefied gas, production of renewable gases,
development of RES, decarbonization, etc.).

As part of REPowerEU, the European Commission will also provide
technical expertise to EU member states on the abandonment of fossil fuels
of Russian origin and advice in case of price shocks. As of April 6, 17 EU
countries wanted to receive such expertise.

It is worth noting that the importance of this plan is aimed
specifically at the sector of renewable energy sources, where, in particular,
it is proposed [19]:

increase the share of capacities of rooftop solar installations,
household wind installations, heat pumps and implementation of energy
saving to improve the energy efficiency of buildings;

to simplify the procedure for issuing permits in order to speed up
the implementation of renewable energy projects and improve the network
infrastructure in the electric power industry;

accelerate the decarbonization of industry by transitioning to
electrification and renewable hydrogen, expanding low-carbon production
capabilities;

by 2030, double the EU goals for biomethane production to
35 billion m? per year, especially from agricultural waste;

speed up the development of a regulatory framework for the
European hydrogen market and the development of integrated gas and
hydrogen infrastructure, hydrogen storage and port infrastructure, as well as
pilot projects for the production and transportation of renewable hydrogen
produced in EU neighboring countries.

Thus, according to the European Commission, the annual production
of an additional 15 million tons of renewable hydrogen in addition to
the 5.6 million tons provided for in the Fit for 55 packages can replace
25-50 billion m? of Russian gas imports by 2030 [20].

Thus, the outlined strategy of the European Union is aimed not only
at getting rid of dependence on coal and oil, but also at solving other
problems that make the European economy vulnerable, in particular at
accelerating the «green» transition, which is integral to achieving global
climate ambitions.
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According to the IEA, the development of the energy market in the last
months of the current year 2022 — especially in Europe — once again proves
the important role of renewable energy sources in increasing energy
security, in addition to the well-established efficiency in reducing emissions [21].

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine also prompted the IEA to develop a quick
action plan to reduce natural gas imports from the Russian Federation. The
IEA’s plan, released in March 2022, consists of 10 points and provides
practical steps to reduce Europe's dependence on Russian gas imports by
more than a third within a year, while supporting a safe and affordable
transition to clean energy.

The main points on reducing the EU’s dependence on the
consumption of natural gas from the Russian Federation are as follows [22]:

Refusal to sign new gas contracts with Russia. This will provide
significant supply diversification from this year onwards;

Replacement of approximately 30 billion cubic meters of gas from
the Russian Federation with other sources during the year;

Introduction of minimum obligations regarding gas storage, which
will increase the stability of the gas system next winter;

Accelerating the deployment of new wind and solar projects,
which will reduce gas consumption by 6 billion cubic meters during the year;

Maximum increase in electricity generation due to bioenergy and
atomic energy. According to experts, such projects will allow to reduce gas
consumption by 13 billion cubic meters during the year;

Introduction of short-term tax measures to protect vulnerable
electricity consumers from high prices;

Accelerating the replacement of gas boilers with heat pumps,
which should reduce gas consumption by an additional 2 billion cubic
meters during the year;

Accelerating the improvement of energy efficiency in buildings
and industry to reduce gas consumption by almost 2 billion cubic meters
per year;

Encouraging a temporary decrease in the temperature of the
coolant for consumers by 1°C, which can reduce gas consumption by
approximately 10 billion cubic meters during the year;

Intensify diversification efforts and transition to sources that
ensure the flexibility of the energy system. This will contribute to the
weakening of the close ties between gas supplies and Europe's electricity
security.

Representatives of the renewable energy sector of Ukraine support
European plans to urgently reduce energy dependence on the aggressor
country. The Ukrainian Wind Energy Association (UWEA) appealed to
international partners to support a full embargo on Russian natural gas and
oil. Also, Ukrainian experts analyzed the international experience of crisis
situations and came to the conclusion that an oil and gas embargo is
possible not only for the USA and Britain, but also for the EU [23].
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Examining recent market and policy developments as of April 2022,
the IEA forecasts new global renewable capacity additions and biofuel
demand for 2022 and 2023.

In particular, the IEA’s new Renewable Energy Market Development
Report for May 2022 notes that while looming market uncertainty is
exacerbating challenges, a new focus on energy security — particularly in
the European Union — is also creating unprecedented political momentum to
accelerate energy efficiency and development of renewable energy sources.
According to the IEA, global renewable capacity is expected to grow by
more than 8 % in 2022 compared to last year, surpassing the 300 GW mark
for the first time [21].

Note that not only European countries have accelerated the
development of RES. According to the IEA forecast, in 2022-2023, there
will be a further increase in the installed capacity of RES around the world.
China will lead in this process, however, the EU's share of growth will also
be significant and, as predicted, will increase to 52.3 GW of capacity in
2023 (Figure).
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Source: created by the authors on the basis of [21].

Undoubtedly, the dependence of the EU energy sector on the Russian
Federation is still high: from 100 to 200 TWh of EU electricity based on
natural gas is provided by Russia. On the other hand, thanks to a series of
institutional and political steps, we should expect a gradual increase in
electricity production from renewable sources to 180 TWh in the period
from 2021 to 2023. This means that, as a whole, Europe will be able to
independently cover the need for energy that was previously covered by the
Russian Federation.

24 ISSN 2616-6100. 30BHIIITH TOPriBAs: €EKOHOMIKa, (piHaHcy, Ipaso. 2022. No 4



BUKAVKI €BPOIHTEIPALIIT

One of the problems that is reflected in the synchronization of
decisions of EU countries regarding the adoption of joint decisions on
limiting the supply of energy resources is asymmetry in the levels of
dependence of the economies of EU states on Russian supplies, and therefore
the countries of the European Union depend to varying degrees on the
supply of natural gas from Russia. Among the member states, Germany and
Italy are most dependent on Russia in terms of absolute electricity production.
However, the potential for the development of renewable energy sources to
reduce dependence is much higher in Germany than in Italy.

The dependence of France and the Netherlands on Russian gas is
relatively small, which allows to increase the potential of renewable energy
sources to replace natural gas. Conversely, in Austria, Hungary and Greece,
the expansion of the use of renewable energy sources remains limited in
order to reduce the countries' dependence on Russia [24].

Although the contribution of RES to reducing energy dependence is
significant, much will also depend on the policies for energy efficiency
measures that shape the domestic demand for their implementation. It is
also important that the trend towards the gradual withdrawal of coal and
nuclear energy from regenerative processes in EU member states is
irreversible.

It should also be noted that Ukraine takes a proactive position in the
matter of reducing the EU's energy dependence on Russian supplies. In
particular, the joining of Ukraine to the European Network of Transmission
System Operators for Electricity (ENTSO-E) can play a certain positive
role, which will allow the countries of the European Union to reduce their
dependence on Russian energy carriers. After all, joining the integrated
energy system of Ukraine to the energy system of continental Europe
ENTSO-E ensured additional stability and security of the European energy
system. Moreover, after the synchronization of the Ukrainian and European
energy systems, even in wartime, Ukraine started exporting electricity to
Poland. Currently, work is underway to start a larger-scale commercial
exchange with EU countries. Thus, Ukraine has already started supplying
its electricity to Europe, thereby partially compensating for the share of
energy consumption that came with Russian gas or coal. Ukraine, in turn,
will be able to attract additional funds for the Ukrainian economy and the
restoration of the country from the export of electricity to the EU.

Conclusions. Decarbonization of the world economy and transition
to renewable energy sources is a long-term trend and priority of the national
energy strategies of the countries of the world vanguard, in particular the EU.

The attack of the Russian Federation on Ukraine acted as a powerful
catalyst for decarbonization processes, forcing the countries of the world
community to rethink their perception of the Russian Federation’s
international trade in fossil fuels as a source of funding for its military

oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo
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aggression. Currently, the issue of trade relations between European states
and the Russian Federation regarding the supply of energy resources goes
beyond the exclusively economic basis and directly affects threats to their
national security.

The EU’s efforts to reduce the level of energy dependence on
Russian fossil fuels are reflected in a set of strategic measures in the field of
EU foreign policy and global partnership. Moreover, the EU’s goal
of getting rid of the energy resources of the aggressor country is compatible
with the medium-term objectives of achieving climate neutrality of the EU
by 2050, which significantly enhances its value.

The issue of the EU’s refusal to import Russian energy carriers and
the systemic transformation of its energy sector in the direction of the
development of renewable energy is directly related to the problems of
modern Ukraine: the sooner the refusal of the supply of energy resources
of the aggressor country to the countries of the civilized world will be, the
closer Ukraine’s victory in the war against the Russian Federation will be.
In turn, accelerated integration of the Ukrainian energy system into the
European ENTSO-E energy grid contributes to additional stability and
security of the energy systems of Ukraine and EU countries. And additional
revenues from the export of Ukrainian electricity will allow to direct
financial funds to support the country’s economy and its recovery after the
victory.

Prospects for further research can be seen in the assessment of the
consequences of reducing the level of dependence of the EU country’s
economies on the import of energy sources from the Russian Federation due
to the systemic transformation of the energy sector, conducting a
comparative analysis of the effectiveness of the national energy strategies
of individual EU countries regarding the mechanisms of financial support
for the modernization of the energy sector, directions of strategic
cooperation between the EU and the USA and countries of the Middle East
regarding the stabilization of energy resources global markets.
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Bcmyn. Brokyeanms 4opHOMOPCLKUX NOpMIS,
aKi 3azsuyaii nputimaroms oauzvko 90 % excnopmy
NPO00BOILCIEBA, € BANHCTUBOIO NPOOIEMOIO OIS EKCNOPNTY
VKPAiHCbKO20 3epHa, Gi0CYMHICMb AKO20 HA C8Imo-
80MY PUHKY MOdHCE npu3eecmu 00 2100a1bHOI npooo-
801bYOI KpU3U.

Ilpobnema. Ilopywenns nocmasox cCiltbCbko-
20CNO0APCLKUX MOBAPI8 Mamume 3HAYHI HACTIOKU
0111 nP0006OILYOI Oe3neKku 6 mux Kpaiwax, AKi €
imnopmepamu yux mosapis. Tooc numanus 6i0HOG-
NeHHSL eKCNOpMy 3epHOGUX 6AHMADICIE came 3ai3-
HUYHUM MPAHCNOPMOM HA CbO200HI € HAO36UUAHO
aKmyanbHuM.

Memoro yici cmammi € 00CHiONCEHHA NPO-
NYCKHOI CHPOMOJICHOCII eKCnopmy 3epHOBUX 6aH-
Mmagicie  3anIZHUYHUM  MPAHCNOPMOM, BUSHAYEHHS
npobrem  Ynpasninma — AAHYI02AMU  NOCHAYAHHA
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CEREAL EXPORTS:
A EUROPEAN HUB
IN SUPPLY CHAINS

Introduction. The blockade of Black Sea
ports, which usually receive about 90 % of food
exports, is an important problem for the export of
Ukrainian grain, the absence of which on the world
market can lead to a global food crisis.

Problem. A disruption in the supply of agri-
cultural goods will have significant consequences
for food security in those countries that are
importers of these goods. Therefore, the question of
resuming the export of grain cargoes by railway
transport is extremely urgent today.

The aim of this article is to analyze the
throughput capacity of the export of grain cargoes
by railway transport, to study the problems of
managing the supply chains of agricultural
products and to find ways to solve them in the
conditions of war.

ABTOPM He OTPMMYBaAMN NPAMOro GiHaHCYBaHHA ANA LbOTO AOCAIAKEHHS.

BHecoK aBTOpiB € PiBHO3HAYHUM.
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CiTbCbKO20CN00APCLKOI NPOOYKYii ma NowlyK uwiiaxie
iXx gupiwienHs 6 ymosax gitiHu.

Memoou. Buxopucmano memoou enemeHmapHo-
meopemuuno20 auanizy ma cunmesy, O0eOyKyii,
EeKOHOMIKO-CIamucmuyii, 30Kpema epynyeamts ma
epaghiuni, 3a60AKU AKUM BI3YATLHO NPeOCMABeHi
pe3yIbmamu O0CIOHCEeHHSL.

Pesynomamu. Bitina 6 Ykpaini npuseeira 0o
CMPIMKO20 3pOCMANHA YiH HA HALIHeOOXIOHIW mosapu,
wWo mae Havleipwii HacAioOKu 015 HAUOIOHIWUX 6epcme
Hacenenms. Ypaou 6 ycvomy cgimi Hamazaromucs
enopamucs 3 CMPIMKUM 3DOCMAHHAM YiH HA
CITbCLKO20CNOOAPCHLKY NPOOYKYTTO.

Yxpaina yeitiuna ¢ TOII-5 kpaiu, wo excnop-
Myloms 3epHo, NOnpu GenudesHi 30UMKU CilbCbKO-
eocnodapcvkoi  eanysi uepes giuiny. Pesynvmamu
AHANI3y eKCnopmy azpapHoi nPoOYKYii ceiouumy, uo
NiCs POCIICOKO20 GMOPSHEHHsL 3ANI3HUYHULL MPAHCNOPM
€ OCHOBHUM BUOOM Nepese3etb 3ePHOBUX BAHMAICIE.

Bucnoexu. Cepeo ocnosrux Hanpamie 30insluenis
NPONYCKHOI  CnpomModicHocmi  3anisHuuHoOl  ingpa-
CIPYKMYPU MONCHA 8UOLIUmMuy 0y0IGHUYINBO «CYXUX
nopmiey, GIOHOGNEHHS 3ANI3HUYHO20 CHONYYEHH:
mixe  Vkpainoio ma Monooegoio, nepeopicnmayis
noeicmuxy Ha 3axioni kopOonu Ykpainu, a maxodic
3anyUeH s IHO3eMHUX THBeCMUYIll Y PO3GUMOK YbO2O
Hanpsamy nepegeseHb.

Knwouyoei crosea: MpomycKHa CIPOMOXKHICTb,
CLTBCHKOTOCTIONAPChKA MPOIYKILiS,, €KCIOpPT 3€pHa,
3aJTI3HUYHUT TPaHCIIOPT, «Ccyxui opT»,
MpoI0oBOIbYA Oe3meka, OJIOKYBaHHS TOPTiB.

JEL Classification: E31, F14, L92, Q10.

Methods. The method of elementary-
theoretical analysis and synthesis, the method of
deduction, economic-statistical methods, such as
grouping and graphic methods, which visually
present the research results, were used in the
course of writing the article.

Results. The war in Ukraine has led to
a rapid increase in the prices of the most necessary
goods, which has the worst consequences for the
poorest sections of the population. Governments
around the world are struggling to cope with
soaring agricultural prices.

Ukraine entered the top 5 countries that
export grain, despite the huge losses of the
agricultural industry as a result of the war.
Analysis of the export of agricultural products
shows that after the Russian invasion, railway
transport is the main mode of transportation
of grain cargoes.

Conclusions. Among the main directions of
increasing  the capacity of the railway
infrastructure, it is possible to highlight the
construction of «dry portsy, the restoration of
the railway connection between Ukraine and Moldova,
the reorientation of logistics to the western borders
of Ukraine, as well as the attraction of foreign
investments in the development of this direction of
transportation.

Keywords: carrying capacity, agricultural
products, grain export, railway transport, «dry
port», food security, port blockage.

KoHoniKT iHTepeciB: ABTOpPU 3aABAAIOTb, WO BOHM HE MatoTb GiHAHCOBUX UM HediHAHCOBUX KOHDNIKTIB
iHTepeciB wWoao uiei nybnikauii; He MaloTb BiAHOCMH 3 AepKaBHWUMM OpraHamu, KomepuiiHumu abo
HEKOMEPLiMHUMM OpraHisauismu, ski morim 6 6yTn 3auikaBaeHi y NogaHHI LiEl TOUKM 30py. 3 ornaay Ha Te,
O OOMH 3 aBTOPIB He MPALOE B YCTAHOBI, KA € BUAABLEM XKYPHasy, LLO MOXe 3yMOBUTU MOTEHLiAHWIA
KOHGNIKT abo nifo3py B ynepeaskeHoCTi, ocTaToyHe pieHHA npo nybnikauito uiel cTaTTi (BKAOYHO
3 BUBOPOM peLEeH3EeHTIB i pefakTopiB) NpuMiimManoca TMMM YieHaMKn peakonerii, AKi He Noe’A3aHi 3 uieto
YCTaHOBOIO.

Beryn. 24 motoro 2022 p. Hamie ®KUTTSA PO3AUTUAIOCS HA MEPIOIU 10
1 micns BiHU. L1 Tpariuni momii st YKpaiHu Ta BCbOTO YKPaiHCHKOTO
HapoJ1y BIATYKHYJIHUCS Ha BCIX cpepax *KUTTS Ta EKOHOMIKH.

3ynuHEH! aBialepeBe3CHHS Ta JIOCTaBKa TOBapiB MOPCHKUM
TPAHCIOPTOM, BEJIMYE3HI 3aTPUMKH Yy TIEPEBE3CHHAX 3alI3HUYHUM Ta
ABTOMOOIJTBHUM TPAHCIOPTOM dYepe3 KPUTUYHY CHUTYyaIlil0 Ha Joporax, a
TaKOX TEePEOPIEHTAIlISl JIOTICTUKM CYTO Ha T'yMaHITapHI BaHTaXl CBiA4aTh
PO KapAuHAJIbHI 3MIHHU B 1[Il ramysi.

[loBHOMacmTabHe BTOPrHEHHs pocii OIoKye noctyn YKpainu
JI0 YOPHOMOPCBKUX  MOPTIB, SKI 3a3BUYail  3a0e3Me4yroTh  OJIM3BKO
90 % excropty npoaoBosibcTBA. OcCOONMBO 11 MpoOieMa € BaKJIMBOIO
JUISl EKCIIOPTY YKPaiHCHKOTO 3€pHa, BIJCYTHICTb SIKOTO Ha CBITOBOMY PUHKY
MOJK€ MPHU3BECTH 0 TNI00ATBHOI MPOJOBOIBUOT KPU3H, OCOOIMBO B PErioHax
bnusskoro Cxony ta Adpwuiii.
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IIpo6aema. Ockinbku TJ00aJBHI IIHM Ha CLIBCHKOTOCIOAAPCHKY
NPOIYKIHIO BXKE JIOCATIN ICTOPUYHOrO Makcumymy depe3s COVID-19 Ta
HECHPUSTIIMBI TOTOJHI YMOBHM BHACIIJOK KJIIMAaTHYHHUX 3MiH, TOOIYHI
eeKTH pociiicbKOi BIMHM CHPUYMHWIM pI3KE€ 3pOCTAHHS LIH Ha Xio,
KOPMHU JJIsl TBAPUH 1 J0OpHUBa.

[TopymieHHsT MOCTAaBOK 3E€pHOBHUX, OJIWHUX KYJIbTYyp Ta IHIIUX
TOBApIB, 0 TPAHCIIOPTYIOTHCS YOPHOMOPCHKHM PETiOHOM, MaTUME 3HAUYHI
HACJIKK JJIsl TPOJIOBOJIbYOI O€3MeKH y KpaiHax, siKi € IMIOpTepaMH IHUX
toBapiB. lle ocobmuBo aktyanbHo mia kpain IliBHiuHOi Adpuku Ta
Cepen3eMHOMOPCHKOTO PETIOHY, SIKI 3aJieXkaTh BiJ iMmopTy 3 Ykpainu. Tox
NUTAaHHS BIJHOBJIEHHS €KCHOPTY 3€PHOBHX BAaHTAXIB 3aJI3HUYHUM
TPAHCIOPTOM Hapasi € Ha/I3BUYANHO aKTyalbHHUM.

AHaJIi3 OCTaHHIX JAOCJiIIKeHb | myOJikamii. [lutanHam ekcriopTy
36pHOBHUX KYJBTYp 1 MPOAYKTIB iXHbOI MEpepoOKM 3aiiMaeTbcs Oarato
BUueHUX Ta HaykoBIiB. 3okpema aBtop /l. Cemenma [l] mpoanamizyBaB
PUHOK 3€pHOBUX KyIbTyp B YkpaiHi 3 2013-2021 pp., a Takoxk OIlIHUB
MOJKJIUBOCTI 30UIBIICHHS BUPOOHHIITBA Ta EKCHOPT 3E€PHOBUX KYIBTYP
1 3pOCTaHHS TPUOYTKY JEpKaBU INUIAXOM 30UIBIICHHS MPOJAXiB TOTOBOI
MPOIYKIIT IEPEPOOKH.

VY mpami [2] B. biniueHko po3risigae OCHOBHI MPOOJIEMH JIOTiCTHY-
HUX TIEPEBE3CHb 3€PHOBUX KYJbTYp B YKpaiHi, a TAKOXK aHAJI3ye MOMUT Ha
TPAHCHOPTHI MOCIYTH HUISXOM MOJIEIIOBaHHS W (OpMye MPOTHO3U IIOJ0
PO3BUTKY MPOILIECIB TPAHCHIOPTYBAHHS 3€PHOBHX.

3i cBoro 60Ky A. Ilenopuenko [3] netanbHO po3risiae BUPOOHHUIITBO
Ta €KCHOPT arponpoAyKIii, 30KpeMa 3€pHOBHX Ta OJIMHUX KyJIbTYp MiJ
BIUIMBOM HACHIIJIKIB BTOPTHEHHsS pocili y mortomy 2022 p., a Takox
BUOKPEMIIIOE  OCOOJIMBOCTI JIOTICTUYHMX JIAHIIOTIB TOCTaYaHHS Ili€l
NPOIYKIlii HA CBITOBI PUHKU. ABTOPOM JOCHTI/PKEHO OCHOBHI MMOJITHYHI
YUHHUKKA Ta iXHIM BIUIUB Ha TIEPEOPIEHTAII0 EKCIIOPTHUX TOTOKIB
1 hopMyBaHHS IIH HA TIPOIYKIIIO EKCIIOPTY.

VY myOmikamii [4] O. MypaasiH 1ochiKye OCHOBHI CBITOBI criocoou
oprasizauii NMepeBe3eHb 3€pHOBUX KYJbTYp Oe€3mocepeAHbO 3aji3HUYHUM
TPAHCIIOPTOM 1 MOXJIMBOCTI 3acTOCyBaHHS iX B Ykpaini. OOGrpyHTOBaHO,
0 OCHOBHUMH HaIpsiIMaMU YJOCKOHAJIEHHSI TEXHOJIOTI TiepeBe3eHb
BaHTAXIB 3aJI3HUYHUM TPAHCHIOPTOM € 30UTbIICHHS 0OCATIB BiANPaBICHHS
yepe3 BIPOBA/DKEHHS MapIIpyTH3allii BaHTaXOMOTOKIB 1 JOCTaBKa
HEBEJIMKUX MapTiid BaHTaXy 3a JIOMOMOIOI0 KOHTEHHEpHU3allii.

VY muceprariiiHomMy fociimpkenHi [5] aBrop P. PycramoB 3ocepemkennii
Ha OCHOBHMX IpoOjemMax, sIKI BUHHKAIOTh MiJ 4Yac €KCHOPTY 3€pPHOBHX
BaHTQXIB Ha €Tall TPAHCIOPTYBaHHS iX 3aJTI3HUYHHM TPAHCIOPTOM JI0
MOpPCBKHX TMOpPTiB. Bu3HAaue€HO OCHOBHI CHOCOOM MIiABUIICHHS edeK-
TUBHOCTI CHCTEMH EKCILUTyaTalii pyXOMOro CKJIagy Ta BCTaHOBJEHO, IO
OCHOBHMMHM IPUYMHAMHU, SK1 MEPEIIKOKAIOTh PO3BUTKY Y LIbOMY Harpsimi,
€ BeIMKa TEpPUTOpiaJibHa PO3KUAAHICTh CTaHIIA HaBaHTAXCHHS Ta
HE/IOCKOHAJIa CUCTEMA IIJIaHYBaHHS 3a113HUYHUX N1€PEBE3CHb.
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Takoxx mpo0IeMaTUKOIO EKCIIOPTY YKPaiHCHKOTO 3epHa 3aHEMOKOEH1
CBITOBI Jifiepy Ta MDKHApoJHI opranizamii. Y crarti [6] 3a3Ha4eHO
12 HeraTUBHUX HACTIAKIB POCIHCHKO-yKpaiHChKOI BIWHM IS CBITOBOI
CIIJIBHOTH, Cepell SKMX BaromMe Miclie 3aiiMae MmaciTaOHa TyMmaHITapHa
KpHW3a Ta MiJIBUIIICHHS PIBHSA I[1H Ha MPOJIOBOJILCTBO, 1[0 3aroCcTproe aedimut
3a KOPJIOHOM, OCOOJIMBO Yy KpaiHax, /e HEMA€E MPOI0BOJIbUOT OE3MEKH.

VY pocmimkeHHi [7] mpomucaHO OCHOBHY CTpaTeriio €BpoOmerchbKoi
KOMICIi II0JI0 TPaHCHOPTYBaHHS YKPaiHCHKOTO 3epHa 3aiizHulier. [Ipore
BCl Ill MHUTAaHHA TOTPEOYIOTh JETANbHINIOIO BUBYEHHS, OCKUIBKH ISl
npobiemMa He € TOCTaTHBO JOCIIPKEHOI0 Yepe3 MIBUAKY 3MiHY 30BHILIHIX
(dakTopis.

MeTtoro 11i€i CcTaTTi € BCTAHOBJEHHS PIiBHS MPOMYCKHOI CIPOMOXK-
HOCTI €KCTIOPTY 3€pHOBUX BAaHTAXKIB 3AJII3HUYHUM TPAHCIIOPTOM, 1IeHTU(IKAIIis
npoOJieM YMpaBiHHS JIAHIIOTAMU TMOCTa4aHHS CLIBCHKOTOCIIOIAPCHKOT
MPOYKIIIT Ta MOIIYK NIIAX1B IXHHOT'O BUPIMICHHS B yMOBaX BIMHH.

Metoan. VY Xoii HamucaHHS CTaTTI BUKOPUCTAHO METOJM:
€JIEMEHTapHO-TEOPETUYHOT0 aHali3y Ta CHHTE3y, 3a JIOMOMOTOK0 SKOTO
OLIIHEHO ChOTOJHIIIHIO CUTYAllll0 HA PUHKY €KCHOPTY arpapHoi MpoayKIii
3QII3HAYHAM ~ TPAHCIOPTOM; JEAYKIli — 3po0JeHO BHUCHOBKH TIPO
NEPCIEKTUBU PO3BUTKY 3allI3HUYHOI 1HPPACTPYKTypU B YMOBax BiilHHU;
€KOHOMIKO-CTaTUCTHYHI — 30KpeMa IpyIyBaHHs Ta rpadivHi, 3aBIASKU SKUM
Bi3yaJIbHO MPEJICTABIICH] Pe3yJIbTaTH JTOCTIIKCHHS.

Pe3yabraTu gocaimxenHs. [loBHoMaciTabHe BTOPrHEHHS POCICHKUX
BICBK B YKpaiHy MOXX€ CHPUYMHUTH MAacIITaOHy CBITOBY T'yMaHITapHY
kpuzy. Ha cporomni BiilHa mnpu3Bena [0 MEPEMILIEHHS HaWOUIbIIOT
KUIBKOCTI ObKeHIIB y €Bpory 3 yaciB [lpyroi cBiToBoi BiiiHuW. Hapasi
5.6 MIIH ODKEHIIIB MOKUHYJIM YKpaiHy, a e 7.7 MIH 3aJHUIIAIN TOMIBKH
B TIOIIIYKaX MPUTYJIKY B IHIIUX PErioHaxX KpaiHW. 3arajioM BiifHa BUTiCHHIIA
3 nomiBoK Maiixke 30 % yKkpaiHIiB, 1 iXHS KUJIBKICTh MOCTIHHO 3pOCTaE uyepes
o0CTpiIM HOBHUX pETiOHIB Ta HeOEe3NMeuHy CHUTYyallilo Maike Ha BCId
Tepuropii aepxasu. 3a ouinkamMmu OOH, 10 KiHIIS poKy O1KEHLISIMUA MOKYTh
cTaTy 8.3 MJTH yKpaiHIIiB, 110 IIIe O1JIbIIIE MOTIPIINUTD LI CUTYaIio [§].

Biitna B Ykpaini Takox npu3Beia 10 CTPIMKOTO 3POCTAaHHS IIIH Ha
HaHEOOX1AHIII TOBapH, IO MaE€ HAUTIPINI HACITIAKH JJIsd HaWOIIHIIIHNX
BEPCTB HACEJICHHS, SKUM 1 TaK Ba)XXKO TOKPUBATH BapTICTh YKUTTEBHX
noTped. Bropruenns B YkpaiHy Bke MIIBHUINWIO PIBEHb BaApPTOCTI KHUTTH,
OCKIJIbKU CTPUOOK IIIH HAa MPUPOJHUN Ta3 1 HAQTYy CIPUYMHUB 301IbIICHHS
paxyHKIB 3a OIMaJICHHS Ta BAPTOCTI TPAHCIIOPTHHUX TTOCIYT.

VY Oaratbox kpainax bnuspkoro Cxomy ta Adpuku, skl 3HAYHOIO
MIpOIO 3ajie’KH1 BiJ] YKpaiHCBKOTO 3€pHAa Ta POCIMHHHUX OJIIM, I[IHU Ha
MIPOJIOBOJILCTBO Pi3K0 3pociu. [TiABUIICHHS IIH Ha Il MPOAYKTH HE TUIBKH
3po0niI0 Ky IOPOKYOI0, ajie OYIKYETHCSA, IIO0 BOHO TMOTIPIIMTH MPOJOB-
oJibuy Oe3mneky B OIAHIIMX KpaiHax, € OCHOBHI MPOJIYKTH, 30Kpema
OOpPOILITHO Ta POCIMHHA OJisl, 1 TaK BAXKKO JIICTATH.
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VYpsiau B ychOMY CBITI HaMararThCA BIOpPATUCA 31 CTPIMKUM
301IBIICHHSIM I[IH HAa CUIBCHKOTOCHOJIAPCHKY MPOMYKIII0, CHPUYUHEHUM
BTOPTHEHHSIM pocii B YKpaiHy, OCKUTBKHA BAapTICTh OCHOBHMX IHTPEII€HTIB
(MIIeHuIs, TYMiHb, KYKYpy/I3a Ta COHSIITHUKOBA OJI1s) CTPIMKO 3POCTaE.

Ha puc. I npeacraBieHo 3MiHY 1HAEKCY NpomoBonbuux IiH (FAO
Food Price Index) [9], 30kpema iHIEKCY IIIH Ha 3€pHOBI KYJbTYpH, IO
BioOpakae 3MiHYy pIBHS MDKHApOJHUX I[IH Ha TPOJOBOJBYI TOBAapHU
y niepiog 2015-2021 pp. Takuit moka3HUK GOPMYETHCS Ha OCHOBI CEepeIHIX
3HAa4YeHb 1HACKCIB I[IH Ha I’SITh OCHOBHUX TOBapHUX TPYIM: M’SICO, MOJIOYHI
POAYKTH, 3€PHOBI, POCIUHHI OJii Ta IIyKOp.

140

120

100.8 966 98.1:

=
w,
Ly

98
100 — 93 - 959 _ 919 95,9 fpem—— 95,1
Freae] " 88.3 =

-,
ekt

e Py P e e e R Py G e P By et

-

80 —]

i

1_:-1.:-1_. S R T T R .j P

60 —

[T

Fr )

.

T
1
1
iy

LR EL R R R, R f R B R, 4R, %R e

ke i re

20 —

I ALy L L L I L L L e Ly L L L

40 —F

T

W

O A T
|

"
- - ..:__..:.:

A
2
.
EE
.
EF
b
FF
b
5
I
&

1y

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

OIHaeKC IPOJOBOMBUHXIIH B IHAeKC ITiH Ha 3epHOBL

Puc. 1. 3mina ingexcy npogoBoabuux uin (FAO Food Price Index)
y nepiox 2015-2021 pp.

IDicepeno: cknaneHo aBTopoM 3a [9].

3 puc. I HAOYHO BUAHO 3HAYHE 30UIbIICHHS IMOKa3HUKIB y 2021 p.,
[0 CIPHYMHEHO HIiABHMINCHHSAM IiH uepe3 maugemito COVID-19 ta He
MOBHUM BIJIHOBJICHHSIM TIAMPUEMCTB TICIS KapaHTUHHUX OOMEXEHBb
Ta 4YaCTKOBO{1 3yIMHKH 1X POOOTH.

Ha puc. 2 mokazaHo moMicsyHy JMHAMIKY 3MiHHM IIUX ITOKa3HUKIB
y niepion 3 uepBHs 2021 p. o yepBens 2022 p.

3 puc. 2 6auuMo, 1O 3 JIOTOrO MO Oepe3eHb CHOCTEPIraeThbCs
30UTBITICHHS 1HIEKCY MPOAOBOIBUMX IiH Ha 11.6 %, 110 € HACHIIKOM TMOYaTKy
POCICHKO-YKPATHCHKOI BIfHH.

Takox croctepiraemo, mo y d4epBHi 2022 p. cepeaHe 3HAYCHHS
[nnexcy npomoBosbuux 1iH Ha 2.3 % HIDKUYE 32 MOKa3HUK TPaBHs, IPOTE Ha
23.1 % BwuIIe TMPOTH JAHMX BIAMOBIAHOIO TMEPIONy MOMEPEAHBOIO POKY.
AHaJloriyHa TeHJIEHIIisI CIIOCTEPIraeThCs 100 [HIEeKCY IIH Ha 3€PHOBI, 1110
MOSICHIOETHCSI CE30HHUMU 3MiHAMU OOCSTIB 3€PHOBHUX KYJIBTYpP, CIIPHUSITIN-
BUMH TIOTOJHHMH YMOBAaMH JUIsl iX BHPOIIYBaHHS Ta OYIKyBaHUM
PO30JIOKYBaHHSAM YKPAaiHCHKHX MOPTIB.
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Puc. 2. Iunamika ingexcy npoaoBoibuux uid (FAO Food Price Index)
y 01.06.2021-01.06.2022

IDicepeno: ckinageHo aBTopoM 3a [9].

PosrisitHemMo OCHOBHI NpUYMHM, 4Yepe3 sKl BiAOyJIHCS HETraTUBHI
3pyIIeHHs Yy CBITI. YKpaiHa cekoroAHi Beinia B TOII-5 kpain, mo excrop-
TYIOTh 3€pHO 3 MOKa3HUKOM 19 MulH T 3epHa. Po3risiHeMo JeTasibHilIe 1o
perioHax o0CsTy MOCIBHUX IO il 3pHOBI KyIbTypH (puc. 3).
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Puc. 3. IlociBHi miomti ciibChbKOrocnoAapcbKuX KyJIbTyP
nix ypoxaii 2021 p. 3a perionamu

IDicepeno: cknaneno apropom 3a [10].
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3a nanumu JlepkaBHOi ciryx0u cratrctuku Ykpainu [10] 3a 2021 p.,
HAWUOUIBII MOCIBHI IUIOMNII CUTBCHKOTOCTIONAPCHKUX KYJIBTYP 3HAXOATHCS
y JninpornierpoBebkiii, 3anopizekiil, KipoBorpancekiii, Onecekiit, [TonraBepkiii
Ta XapkiBcbkiil obmacTsax. Came i TepuTopii HAWOUIBIIE MOCTPAXKIAIH
yepe3 OOWOBI Jii, MOCTIHI OOCTPUTM Ta MAacOBi MOXEXi, TOXK IOCIBHA
kammanist 2022 p. Oyna Ha3BHYAHHO CKIIAJIHOIO.

Cranom Ha yepBeHb 2022 p. 30UTKH CLIBCHKOTO TOCMOJAPCTBA CTAHO-
B nionap 4.3 mupn gon. CHIA, 3 skux 2 135 mua mon. CIIIA — cuibchko-
TOCTIOAPChKI YTiAas Ta He3l0paHuWil ypokail 03UMHUX KyJdbTyp, 926.1 —
MarmHHe oonamHaHHs, 613.0 — mpomykTy, 10 30epiraroThes, 272.4 — CKIIAIChKI
npuMitieHss, 136.4 — tBapuHHUITBO, 119.6 — pakTopu BUpOOHUIITBA (TIAJIHE),
89.1 — Gararopiuni KyneTypu [11].

3a CTATUCTHYHUMHM JaHUMH CTOCOBHO TOBAPHOI CTPYKTYPH 30BHIIIHBOL
topriBii Ykpaian, y 2021 p. [10] Ha nepmioMy Miciii 32 00CATOM €KCIIOPTY
€ TMPOAYKTH POCIMHHOTO IMOXOJKEHHS 3 4YacTkowo 22.8 % 3arajabHOTO
o0cAary, mo craHoBUTh 15.5 mapa pon. CIJA, 3 HMX €KCHOPT 3€pHOBHX
KynbTyp — 18.1 %, a6o 12.3 mupn gon. CIIA. ko 6patu aHi 3a ciueHb—
TpaBeHb 2022 p., TO 3epHOBHUX KYyJbTYp E€KCHOPTOBAHO Ha cyMy 3.9 mMupn
non. CIIIA. Orxe, B MOPIBHAHHI 3 IMOMNEPEAHIM POKOM HEIOOTPUMAHHS
KOMTIiB cTaHOBHUTH 8.5 Mipx goi. CIIA, a6o 68.6 %.

SIKIIO  po3riIsiiaTé 3aJeKHICTh PI3HUX Taly3ed eKOHOMIKH Bif
TPAHCIIOPTY, TO TEpIIe MICLE 3aiiMae CUIbChKE TOCHOJApCTBO, 33 HUM —
METaNypriiiHa Ta BYTiUIbHA MPOMUCIOBICTh, TIPHHUYO-METANypridiHUN Ta
O0OOpOHHUN KOMIUIEKCH. 3alli3HUYHUI TPAHCIOPT € OCHOBHOIO JIAHKOIO
TPAHCIOPTHO-JIOTICTUYHOIO KOMIUIEKCY BaHTKHUX IE€pPEBE3€Hb, 11O
HOSICHIOETBCSL TeorpaiuHUM pO3TallyBaHHSAM YKpaiHW Ta 3arajibHOIo
CTPYKTYPOIO €KOHOMIKH. PO3IJIsIHEMO CTaTUCTUYHI JaH1 111010 IepPEeBE3ECHHS
BaHTaXI1B 3aJII3HUYHUM TpaHcnopToM y 2015-2021 pp. (puc. 4).
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Puc. 4. IlepeBe3eHHs1 BAHTAKIB 321iI3HMYHMM TPAHCIIOPTOM B YKpaiHi,
30KpeMa 3epHa i NpoAyKTiB nmepemeJy, y 2015-2021 pp.

IDicepeno: cknaneno apTopom 3a [10].
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3 puc. 4 TEHACHINIO 10 3MEHIICHHS 00’€MIB IepeBe3eHb 0auynMO
32018 p. Lle nosicHIOEThCS 30UIBIICHHSIM BapTOCTI MEPEBE3€Hb 3alli3HUY-
HUM TPAHCIIOPTOM Ta TOUIYKOM ajbTepHATHBHHUX BapiaHTIB, YHACIIIOK
4oro BiAOYJI0CS 3pOCTaHHs OOCSTIB MEepeBEe3eHb BAHTAXIB aBTOMOOUILHUM
TPaHCHOPTOM. [HIIIOI0 IPUYMHOIO € HEJJOCTATHS MPOMYCKHA CIPOMOXKHICTb,
BiJICYTHICTh CIIPABHOT'O PYXOMOTI'O CKJIay Y HEOOXiIHIM KITBKOCT1, HU3bKUN
piBEHb HaJaHHS 3aJI3HUYHHUX MOCTYT, a TAKOX 3aTPUMKH Yy rpadiky pyxy
TO13/11B, HEJIOCTATHIM piBEHb OE3MEKHU Ta 30epekeHHs BaHTaxIB. HemoctaTHICTh
(iHaHCYBaHHS Tally3l NEPEelIKOJKA€ OHOBJIEHHIO PYXOMOIO CKIaay Ta
HiABUILEHHIO PIBHS HOro TeXHIYHOrO OOCIyroByBaHHsS. Takox 31 CKOpoO-
YEHHSIM 3arajlbHUX OOCATIB NEpEeBE3€Hb 3MEHIIWIOCS W TIepeBEe3eHHs
3€pPHOBHUX KYJBTYp 1 MpOAYyKTiB mepemeny. Y 2021 p. 33.6 muH T 3epHa Ta
IPOAYKTIB MEepeMelly IepeBe3eHO 3aJI3HUYHUM TpaHCopToMm, 1o Ha 4.3 %
meHtie, Hixk y 2020 p.

Axmo posrasgata 2022 p., TO HA TIOYATKy POKY, 30KpeMa y CiuHi,
o0cAru TepeBe3eHHs 3aI3HUYHUM TpaHCopToM mpoTu ciuHs 2021 p.
3pocnu Ha 38.8 % [12]. IIpore moBHOMacmiTabHE BTOPTrHEHHS pocii Ta
MOYATOK aKTMBHUX BOEHHUX A1{ Ha TEPUTOPIi Y KpaiHU BHECIIH CBOI KOPEKTUBH,
BHACJIIIOK YOTO 3HOBY BiIOYyJIOCSA pi3Ke CKOPOYECHHS 00’€MIB NEpEeBE3CHBb
BaHTaxiB. [IpHunMHOI0 1LOTO CTajla MacoBa €BaKyallis HaceJeHHS, KOJU
VYkp3ani3Hulls B3siia Ha ce0e OCHOBHY POJIb B Oprasizallii eBaKyamiiHuX
noi3aiB. TakoXX HEJOCTAaTHICTh MEPEBATOYHUX MOTYKHOCTEW Ha 3axiTHHUX
KOPJIOHAX 1 HECTAOUTBHICTD iX pOOOTH, 3aKPUTTS YCIX 3aTI3HUYHHUX TIEPEXO/IiB
gyepe3 pociio Ta OiI0pych 1 CIIPSMOBAHICTh OCHOBHUX BaHTA)KOIMOTOKIB Ha
MOPCBKI TIOPTH, SIKI OMUHUIUCA 3a0JJOKOBAHUMH, CIIPUYMHUIN 3YTTHHEHHS
BHYTPIIIHIX BAaHTAXKHUX MEPEBE3CHb 3aII3HUYHUM TPAHCIOPTOM Yy MEpIIUi
Micslb BifiHM Maitke Ha 25 %. 1Ilo crocyeThcsi €KCIIOPTHHUX TEPEBE3EHb,
OKpIM 3a3HAaYeHWX TMPHUYMH, JOJAETbCI HHU3bKAa 1HTEeporepadenbHICTh
3QJII3HUYHOTO TPAHCIOPTY, COPUYMHEHA HEBIAMOBITHICTIO MIUPUHU KOJIi
B Ykpaini ta €spomni [13]. Ile 3yMoBiIO€ 3aTpUMKHU Yy TpPaHCIOPTYBaHHI
BaHTAXIB Ta 3HAUHE 30UTBILICHHS Yacy MPOXO/DKEHHS Yepe3 MyHKTH IMPOITyCKY.
Cepenniii yac O4iKyBaHHS BaroHIB IiJl 4ac MPOXO/KEHHI MPUKOPIOHHHUX
NyHKTIB MDK Ykpainotw, [lomeieto ta PymyHiero craHoBuTh 16 AHIB,
a B IGSIKUX MiCIX el yac npocsirae HaBith 10 30 nHiB. lle moB’si3aHo
3 MEPEBAHTAXCHHSIM Yy 1HINI BaroHW, SKI AJanToOBaHl MiJl €BPONEHCHKY
mupuHy Komii 1435 MM, abo 3MIHOIO KOJICHHX Tap 3a JOMOMOTOK
CHeliaJbHOI TeXHIKH, 0 € TOBTOTPUBAIUM IIPOLIECOM.

o cTocyeTbcss pUHKY 3€pHOBHUX KyJabTyp, To y 2021/2022 m.p.
B YKpaiHi 310paHO PEeKOpJHY KITBKICTh YPOKal0 3€pPHOBHX, [0 CTAHOBUTH
84.6 M T [14]. JInst mepeBe3eHHS LOTO BHUIY BaHTaXy TICHO B3a€EMOJIIOTh
TPU BUIU TPAHCIIOPTY: 3aJI3HUYHUM, aBTOMOOUTbHUIN Ta BOAHUHN, BKIIOUAIOYN
MOPCBKHI Ta piukoBHil. B eKCHOPTI 3epHOBUX KYJNbTYp JIIUPYE MOPCHKUN
TpaHcnopt, 90 % arpoekcrnopTty 10 pociiicbKOro BTOPTHEHHs Bi10yBasloCs
yepe3 moptu. Cranom Ha dyepBeHb 2022 p. 3 18 ykpalHCBKUX TMOPTIB
¢yukuionye naume 3 (Pewi, [3main, ¥Ycrb-/lyHaiicekuit), S mopTiB OKynoBaHi
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uie 3 2014 p., 4oTUpU HE MPALIOIOTh Yepe3 MOBHOMACUITA0HY BiifHY, a IIICTh
omokye pocis [15]. Yracainok uporo 90 % mopToBOro ToBapooOOpoTy He
MOXe 37iiicHIoBaTuCs, moHan 20 MiIH T 3epHa Ha modyatok TpaBHs 2022 p.
3HAXOJMJINCH 3a0JJOKOBAaHMMHU y TOpPTax, a EKCIOPT 3€pHAa CKOPOTUBCSA
10 500 TuC. T HA MicALb Yy TOPIBHSAHHI 3 5 MJH T 10 BiiiHU [16]. Lle Takox
BeIMKa Tmpobiema Juid 3pyHHOBAHOI EKOHOMIKM YKpaiHH, OCKUIBKU
HA/IXO/DKCHHS BiJl €KCHOPTY 3€pHA CTAHOBIATH ONM3BKO I’SITOI YAaCTHHU
EKCIIOPTHOI'O TOXOAY KpalHH.

[poBigHi Mo3uIlii y nepeBe3eHHI 3epHOBUX KYJIBTYp B YKpaiHi yTpUMye
ABTOMOOUTFHUI TPAHCIIOPT, KOTO HUIAXOM BiZOYyBAETHCS TPAHCIOPTYBAHHS
3epHa 3 MOJIB Ha €JIeBaTOPH, 3aJII3HUYHI CTAHIIT Ta M 13H1 KOl CTaHIIIH,
MOPCBKI TIOPTH, mepepoOHi mignpueMctBa Ta iHmI myHkTu [14]. Ilpore
3 IOYATKOM BIMHM L€l BUJ NEPEBE3CHb MOCTPAXKIAB Yepe3 MOIIKOHKESHHS
NMoHaa 8 THUC. KM aBTOMOOUTRHUX nopir Ta Oimbine Hixk 300 mocti [17],
0OMEXEHICTh Ta BIJICYTHICTb alIbTEPHATUBHUX MApIIPYTIB JOCTaBKU Ta
neiUTy TPaHCIOPTHUX 3aCO0iB.

JUis MakCUMalbHOTO 30UIBIICHHS MPOIMYCKHOI CIPOMOXHOCTI Ta
3a0e3neueHHs] TPAHCIOPTYBaHHS OOCSTIB MPOAYKIIi, SKI paHilie WU
4yepe3 YKpaiHCbKi MOPCBHKI MOPTH, HEOOXITHO MAaKCUMAJIbHO 3aJisTH BCI
BUJIM TPAHCIIOPTY.

JleTaabHO PO3TISTHEMO PO3MOALT €KCIIOPTY arpapHoi MpOIyKIi 3a
BUJAMH TPAHCIIOPTY 3a Oepe3enb—TpaBens 2022 p. (puc. 5).

1%

11%

aBTOMOOLIbHHIT

Bl sami3HHYHHE

EnoptH [yHaro

MIlapom

Puc. 5. Po3nogisi ekcnopTy arpapHoi NpoayKiuii 3 YKpainu
3a BUJAMH TPAHCIOPTY 3a Oepe3eHb—TpaBeHb 2022 p. [18]

3 puc. 5 6aunMo, 1O 3aTI3HUYHUN TPAHCHIOPT BIJIrpaB HAMBAKIIMBIIILY
pOJb B EKCHOPTiI arpapHOi MPOAYKILIi 3a Mepiii TpH MICALl POCIHCHKO-
yKpaiHCbKOi BiliHHM, 3a0e3meuyuBIIM TpaHcmopTyBaHHA 51 % 3arambHOTO
ekcropty. Po3ristyBIy 11i TOKa3HUKH MOMICSYHO (puc. 6), CIIOCTEPITAEMO,
10 €KCIIOPT 3aTI3HUYHUM TPAHCIIOPTOM 3 KOKHUM MICALIEM 3POCTAE, OTHKE
€ XapaKTepu3ye MO3UTHBHY AMHAMIKY Yy TMPOMYCKHIM CIPOMOMKHOCTI
1H(QPACTPYKTYPH 3aTI3HUYHOTO TPAHCTIOPTY.
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Puc. 6. Exciopt arpapHoi npoayxkuii
3aJIi3HMYHUM TpaHcnopToMm y 2022 p.

IDicepeno: cknaneno apTopom 3a [18].

[Ilo crocyeThcs MIIEHMIN, TO 3 puc. 7 0a4uMoO, SK 3MIHIOBAIHCS
YAaCTKH Yy 3arajJbHOMY 00Cs31 epeBe3eHb M0 BUaX TPAHCIIOPTY B €KCIOPTI
bOTO0 BHUIY 3€pHOBUX KyIbTyp. Skimo y Oepe3ni 2022 p. 3ami3HUYHUN
TpaHCHOpT OyB MOBHICTIO 3aAIIHUN JJIs1 €BaKyallli HACEJCHHs, a eKCIOpPT
NIIeHUI HUM OyB MPU3YNHUHEHUH, TO Y TPaBHI L€l MOKa3HUK 3pic 110 22 %.
OTxe, crocTepiraeThCsl BIIHOBJIEHHS I[bOTO HANpsAMYy NEPEBE3EHb 1 MOCTY-
HOBMH BUXI1J1 3 KPU3H.
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N apTOMOOLTRHHHE [E3amizEnuHuil  EmoptH yHaro
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[Ipote, 1110710 3aMI3HUYHOTO TPAHCHIOPTY, HA SKHUM 3apa3 MOKJIAJIEHO
TPAHCIOPTYBaHHS OCHOBHMX OOCSTIB CUIbCHKOI'OCHOJAPCHKOI MPOIYKIIi,
30KpeMa 3epHa, € HU3Ka mpobiieM, SKi MOXKHA BUPILIUTH JIMIIE MUIIXOM
3aJTy4YEHHsl 1HBECTHULIN Uil 30UIBLIEHHS MPOITYCKHOI CIPOMOKHOCTI ITyHKTIB
MEePEBAHTAXKCHHS Ta MOJCPHI3allil 3aI3HUYHOT 1HQPACTPYKTYPH B 3aXiTHUX
perioHax KpaiHu, o0 po3BaHTAKUTH NMPUKOPAOHHI MyHKTHU Ta MOKPAIIUTH
cUTyalito 3 exkcrnoproMm 3epHa. Cranom Ha uepBeHb 2022 p. B YkpaiHi
HEJIOCTaTHHO TMEePEBAHTAXKYBAJIBHOTO TMOTEHIIANy, 1100 00poOuTH BCI
BaHTaXI1, K1 OYIKYIOTh Ha 3aXiHOMY KopzoHi. [IpoTre OymiBHUIITBO HOBO1
iHppacTpyKTypu MOTpedye, OKpiM KamiTalbHUX BKIJIAJCHb, II€ W Yac Ha
iXHIO peani3alilo, TOX MHUTTEBOIO pe3yibTaTy B MOTPIOHM MOMEHT
JTOCATTH ayxe Baxkko. €C 31 cBOro 00Ky BIPOBAKYE ISl BUPIIICHHS IT1€T
CUTyallii BiJIMIHy MHTa Ha €KCIOPTHY NPOAYKIIIO, aje 1€ He 3YNUHUTH
IPOAOBOJIbYY Ta TyMaHITapHY KPU3Y Y CBITI.

[lle omniero TPoOOIEMOIO € PEMOHT €EBPOMEHCHKOI 3ali3HUYHOT
MEpeki, 10 3HAYHO CIOBUIBHIOE MIBUJIKICTh PYXY MOi3/iB, TaK, CEPeIHs
MIBUJIKICTb pyXy B PymyHii cTaHoBuTh 27 KM/TOJ, 110 HEAOCTAaTHHO IS
HIBUAKOTO TPAaHCHOPTYBaHHS yKpaiHcbkoro 3epHa [19]. Takox ¢akropom
raJibMyBaHHsI 30UIbIICHHS YKPAiHCBKUX EKCHOPTHUX TOTYXHOCTEH €
TPAHCIOPTYBAHHS BJIACHOI'O BPO’KAI0 3€PHOBUX KYJbTYp B €Bpormi, KOJIH
nepeBara OyJe HajgaHa TEPEBE3CHHIO BIIACHUX BAHTAXIB 3aJli3HUYHUM
TPAHCHOPTOM JI0 MOPCHKHMX MOPTIB, Hampukiaa B Pymynii. YckiagHioe
CUTyalilo ¥ morpeba B y3roJUKeHHI BCi€i HEOOXITHOI JOKyMeHTalli, 110
TaKOX 3ailMae O6araro vacy.

OnHuM 3 HampsiMIB BHUPILIEHHS Takoi MpoOJeMH € BIJHOBJICHHS
3QJII3HUYHOTO CIIOIyYeHHS MK YKpaiHowo Ta MOJI0BOIO Ha JUIBHUIN
bepesune—becapabsicka mnpoTskHICTIO 22 KM, $IK€ MNPU3YINHUHEHO IIIe
y 1999 p. [20]. Lle cromydeHHst AaCTh MOXKJIUBICTH 30UIBIINTH MPOITYCKHY
CIIPOMOJKHICTh €KCIOPTY Ta IMIOPTY MPOAYKIli depe3 PyMYHChKI MOPTH
B 00xix IlpuaHicTpoB’s, IO HAJIAroJWTh HOBI JIOTICTHYHI MOJKJIHUBOCTI.
Takox TmIaHyeTbcs OYIIBHHIITBO Ta BIAHOBIIEHHS HAsSBHOI KON MiX
NPONYCKHUM ITYHKTOM Ha KOPIOHI 3 MOJIOBOIO Ta PYMYHCHKHUM MOPTOM
["anan, 3aBagku 4oMy Oyjie CTBOPEHO HOBHMM MapUIpyT AJsl JOTICTUYHHMX
HIepEBE3EHb.

Takoxx y mepcrneKkTuBi BapTO MiABUILYBaTH 00 ’€MH TEpEBE3EHb
BAaHTAXIB 3aJTI3HUYHUM TPAHCIIOPTOM Yy 3axiJHOMY HaIpsiMi, 30UTbIIYIOUN
oOcsirn exkcriopry y kpainu €C Ta TpaH3uTOM uepe3 €BpoIly Ha CBITOBI
punku. KioyoBy posb y pearnizamii OO 3aBAAaHHS BiIIrpae MigmucaHa
yrojna Mk YkpaiHoto Ta [lonbliero mpo CTBOPEHHS CHUIBHOTO JIOTICTHYHOTO
MIATPUEMCTBA, 10 JacTh 3MOTY BHUpIIIyBaTH CIHUIbHI  TpoOjIeMu
y TEXHIYHOMY Ta oprasizamiinomy HampsiMax [21]. CTBopeHHS yKpaiHChKO-
HOJBCHKOTO JIOTICTUYHOTO MMiIMPUEMCTBA BiTHOBHUTD JIOTICTUYHI MapIIPyTH
JUIsl €KCIIOPTY YKPAiTHCHKUX TOBApiB HAa CBITOBUI PUHOK TPAH3UTOM uepes
€Bpony.
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[Ile oqHUM BasKIMBUM PIIIEHHSIM ISl €KCIIOPTY CLICHKOTOCIOAAPCHKOT
npoayKIii 3 Ykpainu € OyIIBHUITBO «CYXHX MOPTIB» — MYJIbTUMOJATbHUX
JOTICTUYHUX IIEHTPIB, SKi [AlOTh MOXIIMBICTh BUKOPHUCTOBYBAaTH BCi
nepeBaru MOPCbKOTO MOPTY, TUTBKU Ha CyIii. Taki JIOTICTUYHI [IEHTPH MaloTh
pO3BUHEHY 1HPPACTPYKTYpPY 3 MOETHAHHSIM PI3HUX BHUIIB TPAHCIOPTY,
cydyacHe oOnagHaHHS Ta TexHoJorii. Taki «CyXi MOPTU» IUIAHYEThCS
noOynyBaTH Ha TEpPUTOPIAX, sKI MexywoTh 3 Ilombmero, Pymyniero,
CrnoBauyunHOI0 Ta YTropmUHOW. 30KpemMa y BoOJIMHCBKOMY perioHi BixKe
OyIy€ThCsl TAKUIA JIOTICTUYMHUM KOMILIEKC [Tl TPAHCTIOPTYBAHHS Ta 30epiraHHs
3epHOBUX KynbTyp. [1anyernes 30epirannas npoaykirii 3 MUKoIaiBChKOI Ta
3anopi3bkoi o0acTei, 1110 CTaHOBUTH 3HAUYHY YaCTHUHY Bpokaro. B obnacrti
BUCTaya€ HEOOXIIHMX IUIOL[ Ta OOJaJHaHHS, TOXK 3HA4YHAa 4YacTUHA
3€pHOBUX, IO IJIAHYETHCA EKCHOPTyBaTH 10 €BponH, Oyae MPOXOAUTH
yepe3 1i TepmiHanu. OTxe, MOXKHA 30UTHIIUTH MPOMYCKHY CHPOMOXHICTD
Ta YaCTKOBO BHUPIIIUTH MPOOJIEMY €KCIIOPTY YKPaiHCHKOTO 3epHa [22].

BucnoBkm. Ilicist pociiicbkoro BTOprHeHHS 3ai3HUYHUN TPAHCIIOPT
€ OCHOBHUM BHJIOM IE€pEBE3€Hb 3€pHOBHX BaHTaxiB. [IpHunHOIO LIBOTO €
OJIOKYyBaHHSI YKpaiHCHKMX MOPTIB 1 BIACYTHICTh QJIbTEPHATUBHUX MapLIpPYTIB
TpaHcroptyBaHHs. [Ipote, mompu Ge3iy JOTICTUYHUX MPOOJIEM, a TaKOXK
HecTabUIbHICTh JoMoBIeHOCTe Mik Typeuunnoro, OOH, VYkpainoio Ta
poci€ro mo0 po30J0KyBaHHS YKPaiHCHKUX MOPTIB, MO>KHA CTBEPIKYBaTH,
10 3aJI3HUYHUN TPAHCIOPT HA CHOTOJIHI € HAHONMTUMAJBHIIIUM, X04a M
TUMYaCOBUM BapiaHTOM CTaOLIBHOTO EKCIOPTY 3€PHOBHUX KyJIbTyp. Tomy
BapTO BXKUTH BCI HEOOXIIHI 3aXOM U PO3BHUTKY TakKuX mepeBeseHb. Cepen
OCHOBHMX HampsAMiB 30UIbIIEHHS MPOITYCKHOI CIPOMOYHOCTI 3aJII3HUYHOT
1IHPpPacTpyKTypu MOKHA BHOKPEMHUTH OYJIBHUIITBO «CYXHUX TOPTIBY,
BIJTHOBJICHHS 3aJI3HUYHOTO CIOJYYEHHS MiX YKpaiHow Ta MoimoBoro,
a TaKOXK MEePEOpIE€HTAIliS JIOTICTUKU Ha 3aX1IHI KOPJOHHU Y KpaiHu.

Uepes ckiaJiHy CHUTYyallil0, TIOB’sI3aHy 3 BOEHHUMH JAISIMU Ha TE€PUTOPIi
VYkpaiHu, a TakoXX pe3yJbTaTh aHali3y MPOMYCKHOI CIPOMOXKHOCTI
€KCIIOPTY 3€PHOBUX BAHTAXIB 3aJI3HUYHUM TPAHCIIOPTOM, MOXKHA 3a3HAYUTH
MEPCIEKTUBHI HAMNpsIMU TMOAANBIINX JOCTIDKeHb Yy I[N Tamy3l: aHali3
CBITOBOTO JOCBily PO3BUTKY 3aJi3HUYHOTO TPAHCIOPTY Ta aJamnTailis a0
€BPOIEUCHKUX BHUMOT 1 CTaHIAPTIB; 3O0LIBIICHHS 1HTEpONEepadeTbHOCTI
3QIII3HUYHOTO TPAHCIOPTY MUISIXOM MEPEXOAy Ha €BPOMEUCHKY IHUPUHY
komii 1435 MM A7 CKOPOUEHHS Yacy MPOXO/KEHHs! MPOIMYCKHUX IYHKTIB
Ha KOpJOHaX 1 30UIbIIeHHS 00’ €MIB MPOMYCKHOI CIIPOMOKHOCTI €KCIIOPTY
36pHOBHMX BAaHTaXiB; PO3pOOKa albTEPHATUBHUX pIIIEHb ISl JIAHIIIOTIB
MOCTA4aHHS EKCIOPTY 3€pHa 3aJTi3HUYHAM TPAHCIIOPTOM 3 YPaxyBaHHSIM
YMOB BIHCBHKOBOTO CTaHy; 3aJy4eHHS 1HO3EMHUX 1HBECTHUIIA Yy PO3BHUTOK
3aJ1I3HUYHOT 1HPPACTPYKTYPH.
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TRANSFORMATION OF FINANCIAL
REPORTING OF SMALL ENTERPRISES
ACCORDING TO IFRS

Introduction. Small businesses play an impor-
tant role in ensuring the economic stability of
Ukraine, but during the war they are in a difficult
situation and need support.

Problem. For small enterprises, overcoming
existing problems is possible thanks to cooperation
with European companies, investors, counterparties,
international  financial — organizations, entering
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foreign markets, attracting capital, participating in
grant projects, startups, etc., but this requires a
transition to international accounting standards and
the transformation of financial reporting.

The aim of the article is to highlight the
peculiarities of the transition of small business
enterprises to international accounting and reporting
standards and to find practical recommendations for
improving the transformation of financial reporting.

Methods. During the research, general scientific
and special methods were used, in particular:
induction, deduction, comparative analysis, synthesis,
generalization, grouping, abstract logical methods.

Results. The sequence and scheme of the
transition of small business enterprises from national
accounting and reporting standards to international
ones is analyzed, the stage of transformation of
simplified financial reporting into reporting according
to the International Financial Reporting Standard
for Small and Medium Enterprises (IFRS for SMEs)
is highlighted. The characteristics of financial
reporting transformation procedures, examples and
features of reclassification of individual accounting
objects and reporting items, typical for small
enterprises, are given. An amendment table is
provided for the transformation of the financial
statements of a small enterprise into reporting
according to international standards.

Conclusions. The transformation of the financial
reporting of a small business entity into reporting
according to international standards involves
a number of organizational and technical measures
to reformat the accounting policy, adjust the accounting
system and digitize it according to new rules and
approaches, etc. The proposed corrective table helps
control the reporting transformation process and
track the relationship between the changes made,
promotes information disclosure and reporting
transparency.

Keywords: transformation, reporting, trans-
formation of reporting, international financial reporting
standards, small business, small enterprise.

JEL Classification: M41, M49.

opeaniBayisamu, 8UXo0y HA 308HIUHEI PUHKU, 3QTYHEHHIO
Kanimany, y4acmi'y SpaHmosux npoexKmax, Cmapmanax
mowjo, ane 051 Yb0eo HEOOXIOHUL NEPexio HA MIdICHA-
POOHI cmanoapmu 6yxeanmepcbuKo2o 00Ky ma mpauc-
Gopmayis Ginarcosoi 36imnocmi.

Memoro cmammi € 8uceimnenHs ocooaueocmell
nepexooy nionpuemMcme manoz2o 0Oi3Hecy Ha Midic-
HapoOHi cmanoapmu 6yXeanmepcpko2o 00Ky U 36im-
HOCMI Ma NOWLYK NPAKMUYHUX PEKOMEHOAyill ujo0o
B00CKOHANICHHS, MPAaHChHOpmayii piHancosoi 36iMHoCI.

Memoou. Ilio uac oocniddcennsi euxopuc-
Mano 3a2anbHOHAYKOBL MA CHeYianbHi Memoou.:
iHOYKYis, 0e0yKyis, NOPIGHANbHUL AHANI3, CUHMES,
Y3a2aNbHeH s, ePYNYSAHHs, AOCMPAKMHO-T02IYHI.

Pesynemamu. IIpoananizosano nocnioosnicme i
cxemy nepexooy RiOnpuemMcme Mano2o 6isHecy 6i0
HAYiOHAbHUX CMAHOAPMIB OyXeanmepcbKo2o 00Ky
ma 36iMHOCIE 00 MIDICHAPOOHUX, BUOKDEMACHO eman
mpancghopmayii cnpowenoi ginancoeoi 3gimmocmi 'y
38imuicme 3a MidxcHapoOuum cmanoapmom ¢hinan-
€0B01" 36IMHOCMI Ol MATUX | CEPeOHIX NIONpUEMCME
(MC®3 ona MCII). Ilposedeno xapaxmepucmuxy
npoyedyp mpancghopmayii inancosoi 36immocmi,
NPUKIAOU ma 0coONUE0CMI NEPEKACUGDIKAYLi OKpemux
006 ’exmie 0bMiKy ma cmameil 36iMHOCHI, XAPAKMEPHI
ons manux nionpuemcms. Haseoerno nonpasrkogy mao-
auyro 0nsi mpancopmayii Qinancosoi 36imnocmi
MA020 NIONPUEMCMBA Y 36IMHICb 30 MIDICHAPOOHUMU
cmanoapmamu.

Bucnoeku. Tparncghopmayia ¢hinaricosoi’ seimmocmi
CY0 €KMa Manoeo NIONPUEMHUYIMBA HA 36IMHICIIG 30 MIdC-
HAPOOHUMU CIAHOGPMAMU Nepeddasac HU3Ky OpeaHi3a-
YIIHUX MA MEXHIYHUX 3aX00i8 3 NepeqropManty6aHHs
00IIKOBOI NONIMUKU, HAIACOONCEHHSL cUCmeMu Oyxea-
mepcvKoeo 06Ky ma it oyugdpyeanHs 3a HOBUMU NPAGU-
Jiamu ma nioxooamu mowjo. 3anponoHoBaHA Kopuzyroua
mabnuysa OonomMazae KOHMpOIBAMYU npoyec mpacghop-
Mayii 36imHOCmi ma 8i0Cmedcy8amu 83a€M038 ‘30K
BHECeHUX 3MiH, CNPUSE PO3KpUMmIo ingopmayii ma
npo3zopocmi 36iIMHOCMI.

Knwuogi cnosea: Tpancdopmallis, 3BITHICT,
TpaHcOpMaIisl 3BITHOCTI, MIKHAPOJHI CTaHAAPTH
(hiHaHCOBOI 3BITHOCTI, MaJMii Oi3HEC, MaJIe ITiAIPHEMCTBO.
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Introduction. Currently, in the conditions of martial law,
maintaining economic stability is one of the national priorities for Ukraine.
Comparing with the period until February 23, 2022, 46.8 % of Ukrainian
enterprises are stopped or almost stopped, the total direct losses of small
and medium-sized businesses from February 24, 2022 are estimated at
USD 85 billion [1]. Among the main problems and obstacles, the lack of a
sufficient number of solvent buyers and clients, the unpredictability of the
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development of the situation in Ukraine, and insufficient capital [1] are
highlighted. For small and medium-sized enterprises, important ways to
overcome existing problems can be: entering foreign markets, attracting
foreign capital, business development and cooperation with investors,
participation in grant projects and competitions, but this requires the
transition to international accounting and reporting standards and conducting
financial reporting transformation procedures.

It is common knowledge that economic stability and purchasing
power are mainly ensured by the functioning of small and medium-sized
businesses. Thanks to administrative and tax relaxations on the part of the
state, since the beginning of the war, there has been an increase in
the number of small and micro business entities in Ukraine, an increase
inthe volume of preferential lending to small and medium-sized
enterprises, including at the expense of foreign partner countries and
international organizations. In particular, during the martial law, 10 945
concessional loans worth UAH 41.89 billion were issued within the
framework of the State Program «Affordable Loans 5-7-9 %» [2]. All this
emphasizes the urgency of the transition of enterprises to international
standards today and the growth of these prospects for the future.

The need to transform financial reporting, the preparation of which
was carried out according to national standards, into reporting according
to International financial reporting standards (hereinafter — IFRS) is due to
the fact that although the development of National accounting provi-
sions (standards) (hereinafter — NAR(S)) was based on IFRS, and the legislation
of Ukraine indicates the absence of contradictions between them [3; 4],
however, not all requirements for disclosure of information in financial
statements according to national standards meet the requirements of
international standards. In particular, this concerns the forms of financial
reporting regulated in Ukraine, the abbreviated content of NAR(S), the lack
of practical examples and certain clarifications that are in IFRS, similar
standards, differences in the interpretation of individual provisions and
requirements. The transformation of financial reporting into reporting
prepared according to international standards guarantees the reliability,
openness and transparency of information about the reporting entity.

Problem. The problem of the transformation of financial reporting is
that there are no approved uniform rules or recommendations on how to
conduct it, it is an individual process that must take into account the
specifics of the activity and accounting of a particular enterprise. The
legislation of Ukraine defines the range of entities that are obliged to switch
to international accounting and reporting standards [2], however, most
small enterprises choose IFRS as an independent decision.

In a simplified sense, transformation is a certain set of procedures
that allow you to transform financial information compiled according to one
set of rules into financial reporting forms compiled according to other rules.
For a small business enterprise, transformation means the transformation of
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financial information from reporting under NP(S)BO, including from
simplified forms under NAR(S) 25 «Simplified Financial Reporting» [5],
into reporting forms according to the International Standard of Financial
Reporting for Small and medium-sized enterprises (hereinafter — IFRS for
SMEs) [6], namely: the need to regroup accounting information and adjust
reporting items.

The transformation of financial reporting of small business enterprises
has a number of features, the description and explanation of which will be
of practical importance for business entities, will facilitate the transition to
international standards and help take advantage of their advantages, which
are so necessary today in Ukraine.

Analysis of recent research and publications. The issue of
accounting and reporting according to international standards is highlighted
in the works of a number of scientists and practitioners, among whom it is
necessary to highlight the authors: T. Ostrikova, S. Rogozny, T. Shevtsova,
S. Zubilevich, O. Mazina [7; 8]. Comparison of accounting and reporting of
small business entities in Ukraine according to national and international
standards, aspects of harmonization of accounting and reporting in the
context of European integration are reflected in the works of domestic
scientists: O. Malyshkin, S. Shulyarenko, K. Bezverkhyy, I. Kovova, V. Karyev,
O. Yarmolytska [9; 10]. The problems of financial reporting transformation
and the search for ways to overcome them are presented in the works of
A. Kotyash [11] and N. Salova [12].

Foreign scientists R. Lombardi and G. Secundo [13] emphasize the
growing relevance of the transformation of financial reporting under the
influence of modern information and smart technologies, analyze in detail
the types of reporting that enterprises make, highlight the impact of digital
technologies on the processes of global transformation of corporate
reporting for exchange information between the main users, which is
extremely important for further achieving the goals of corporate social
responsibility, accountability and business transparency.

German scientists P. Ulrich and R. Rieg also offer a discussion of the
potential of reporting for the use of digital technologies, the possibilities
and limitations that exist in this regard today [14].

The publication of S. Alibhai, E. Bakker, T. Balasubramanian etc. is
devoted to organizational issues and benefits from the implementation of
IFRS [15]. R. Weetman, 1. Tsalavoutas, P. Gordon investigate the further
development of IFRS, the expansion of opportunities for their application
and the transition of companies to international standards [16].

Despite a significant amount of work, the specifics of the
transformation of financial reporting specifically for small business
enterprises, the theoretical and practical aspects of the transition from a
simplified system of accounting and reporting according to national
standards to the application of a full package of IFRS or a single IFRS for
SME:s are still not sufficiently covered. The opportunities and advantages
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provided by the transition to international standards, in particular, an
increase in the quality of financial reporting, its comprehensibility for users
and transparency will contribute to entering foreign markets, more active
cooperation with European countries, international financial organizations,
companies, investors, counterparties, which will help to support economic
stability in Ukraine. That is why the study of the peculiarities of
the transition to international standards and the practical aspects of the
transformation of financial reporting of small business enterprises require
in-depth research and have significant practical significance.

The aim of the article is to highlight the peculiarities of the
transition of small business enterprises to international standards and
the transformation of financial reporting into reporting according to
international standards, to find practical recommendations for improving
the transformation of reporting.

Methods. During the research, general scientific and special methods
and methods of cognition were used, in particular: analysis and synthesis
regarding the disclosure of information support for the preparation of
financial statements; induction and generalization to characterize the
conceptual provisions of financial reporting transformation; comparison
and grouping are used to classify discrepancies between national and
international standards; comparative analysis for the formation of a
corrective table of reporting transformation; the abstract-logical method
was used for theoretical generalizations and formulation of conclusions.
The scientific hypothesis of the study is the assumption of the imperfection
of the organization and methodology of the transformation of the financial
reporting of a small business entity into reporting according to international
standards, which leads to an increase in the complexity of the reporting
transformation process and the incomplete satisfaction of information needs
for the purposes of enterprise management and requires improvement. The
novelty of the obtained results lies in the substantiation of the provisions
and recommendations regarding the improvement of the transformation of
the financial reporting of a small business entity into reporting according to
international standards.

Results. The transformation of the financial statements of a small
enterprise from a simplified form to reporting according to international
standards, namely to reporting that meets the requirements of IFRS for
SMEs, has a number of features. First, the IFRS for SMEs itself was
published back in 2009. The last edition of the IFRS for SMEs took place
in 2015 and was translated into Ukrainian and published on the official
website of the Ministry of Finance of Ukraine [6], and can be used by small
and medium-sized enterprises, which are not publicly accountable and
publish general purpose statements for external users. If the general IFRS
are focused on the needs of satisfying the interests of investors, creditors
who have invested in equity capital, or whose shares are on the stock
market, their requirements and recommendations are more suitable for
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public companies. IFRS for SMEs are more focused on users who are
interested in financial results, cash flows, current liquidity and financial
stability of the enterprise [17]. Secondly, IFRS for SMEs does not require
such amount of information disclosure, which reduces the burden on the
accounting system and optimizes the cost-benefit ratio for the enterprise [18].

In view of the latest changes in legislation, when transitioning to
international standards, the company must first of all significantly change
its accounting policy. It should be noted that the new accounting policy was
developed in accordance with IFRS for SMEs, which is part of the
international standards adopted by the International Accounting Standards
Board and published on the website of the Ministry of Finance of Ukraine,
taking into account the provisions of the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting [19], with the aim of ensuring uniform (permanent)
principles, methods, and procedures for displaying operations in accounting
and preparing financial statements [20]. The enterprise needs to apply those
professional judgments that most optimally characterize the financial
condition and do not contradict IFRS and the Conceptual Framework.
Similarly, when applying the company's accounting policies, it is necessary
to take into account that management makes various judgments that can
affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements.

It is worth noting that the subject of professional judgment in the
context of IFRS, in addition to the accountant, is also the managers of
the enterprise, who can apply judgment, determining: when all significant
risks and rewards from the ownership of assets are transferred to other
business entities; the procedure for assessing the degree of completion of
service provider operations; the fact of whether the essence of relations
between enterprises indicates the presence of control by one enterprise over
another; definition of functional currency; provision assessment; determining
the composition of a business segment or geographic segment, etc.

Enterprise managers, making certain decisions regarding the definition
and application of accounting policy, rely on the professional judgment of
specialists of a certain profile. We believe that the professional judgment
used in the process of preparing financial statements is based on the
knowledge and qualifications of the relevant specialists (supervisor,
accountant, manager).

For the transformation of financial reporting, an important issue is
the date of transition to international standards. For example, the company
LLC «WOOD-PROM» chose 01.01.2019 as the date of transition to IFRS
for SMEs, accordingly, 2019 became a comparative period for the
company — a transformational one for the preparation of financial
statements. It was on 01.01.2019 that the opening balance was drawn up
according to IFRS for SMEs. The opening date of the first reporting period
under IFRS for SMEs 1s 01.01.2020, and the financial statements for 2020
are the first financial statements prepared entirely on the basis of the
application of the international standard IFRS for SMEs (Figure 1).
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The latest financial
statements for NAR(S) 25

Simplified reporting Comparative period The first accounting period
only for NAR(S) 25 2019 only according to IFRS
(forms No. Im Transformation of for SMEs, a set of 5 forms
and No. 2m) reporting of financial reporting
2018 2020

\ v v
01.01.2018 01.01.2019 01.01.2020 01.01.2021
Regular Date of transition Opening of the first Standard reporting
reporting date to IFRS for SMEs reporting period under date under IFRS
IFRS for SMEs for SMEs

The first reporting according
to IFRS

Figure 1. Scheme of the transition of a small business enterprise from
a simplified reporting system to international standards (IFRS for SMEs)

Source: compiled on the basis of [5; 6; 21; 22] on the example of LLC «WOOD-
PROM)» (at the request of the company, its name was changed).

Thus, for the transformation of financial statements, it is important to
understand that two years pass for an enterprise between the date of
transition to IFRS for SMEs and the first regular reporting, therefore the
transition balance sheet presents information for three dates: 01.01.2019,
31.12.2019, 31.12.2020. Moreover, the balance sheets at the beginning and
end of 2019 are the reporting of the comparative period, which are based on
the transformation from rules according to national standards to rules
according to international standards. The statement of financial position
as of 01.01.2021 (or 31.12.2020) is the first balance sheet that is drawn up
immediately under IFRS for SMEs. Accordingly, the company prepares two
profit and loss reports: for 2019 through transformation for the comparative
period and for 2020 as the first report compiled on the basis of [FRS for SMEs.
Similarly, other forms of reporting and an expanded composition of notes.

Among the methods of transformation that generally exist in practice,
the most rational is the transformation of forms of financial reporting, not at
the level of transactions or accounting registers, and not conversion [21]. As
it is known, there are discrepancies between NAR(S) and IFRS, the company
that prepares reports according to IFRS is forced to reflect separately and in
practice keep parallel accounting according to IFRS or to periodically transform
the reporting prepared according to NAR(S). For a small enterprise, parallel
accounting is quite costly and therefore unprofitable. With the preservation
of existing accounting registers and the use of the general Plan of
accounting accounts and the Instructions for it, we consider the method
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of transformation at the level of financial reporting to be the most profitable
and less costly.

The transformation of financial reporting means the implementation
of measures and adjustments to transform the indicators of financial
reporting prepared according to NAR(S) 25 into reporting under IFRS for
SMEs, taking into account the principles of recognition, evaluation, and
disclosure requirements laid down in it.

The process of transformation of financial reporting at a small
enterprise can be represented in the form shown in Figure 2.

ENTRY k /. EXIT Y
Financial statements

) New accounting policy.
prepared in accordance

A new working chart

! with NAR(S) 25: l : l
| W Ball\;nce(s})leei i PROCESS : ;f accquilts. i
- (form No Im) = ' proparedaccording. |
i - Report on financial i Transformation i ?0 I%RS for SMES% i
, results (form No. 2m) i procedur.es i - Statement of financial i
| Accounting policy. —»  offinancial ——» position; :
i Chart of accounts (general) E transformatlon E - Statement of comprehen- i
i and Instructions for its | reporting | sive income or two forms: |
! application. i i statement of total income i
i Accounting registers of | ' and statement of profits |
i synthetic and analytical i \ ) . and losses; |
, accounting. ! i - Statement of changes i
i | | in equity; |
! i i - Statement of Cash Flows; i
i | '« Accounting policies !
! ! i and explanatory notes i
\ /! '\ presentation K

____________________

Figure 2. Scheme of the process of transformation of the forms of financial
reporting of a small business enterprise into reporting under IFRS for SMEs

Source: summarized by the author based on the analysis of the accounting
organization at the enterprise and [5; 6; 23].

If the transformation is based on the introduction of adjustments in
the accounting registers, corrective transactions on synthetic and analytical
accounts (sub-accounts), allows the formation of a new turnover and
balance statement already on the basis of which reporting under IFRS is
compiled with the regrouping of individual items and accounts. The
transformation at the stage of data transfer from Ukrainian reporting forms
to reporting forms according to the requirements of IFRS requires
adjustments already at the level of filling in the relevant articles and reports.
As practice shows, the most work required in the transformation of
reporting is the correct transfer of data from two shortened forms
of reporting into five full-fledged, although somewhat simplified according
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to IFRS for SME:s. It is clear that such adjustment and reclassification of
reporting items and accounting objects also require the introduction
of corrective transactions, an appeal to the accounting registers when
disclosing information in the notes.

The advantages of this method can be called saving time and costs, the
use of standard forms of reporting — in fact, from NAR(S) 25 to NAR(S) 1
with the corresponding mark that «Compiled according to international
standards» and in accordance with norms IFRS for SMEs, about full
compliance with all the requirements of this standard, which is clearly stated
in the notes to the financial statements. Notes that are formed according to
IFRS differ from those provided for enterprises using national standards [24].
The notes after the transformation of the reporting fully comply with the
disclosure requirements contained in the IFRS for SMEs. At the same time,
the corrective actions are immediately visible, they quite clearly and
transparently demonstrate the transformation of reporting, and on the basis of
this information is disclosed in the notes in the form of explanations.

In contrast to NAR(S) 1 «General requirements for financial
reporting» [4], IFRS for SMEs Chapter 10 [6] and IFRS 1 «First-time
application of International Financial Reporting Standards» [22] include
requirements only for the inclusion of indicators in the profit and loss
statement, but does not disclose their content. According to NAR(S) 1 and
NAR(S) 25, the form of the report on financial results differs from
international standards in that the report on the financial results of a small
business entity consists of one section and does not include «Elementary
costs of operations» and «operations Calculation of share profitability
indicators». The structure of the report on financial results in accordance
with NAR(S) 25 corresponds to the classification according to the cost
function method, which is provided for in IFRS 1 and IFRS for SME:s.

When transforming the financial statements of a small enterprise into
reporting according to international standards, it is mandatory to comply
with the principles of accrual and continuity of activity, as well as
requirements for the quality of information provided in the statements.
Since the transition to the formation of financial statements in accordance
with the requirements of IFRS is carried out through transformation, the
financial statements should include comparative information for at least one
previous period, therefore, it is necessary to transfer the relevant
information to the beginning of the year for which such comparative
information is provided. For example, LLC « WOOD-PROM», preparing
for the first time reporting in accordance with IFRS for SMEs for 2020,
must retrospectively recalculate the balances for January 1, 2019 and
December 31, 2019. Moreover, the transformation includes balance sheet
analysis (form No. Im) and the report on financial results (form No. 2m),
which meet the requirements of NAR(S) 25, and making the necessary
adjustments to them to ensure that information is presented in full
compliance with IFRS for SMEs.
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For example, the transformation of the item «Fixed assets» involves
a review of the composition of fixed assets and clarification of the initial
assessment and book value of fixed assets. Accordingly, as a result of the
transformation, the class of fixed assets may differ from the classification of
fixed assets established by state authorities in Ukraine. In addition, the
clarification of the book value of fixed assets depends on the approach to
their assessment chosen by the enterprise and may differ from the
approaches according to IFRS, which needs to be taken into account during
the transformation of reporting.

There is also a need to reclassify the gender of stocks, taking into
account the differences between NAR(S) 9 and IFRS for SMEs. In parti-
cular, the value of inventories is reduced by those amounts that do not meet
the definition of assets and low-value and perishable items, the value of
which is below the materiality limit for such assets established by the
enterprise. The item «Cash and their equivalents» and the separate definition
of cash equivalents given in NAR(S) correspond to IFRS for SMEs.
Therefore, it is advisable to combine the amounts and include them in the
transformed balance sheet under the item «Cash and their equivalents» [25].

Small business entities when transitioning to IFRS for SMEs in
inventory accounting are guided by the requirements of Chapter 13 «Inven-
tories» of this standard. According to NAR(S) 9, the valuation of stocks at
initial recognition depends on the method of receipt at the enterprise,
therefore there are some differences when calculating the value of stocks
that come as a result of an acquisition, are independently manufactured, are
a contribution to the statutory registered capital or are discovered during
inventory. Chapter 13 of the IFRS for SMEs contains a more detailed list of
costs that cannot be included in the cost of inventories, including: selling
costs, overtime waste, administrative overheads, labor wages or other costs
that are not related to the delivery of inventories to their present location
and bringing to present state. If a small enterprise switches to a general
package of IFRS, then during the transformation it is necessary to take into
account that according to IAS 2, the cost of inventories includes costs: for
acquisition, processing and other costs incurred during the delivery of
stocks to the location and bringing them into proper condition. According to
IAS 2 and IFRS for SMEs, inventories are taken at their storage locations at
the end of the year for the preparation of annual financial statements. Based
on the results of the inventory, the balances of stocks at the end of the
reporting period are determined and evaluated, which are debited to
the accounts of the corresponding stocks from the accounts of financial
results, which is not provided for in NAR(S) 9 [23].

For small business enterprises, it is important that, in accordance
with international standards, it is possible to create a provision reserve for
firm contracts, as it helps to evaluate stocks at the contract price regardless
of changes in the net realizable value. In addition, for preliminary
revaluation of stocks according to IFRS for SMEs and IAS 2, the amount of
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the next revaluation is carried out by reversal of previously recognized
costs. While NAR(S) 9 allows recognizing other operating income with an
increase in the value of these stocks, which is more economically expedient
since the «reversal» method is used when depreciation and revaluation
occur in the same accounting period. Therefore, if the periods do not
coincide, it is impossible to reduce the expenses of the reporting period by
the amount of expenses of the past reporting periods, it is more correct to
recognize the income. Therefore, during the transformation of reporting, it
is necessary to take into account that, in contrast to NAR(S) 9, according to
international standards, it is possible to create a security reserve under firm
contracts and to evaluate inventories at the contract price.

The transformation of current receivables involves: exclusion from
the item «Receivables for issued advances» of that part of the balance of
subaccount 644 «Tax credit» that is related to issued advances; recognition
of receivables related to services provided (work performed), for which acts
were not drawn up (with simultaneous recognition of the amount of income
in the statement of financial results); recognition of doubtful debts (if any)
for other items of receivables that are financial assets.

It should be borne in mind that IFRS does not define specific
methods for calculating and displaying doubtful debts. Therefore, the enter-
prise can create a reserve for doubtful debts or directly write off the amount
of doubtful debt to expenses using self-selected methods, in particular as
a percentage of the number of net sales. However, this approach is
unacceptable from the point of view of IFRS, as it is a distortion of the
method of determining the reserve for doubtful debts in the net income
from the sale of goods (services) [25].

It should be noted that the transformation of the balance sheet item
«Other current assets» involves the exclusion from the balance of subaccount
643 «Tax liabilities» of the part related to the receipt of advances (with the
simultaneous exclusion of this amount from the composition of the received
advance payments, reflected in the composition of liabilities «Yazan in the
liabilities of the balance sheet»). If assets were received for free, then the
value of non-current assets received by the enterprise for free is excluded
from the composition of the company's equity and assets, and the amount of
depreciation of such non-current assets accrued in previous years is
transferred to the composition of retained earnings.

The transformation of items of current liabilities involves clarifying
the composition and evaluation of these items: accounts payable for
actually received services (work) that were not formalized by an act are
recognized (with simultaneous reflection in the composition of expenses);
the part of the balance of subaccount 644 «Tax credit» is excluded from the
composition of the item «Other current liabilities» (with its simultaneous
exclusion from the composition of the corresponding item of receivables, in
which the amount of the advance payment is reflected), which is related to
the advances provided.
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During the transformation of reporting, it is necessary to analyze the
income and expenses shown in the report on financial results (form No. 2)
and regroup them in accordance with the requirements of IFRS for SMEs [24].
In general, in the process of transformation, you should make sure that the
amount of income shown in form No. 2 is recognized in accordance with
IFRS for SMEs. Similarly, in the presence of services provided, for which
acts were not signed as of the balance sheet date, the amount of income
from such services is recognized with the simultaneous recognition of
receivables in the balance sheet. In the process of transformation, excessive
inventory losses are excluded from the composition of work-in-progress
and included in the cost of sales. In addition, in the case of recognition of
income from the provision of services for which an act was not signed on
the balance sheet date, the cost price of these services must also be
recognized. After the transformation of all items of income and expenses,
indicators of: gross profit (loss); profit (loss) before taxation; net profit (loss).

The problem with the transformation of financial reporting is that
there are no approved uniform rules or recommendations on how to conduct
it. This is a rather individual process, which must take into account the
specifics of the activity and accounting of a particular enterprise. This is
usually done by consulting firms or qualified employees. Any developments
regarding reporting transformation methods are considered intellectual
property or commercial secrets [26]. In the scientific literature, general
algorithms and individual examples are prescribed, which are more relevant
to those entities that switch to the use of international standards due to
legislative requirements.

Transformational or adjustment tables occupy the most attention in
the process of reporting transformation. Therefore, in accordance with the
results of the analysis of the activities of LLC «WOOD-PROM» and
accounting and reporting data, a form of adjustment table was developed
for the transformation of the financial statements of a small enterprise into
reporting according to international standards, which is presented in Table.
The adjustments indicated in this table refer to the reporting as of December
31, 2019. Similar transactions according to the adjustment table are carried
out on January 1, 2019.

If during the transition to international standards after the inventory
it was found that a number of stocks are subject to depreciation due to the
unification of nomenclature groups under IFRS for SMEs, then it is
necessary to reduce their net realizable value in order to comply with the
principle of prudence. If during the assessment of the value of fixed assets
based on the involvement of special valuation experts, it is established that
the fair value of the asset differs from the balance sheet value, in this case,
for this accounting object, it is necessary to make an adjustment in the
transformation table to reflect the difference between the estimates
according to NAR(S) according to IFRS for SMEs — the so-called model of
revaluation from historical according to national standards to fair according
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to international standards, in correspondence with the account of capital
accounting in revaluations and the corresponding impact on balance sheet
indicators. LLC « WOOD-PROM» reviewed the terms of operation of non-
current assets due to changes in the terms of useful use of fixed assets under
IFRS for SMEs, therefore the amount of accumulated depreciation was
increased as a result of recalculation with the corresponding adjustment of
sales costs (objects were used in the sale of goods) and financial results.
However, there was a need to adjust administrative expenses, thus deferred
tax liabilities were not recognized.

Table

Corrective table of transformation of financial reporting of a small enterprise
into reporting according to international standards
(on the example of LLC «WOOD-PROM)»)

Amount Display of
Adjustment the adjustment amount
.. after . .
Account, Initial . in the reporting
adjustment
name amount | sum, ' | (column 2+ | form ,
thousand | debit | credit column 3) No line code
UAH B
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
103 «Buildings 1311 139 103 41 1450 1 Assets 1011
and structures» liabilities 1405
131 «Depreciation 1311 139 131 41 1450 1 Assets 1012
of fixed assets» liabilities 1405
131 «Depreciation 98 19 93 131 117 1,2 Assets 1012
of fixed assets» I Chapter 2150
201 «Raw materials 722 -14 44 20 708 1 Assets 1100
and materialsy» liabilities 1420
209 «Other 83 -30 44 20 53 1 Assets 1100
materialsy» liabilities 1420
131 «Depreciation 612 -19 131 92 593 1,2 Assets 1012
of fixed assets» I Chapter 2130
361 «Receivables» 480 37 361 702 517 1,2 Assets 1125
I Chapter 2000
Total ... X X ... 1 Assets 1300
liabilities 1900

Source: compiled on the basis of practical data of LLC «WOOD-PROM» and
processing [25; 26]

Therefore, the transformation of financial reporting into IFRS
reporting is the process of transition to accounting and financial reporting
according to international standards with the introduction of adjustments to
the current accounting policy and accounting information, regrouping of
reporting indicators that were prepared according to national standards
(in particular, for the entity small business under NAR(S) 1 or NAR(S) 25)
in accordance with the requirements of IFRS for SMEs or the full package
of IFRS on the date of such transition [26]. The proposed form of the
correction table when transforming the financial statements of a small
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enterprise into reporting according to international standards allows you to
immediately monitor those changes that were necessary during the trans-
formation, display the corresponding corrective actions, and those lines of
the reporting forms that they changed. This helps to more clearly monitor
the validity of changes and their connection with accounting accounts and
financial statement items, which ultimately facilitates the process of
transformation of financial statements and their analysis.

Conclusions. The transformation of financial reporting is a necessary
stage in the transition to international financial reporting standards. The
peculiarities of the transformation of the financial reporting of a small
business entity into reporting according to international standards are connected
with the reformatting of the accounting system, accounting policy, approaches
to the evaluation and classification of accounting objects, which were
carried out according to national standards under a simplified system, into
reporting which is made according to rules and methods laid down in
international standards. In practice, the transition from a simplified form of
reporting, which involves only two forms of reporting — a balance sheet and
a statement of financial results, the use of a simplified chart of accounts and
simplifications and relaxations for small businesses that operate in Ukraine,
to a full reporting package of five forms and accounting features of accounting,
even under IFRS for SMEzs, is a time-consuming and responsible process.

The transformation of financial reporting under IFRS includes
several stages: choosing the date of transition to IFRS (the first report under
IFRS is possible only two years after this date); approval of a new order on
accounting policy according to IFRS; carrying out an inventory on the date
of transition to IFRS; preparation of the opening balance sheet on the date
of transition to IFRS (at this stage, adjustments are made to items due to
retained earnings, which do not cause tax consequences); preparation of
comparative financial statements according to IFRS. During the reporting
transformation, the write-off of assets and liabilities that are not subject to
recognition under IFRS is reflected. And similarly, articles that are
recognized by international standards, but were not previously shown
according to national standards, must be reclassified and evaluated in accordance
with IFRS during the transformation. The method of transformation of
income and expenses, which is essentially a transformation of the report on
financial results, includes such basic procedures as: selection of the report
format (one report or two reports); analysis of the composition,
and regrouping of income and expenditure items; reflecting income and
expenses recognized as a result of balance sheet transformation.

Based on the processing of the collected practical information
and taking into account the peculiarities of accounting at small business
enterprises, a form of correction table is proposed for the transformation of
the financial statements of a small enterprise into reporting according to
international standards, which allows you to immediately monitor those
changes that were necessary during the transformation, the corresponding
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corrective actions and articles of the forms of the financial the statements
they changed. This helps to control the process of transformation of
reporting and to more clearly monitor the relationship between the
introduced changes, contributes to the disclosure of information, and
transparency of reporting.

The study showed that transformational adjustments can affect
analytical indicators, in particular, the company’s profitability, its liquidity,
and other coefficients, which are calculated on the basis of financial
statements, which can cause significant consequences when assessing the
company's financial condition and making economic decisions. We believe
that the main direction of reforming the national accounting and reporting
system, which will ensure the reliability of reported data, remains further
harmonization with international standards, and the transition to
international standards can be a significant lever for the growth of business
activity and economic stability of enterprises in Ukraine in the conditions of
European integration.
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SYSTEM OF STATE FINANCIAL
REGULATION OF HUMAN
CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT

Introduction. At this stage of social
development, the task of proper financial support
for human capital development has become
important. The success of this task directly depends
on the quality of the system of state financial
regulation of human capital development, taking
into account economic dynamics.

Problem. Accordingly, the issues of finding
alternative sources of strengthening human capital
and optimizing the structure of financial support
for its development have been intensified.

The aim of the article is revealing the basic
principles of public financial development of its
human capital and substantiation of strategic objec-
tives in the conditions of economic transformations.

Methods. The research methodically used the
system method, the method of comparative analysis,
scientific abstraction, methods of analysis and
synthesis.

Results. The role of state financial regulation
of human capital development in the conditions of
economic transformations is determined. The
peculiarities of the tools of state financial
regulation of human capital development are
revealed. An analysis and assessment of the
consolidated budget expenditures on education and
health care has been carried out. Approaches to the
use of financial and budgetary tools in the field of
education and health care have been developed.
The directions of improvement of the state financial
regulation of human capital development in the
conditions of economic transformations are
substantiated.

Conclusions. Making rational management
decisions to change the structure of public financial
resources aimed at human capital development
should be based not only on assessing trends and
dynamics of their use, but also on the degree of
their validity, given the importance of fiscal policy
adaptability to social processes.

ABTOpP He OTpMMYBaB NPAMOro GiHaHCYBaHHA ANS LbOTO AOCNIAKEHHS.
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abo nigo3py B ynepearKeHOCTi, OCTaToyHe piweHHA npo nybnikauito i€l cTaTTi (BKAOYHO 3 BMBOpOM
peueH3eHTIB Ta peAaKTopiB) NpuiiMmanoca TMUMKW YaeHammn peaKonerii, AKi He NoB’A3aHi 3 L€l yCTaHOBOO.

Beryn. Ha cywacHoMy erami CycHijbHOTO PO3BHUTKY Ba)JIMBHM
MOCTaNI0 3aBJIaHHSI HAaJEXKHOro (PiHAHCOBOTO 3a0e3MEUEHHS PO3BUTKY
moncbkoro kamitany (JIK). Ycmix BUKOHaHHS IIbOTO 3aBIaHHS O€3I0-
CepeHbO 3aJCKHUTh BI SKOCTI CHCTEMH JEp)KaBHOTO (HIHAHCOBOTO
peryiioBaHHs po3BUTKY JtoAckkoro kamitany (JAPPPJIK) 3 ypaxyBanusM
€KOHOMIYHUX TpaHcdopMalliil. 3 oIy Ha COLIaTbHO-CKOHOMIYHI YNHHUKU
Baromumu Hampsimamu cuctemu J[®OPPJIK € 3menmenns acumerpii Ta
nucOanaHciB y HOro po3BUTKY. SIKicHUHN piBeHBb (HiHAHCOBOTO 3a0e3MeUeHHs
po3BuTKy JIK € dhyHIaMeHTaIpHOI0 OCHOBOIO JAMBEpCcH(IKallii CyCIiIbEHOTO
po3Butky. IHctpymentapiii JIOPPJIK posrnsnases me y npausx Y. Ilerri,
A. Cwmita, J. Pikapmo [1].

IIpodaema. Hapa3i akTuBi3yBalKMCh MUTaHHS MOILIYKY ajbTepHa-
TUBHUX JIKEpesl 3MILHEHHS JIOACHKOTO KaliTaly, ONTUMI3alil CTPYKTypU
(diHaHCOBOTrO 3a0€3MEUYCHHS HOTO PO3BUTKY.

AHaTI3 ocTaHHIX HoCJiaKeHb 1 myOaikanii. [TutanHs gep>xaBHOTO
(iHAHCOBOTO PpETYJIOBAaHHS PO3BHUTKY JIIOACHKOIO KariTady BHBYAIOTh
JOCUTH 06araTo BITYM3HSIHUX 1 3aKOPIOHHUX yueHHX. [[puarHHO-HACTIAKOBI
3B’s3ku MK 1HCTpyMmeHTapiem JIOPPJIK Ta eKOHOMIYHOIO CTIHKICTIO
po3kpuro y mnpamsx E. E66otra, @. [I)xonca [2]. Y mocmimkerni M. bo66aa,
JI. ®na66i16a, C. JleBika, M. Texanana «Ilomyk punky mpaiii, HeopMaib-
HICTh 1 HAKOMTUYEHHS JTIOJICHKOTO KaImiTaxy Ha poO04oMy MiCIli» BU3HAYEHO,
mo JIK BrmBae Ha JOBrOCTPOKOBE 3pOCTaHHS MPOAYKTUBHOCTI Mpar,
nigumiendss  piBHs  J®OPPJIK  pgomomarae moOM’SKIIUTH — HACHIAKA
BUCHaXeHHs mnpupoanux pecypciB [3]. 1. UyrynoB i JI. Kozapesenko
3ayBaXXylOThb «IIpO HEOOXiAHICTH peanizauii (iHaHCOBOI MOJITUKK KpaiHH
B HaMpsiMi CTBOPEHHS CIIPUSATINBUX YMOB I MIABUIICHHS SKICHOTO PIBHS
moackkoro kamitany. [Ipu npomy inctpymenTapiit JJOPPJIK noBunen 6ytu
aJanTOBAHUI JI0 €K30T€HHUX Ta CHAOICHHUX €KOHOMIYHMX YHHHHKIBY [4; 5].
Boanodac Ha T moBHOMacIITaOHO1 arpecii pocii mpotu YkpaiHu 3pocia
norpeba y JnepkaBHIM (iHaHcoOBiM miaTpumil po3sutky JIK. Baromum
3aBJaHHAM Hapa3l € po3poOka HOBUX MIAXOAIB MO0 IHCTPYMEHTapito
(iHAHCOBOTO PETYJIIOBAHHS PO3BUTKY JIOJCHKOTO KamiTally, IO CIIPUITHME
cTabinmizarlii comiabHO-eKOHOMIYHUX MPOIIECIB.
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MeTo10 CTaTTI € PO3KPUTTSI OCHOBHHX 3acajl IeP’KaBHOTO (hIHAHCOBOTO
pETyJIOBaHHS PO3BHUTKY JIIOJCHKOTO KamiTtaly Ta OOIpYHTYBaHHS MOro
CTpATEriYHUX 3aB/IaHb B YMOBaX €KOHOMIYHUX TpaHCPOpMaLii.

Metoau. Y nochimKeHHI BHUKOPHCTAaHO CHCTEMHUW METOM IS
poskpurtss pom JDPPPJIK B ymoBax eKOHOMIYHHMX TpaHChOpMaIlliil.
[TopiBHSJIBHHI aHali3 3aCTOCOBAHO Y XOMA1 JOCITIKEHHS 1HCTPYMEHTapir0
J@OPPJIK. 3aBasku JIOTIYHOMY MiAXOAy Ta HAYKOBOMY aOCTparyBaHHIO
posrisinyTo cTpareriudi 3apaanHs J®PPJIK B yMoBax eKOHOMIYHHX
tpanchopmariid. Illnsxom aHamizy Ta CHHTE3y 3I1WCHEHO OIIIHKY PIBHS
¢dinancoBoro 3ade3nedeHHs po3Butky JIK.

Pe3yabTaTin pochaimxenHsi. Jljisi cycniibcTBa MOCHJICHHS (piHAH-
coBoi miarpumMku po3BUTKy JIK BUpakaeTbcs y MiABUIIEHHI PIBHS Ta SKOCTI
#uTTs. Ha choromHimHpoMy eTami CyCHUIBHOTO PO3BUTKY MOCHIMIIKCH
MPOIIECH JEMOMYJIAIil, 3yMOBJICHI 3HIKCHHSIM PIBHS HApOIKYBaHOCTI Ta
OPUCKOPEHOTO CTapiHHS HaceleHHs, 4Yepe3 OOMEXKEHICTh JepKaBHUX
(G1HaHCOBUX pecypciB 1 HEOOXIMHICTh I1XHBOI ONTHUMI3alii B yMOBax
3HIDKEHHSI €KOHOMIYHOI aKTUBHOCTI aKTyali3yBaJIMCh MUTAHHS IT1IBUILIEHHS
piBHA (¢iHaHCcOBoro 3abe3neueHHs po3BuTtky JIK. 3a BH3HaueHHAM
CBiTOBOTO 0aHKY, «Ir0OCHKUL Kanimai — 1ie 3HaHHS, HABUYKH Ta 370pOB’s,
SKI JIFOAW HAKOMHWYYIOTh TPOTATOM CBOTO KHUTTS, IO JO3BOJISIE iM
peanizyBaTH CBI MOTEHIA y TMPOIECI PO3BUTKY CYCHUIBCTBa» [6].
Bongnouac y kpaimax 3 TpaHcopMaiiifHOI EKOHOMIKOIO  1HJEKC
JIOJCBKOTO pPO3BHUTKY, peanbHuid BBII Ha nymy HaceneHHs HUXKYUN 3a
CepenHid IJis PO3BUHYTHUX KpaiH. 30Kpema B YKpaiHl 1HACKC JIFOJChKOTO
po3Butky y 2020 p. cranmoBuB 0.799, Tomi sax y kpainax €C BiH
konuBaethes Big 0.816 1o 0.955 (maban. 1) [7; 8].

BonatunpHicTh JUHAMIKM E€KOHOMIYHUX IIOKAa3HUKIB 1 pIBEHB
CYyCHITBHOTO PO3BUTKY Ha [bOMY €Tami OOyMOBIIIOIOTh BaKJIUBICTh
MIJBUIICHHS JI€BOCTI JIepKaBHOTO (DIHAHCOBOTO PETYJIOBAHHS PO3BUTKY
JIOACBKOTO KamiTaly, 3a0e3nedeHHs HaJeXHOro piBHSA (DiHaHCYBaHHS
ocBiTH Ta oxopoHH 310poB’s. Cuctema JIOPPJIK mae popmyBatn HamexHi
YMOBH JIJIsl 3a0€3MEYEeHHS JIOCTYIHOCTI SIKICHUX TMOCIYT y cdepi OCBITH
Ta OXOPOHU 3/10pOB’s. BiANOBIAHMIA CTYMIHb PO3BUTKY 1HCTUTYLIHHOI
ckinamoBoi cucremu JIOPPJIK € HeoOXimHOW MEpeayMOBOIO s
CYCILJIBHOTO TIPOTPECY.

Hapasi y kpaiHax cmocrepiraeTbCs 3pOCTaHHS auBepcudikarii
Jokepen GiHaHCYyBaHHS MPOTrpaM PO3BUTKY JIFOJCHKOTO KalliTaly, 30KpeMa y
chepax OCBITM Ta OXOPOHM 3J0POB’s, 3HAyHA YyBara HNPHUILIAETHCS
CTBOPEHHIO YMOB [UIi PO3BUTKY HAKONMUYYBAJbHOTO PIBHS MEHCIM.
dinancyBanHs nporpam po3Butky JIK mepeBakHO 3M1HCHIOETHCS KOIITOM
Jep>KaBHOTO OIOKETY Ta JCp)KaBHUX IIILOBUX (POHIB COIIATLHOTO
CTpaxyBaHHS 31 3MIHOIO CTPYKTYpH iXHbOI BUIATKOBOI YACTHHH.
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Tabnuys 1
Inpexc J10ACHKOro0 po3BUTKY Ta peaabHuii BBII
Ha 1yly HacejeHHs1 y kpaiHax €C ta B Ykpaini
Kpaita IHpexc moaChKOro pO3BUTKY Peanpuuit BBII Ha nyny HaceneHHs, €Bpo
2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020

YkpaiHa 0.751 0.750 0.799 2619 3267 3262

Boarapis 0.813 0.816 0.816 6 330 6 630 6 380

PymyHis 0.811 0.816 0.828 8700 9120 8 820
Xopsartis 0.831 0.837 0.851 12 200 12 700 11730
Yropmuna 0.838 0.845 0.854 12 690 13270 12710
CrnoBauunHa 0.855 0.857 0.860 15510 15 890 15180
[opryranis 0.847 0.850 0.864 18 190 18 670 17 070
JlatBis 0.847 0.854 0.866 12 140 12 530 12 130
[onsma 0.865 0.872 0.880 12 420 13 020 12 750
JIutBa 0.858 0.869 0.882 13 400 14 050 14 030
Kinp 0.869 0.873 0.887 24 430 25370 23 840
I'pewis 0.870 0.872 0.888 17 430 17760 16 180
EcroHis 0.871 0.882 0.892 14 970 15510 15010
Itainis 0.891 0.883 0.892 27030 27230 24 900
Mansta 0.878 0.885 0.895 22 260 22 670 20330
Yexis 0.888 0.891 0.90 17 990 18 460 17 340
Dpanis 0.901 0.891 0.901 32 820 33320 30610
Icranis 0.891 0.893 0.904 24 880 25200 22 350
JIrokcemOypr 0.904 0.909 0.916 84 040 85030 82 250
CroBeHist 0.896 0.902 0.917 20 240 20720 19 720
ABcTpist 0.908 0.914 0.922 37720 38110 35390
Benbris 0.916 0.919 0.931 35530 36 080 33870
Dinnsgnais 0.920 0.925 0.938 36 740 37150 36 240
Janis 0.929 0.930 0.940 48 450 49270 48 150
Hinepnanam 0.931 0.933 0.944 41 450 41 980 40 160
IBewnis 0.933 0.937 0.945 43 760 44 180 42910
Himeyunna 0.936 0.939 0.947 35 690 35980 34310
Ipmannis 0.938 0.842 0.955 58 100 60 130 62 980

IDicepeno: ckiaanaeHo aBTopoM 3a [7; 8.

BopaHouac pearyBaHHSl Ha €K30T€HHI Ta €HIOT€HH1 BUKIIMKU y KpaiHax
3 TpaHchOopMaIliifHOI0 EKOHOMIKOIO MOTPeOy€e MOJATKOBUX JIEpKaBHUX (hiHAH-
COBHX PECYpCIB, €PEKTUBHIIIOTO YIPABIIHHS CUCTEMOIO JIEpKaBHUX (DIHAHCIB,
peamizaiii BUBaXEHOI (PIHAHCOBO-OO/DKETHOI TOMITHKU  Ta IMiABUIIICHHS
e(EeKTUBHOCTI BUJATKIB Ha OCBITY Ta OXOPOHY 3/I0pOB’s. Y KpaiHax 3 TpaHc-
(hopMariifHOI0 eKOHOMIKOO BiJICYTHS ITUTICHA CUCTEMa, HEJOCTATHS IHCTUTYITIHA
mi3BiTHICTE JIOPPJIK, a Takok HEHAIEKHUH SAKICHUN PIBEHBb 00 KETHOTO
IUTAaHYBAaHHSI BUJATKIB HA OCBITY Ta OXOPOHY 3I0POB’S, IO 3YMOBIIIO€
Hee()EeKTUBHICTh IXHBOT'O BUKOpUCTaHHs. J[o TOro x 3a0e3neueHHs HaJaHHs
AKICHOI OCBITH, TIOCIYT Yy cepl OXOPOHH 3J0pPOB’Sl MOTpeOye HAIECKHOTO
piBHS Aep>KaBHOTO (hiHAHCYBaHHS.

B Vkpaini cepeanss dacTka BHUJATKIB 3BEJCHOTO OIOJDKETY Ha
ocity y BBII 3a 2005-2021 pp. cranomna 6.35 %, 30kpema 3a 2005—
2009 pp. — 6.43 %, 20102014 pp. — 6.97 %, 2015-2019 pp. — 5.81 %,

oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo
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2020-2021 pp. — 5.86 %; yacTka BUAATKIB 3BEJCHOTO OHOKETY HA OXOPOHY
3nopoB’st 'y BBII 3a 2005-2021 pp. O6yna nHa piBHi 3.69 % (3a 2005-
2009 pp. — 3.68 %, 20102014 pp. — 3.98 %, 20152019 pp. — 3.34 %,
2020-2021 pp. — 3.95 %) (maban. 2) [7].

Tabnuys 2
YacTka BuaaTkiB 3Beenoro 0omxery Ykpainu y BBII, %
CrarTs BUIATKIB
Pix OXOpOHa | JIyXOBHMii Ta ocpira | ComiambHmii 3axMCT T2 Yeboro
3M0pOB’sl | (hi3MYHHI PO3BUTOK comianbHe 3a0e3MeYeHHs
2005 3.51 0.77 6.07 9.08 31.04
2006 3.62 0.79 6.21 7.63 31.06
2007 3.7 0.79 6.16 6.74 30.31
2008 3.54 0.83 6.42 7.84 31.49
2009 4.01 0.91 7.31 8.64 32.76
2010 4.13 1.06 7.37 9.67 33.84
2011 3.76 0.83 6.63 8.11 31.25
2012 4.15 0.96 7.20 8.88 34.01
2013 423 0.94 7.25 9.98 33.26
2014 3.65 0.89 6.39 8.81 33.28
2015 3.59 0.82 5.77 8.91 3434
2016 3.17 0.71 5.43 10.8 35.12
2017 3.43 0.81 5.96 9.58 35.53
2018 3.26 0.81 5.90 8.69 35.17
2019 3.23 0.79 6.01 8.10 34.63
2020 4.16 0.75 5.98 8.21 37.92
2021 3.73 0.79 5.73 6.73 33.87
2022%* 5.35 0.90 8.15 12.55 52.18

* Jlani HaBeneHo 3a | kBapTan

IDicepeno: cknaneno 3a [7].

Sk BUAHO 3 maba. 2, MPOTATOM MAOCIIKYBAHOTO TMEPIOay CIiB-
BIJIHOIIIEHHS BUAATKIB 3BEJCHOTO OIOKETY Ha OCBITY Ta OXOPOHY 370pPOB’ S
no BBII € HeogropigauM. Baroma yactka BUJATKIB Ha OCBITY Ta OXOPOHY
3nopoB’st 'y BBII 3a I kBaptan 2022 p. 3yMOBJI€Ha PI3KUM MaJiHHSIM
€KOHOMIKH YKpaiHH, a He 301IbIICHHSM PiBHS BHIATKIB.

OTxe, Monpu BIUIMB HETaTUBHUX (DaKTOPIB HA CUCTEMY JI€pPKaBHUX
¢iHaHCIB, (piHAHCYBAaHHIO OCBITH Ta OXOPOHU 3J0POB’SI IPOTATOM OCTAHHIX
POKIB MpUIUISIIACh JOCUTh BaKiauBa yBara. lIpore 1l moka3sHuKH Hapasi
HE BIANOBIAAIOTh €BPONEUCHKOMY PIBHIO Ta BCTAHOBJIEHUM CTaHAAPTaM.
30KpeMa 4YacTKa BHJATKIB 3BeAeHOro Oro/pkery Ha ocBiTy y BBII me
HE JIOCATHYJIa TOKa3HWKa y 7 %, sKuid BU3HAYeHHM y 3akoHl YKpaiHu
«IIpo ocBiTy».
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3rigHo 3 3akoHoM «IIpo [epxkaBuuii OromkeT Ykpainu Ha 2022 pik»
nependadeno 192.5 Mipy rpH BUAATKIB HA OXOPOHY 310poB’st Ta 153.7 mipa rpH
BUJIATKIB Ha OCBITY [9]. BogHOUac BUKIIMKHM BOEHHOTO CTaHYy KapJAMHAIBHO
BIUIMHYJIM Ha CTIMKICTh CHUCTEMHM JEp>KaBHUX (PIHAHCIB, 3MIHY 00CSTy Ta
CTPYKTYpU BHJATKOBOI 4YacTHHH Oromkery. [loripmunucs MOXJITHMBOCTI
30UIBIIMTH YU TPUHAWMHI TIATPUMATH TMOTOYHUN PIBEHb JEPIKABHOTO
¢inancyBanus po3Butky JIK.

VY xBitHI 2022 p. npuiiasaTo I[loctanoBy KaGinery MinicTpiB Ykpainu
«Jleski THUTaHHS BUKOPUCTAHHS KOIITIB 3 paxyHKa HaJisl 3aJ0BOJICHHS
notped oxopoHM 310poB’sk». BiamosigHo mo miei [locTaHOBHM BHU3HAYEHO:
«KOIITH TIEPIIOYEPrOBO CHPSIMOBYIOTHCSI HA MEIWYHE 3a0e3MeueHHs s
perioHiB, ¢ BeAyThCcs OOMOBI 1i1i, Ta 3aKiIaaiB OXOPOHH 3IO0POB’s, IO
3a]lydeHl 10 HaJaHHS MEIUYHOI JOMOMOTH MOCTPAXKIAIUM Ta MOPaHEHUM
BHACJIIJJOK OOMOBHX Jiif, BITHOBIECHHS POOOTH JEP>KaBHUX 1 KOMyHaJIbHHX
3aKJIaiB OXOPOHH 3J0POB’S, IO MOCTPAXAAJIM BHACIIIOK OOMOBHUX il
oJiep)KyBauaMy KOIITIB, 30KpeMa € BIWCHKOBI ajMiHICTpaIlii, BUKOHABY1
OpraHu CIIbCHKUX, CEIMIHUX, MICbKUX, PAHOHHUX Y MiCTax paj, Iep>kKaBHI
Ta KOMyHaJIbHI 3aKJ1ay OXOPOHH 370pPOB’S; PO3MOALT KOIUTIB 3A1MCHIOETHCS
KoMiciero, yTBoperoro MO3» [10].

3rigHo 3 IlocranoBoro KabGinery MinictpiB Ykpainu Big 01 kBiTHA
2022 p. Ne 401 «IIpo cripsiMyBaHHS KOIITIB 10 PE3€pBHOTO (POHIY Iep>KaBHOTO
Oro/pKeTy» mependadeHo 3HMKEHHS piBHA (piHaHCYyBaHHs: MiHICTEpCTBa
OCBITH 1 Hayku YKpainu — 3.9 muipj rpH; MiHICTepCcTBa OXOPOHU 37I0POB’ ST
VYkpainu — 588.7 mute rpH (maba. 3) [11].

Tabnuys 3

CexkBecTp BHAATKIB 3arajbHOro ¢pouay /lep;xaBHoro 6101:xety YKpainu
Ha 2022 p. no crartax MOH Ykpaian Ta MO3 Ykpainu

Crarts Bugatkis® OG6csr 3MeHIIeHHS,

MJIH IpH
MinicTepcTBO OCBiTH | HAYKH YKpainu 3916.4

3nificHeHHs] 30BHILNIHBOTO OLIHIOBaHHS Ta MOHITOPHHI SIKOCTI OCBITH

VYKpaiHCBKMM  IIGHTPOM  OLIHIOBaHHS SIKOCTI OCBITH Ta  ioro 207.9

pETiOHATHPHUMH ITiIPO3IiIaMHI

[TigroroBka xaapiB 3aKnagamu (HaxoBoi MepeaBHUINOi OCBITH 503.7

Bumrara akageMidyHUX CTHUTICHIIN CTymeHTaM (KypcaHTaM), acIlipaHTam, 5145

JTOKTOpaHTaM 3aKiaaiB (paxoBoi mepeaBUIoi Ta BUIOi OCBITH ’

[MimroToBka KampiB 3aKiazaMi BHIIOI OCBITH Ta 3a0e3MeYeHHS MisUTBHOCTI 21072

iXHix 0a3 MPaKTUKH
3a IHIIMMHM KOJAMH TpOrpaMHoi Kinacugikaiil BUIATKIB Ta KPEIUTYBaHHS
JHepxasnoro 6romxery: 2201010, 2201020, 2201030, 2201040, 2201070,
2201080, 2201100, 2201120, 2201130, 2201170, 2201250, 2201260, 583.1
2201280, 2201300, 2201310, 2201380, 2201390, 2201410, 2203010,
2203020, 2207010
MinicTepcTBO OCBiTH | HAYKH YKpaiHu

(3araJibHOJEpPKABHI BUIATKH Ta KPeAUTYBAHHs)
OcsitHs cyOBeHLis 3 [lepkaBHOTO OFOJDKETY MICIIEBUM OroJKEeTaM 10 804.4
CyOBeHitis 3 Jlep)kaBHOTO OFOHKETY MICIICBHM OFO/KETaM Ha HaJaHHS 504
JIEPKABHOI MIITPUMKH 0c00aM 3 OCOOJIMBUMH OCBITHIMH MOTpeOaMu )

10 854.8
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3axinuenns mabauyi 3

OO0CsT 3MEHIIIEHHS,

Crarts BUnarkis*
MJIH TPH

MinicTepcTBO 0XOPOHH 310pPOB’Sl YKpaiHn 588.7

[MigroroBka i nizBuIeHHs KBaidikawii kaapiB y cdepi 0XOpoHH 310pOB’s,
ITrOTOBKA HAYKOBHUX 1 HAYKOBO-TIEIArOriuHMX KaIpiB 3aKiaaamu (haxoBol 209.6
TIepeIBUILOI Ta BUILOI OCBITH

CrBopenns Oiokinactepy «biosoriuna 6e3reka Ta po3BUTOK 010TEXHOIOTTIHIX
TEXHOJIOTI»

3a IHIIMMH KOJIaMH ITPOrPaMHOI Kiacu(ikallii BUIATKIB Ta KPEIUTYBaHHS
JepxaBHoro oromkery: 2301010, 2301020, 2301090, 2301160, 2301410, 129.1
2307010, 2308010

250.0

* HalimeHyBaHHS 3TiIHO 3 BiJIOMYOIO Ta MPOTPaMHOI0 KiIacHU(iKalisiMi BUAATKIB
1 kpenutyBaHHs JlepxkaBHOTO OIOKETY

IDicepeno: cknaneno aBropom 3a [11].

Hapa3zi y cdepi oxopoHu 310pOB’st TPOBOASATHCS BC1 MOKITUBI 3aXO0IH
3 METOI 3a0e3rnedyeHHs Oe3mnepediftHoro (piHaHCYBaHHS MEAMYHUX 3aKIIaIIB.
3a [ xBaptan 2022 p. na 100 % npodinaHncoBaHi BUIATKU: 32 MPOrPaMoI0
MEIMYHHUX TapaHTId Ha OIaTy MEIWYHUX Mociayr — 36.8 Mipx rpH; Ha
3apo0iTHY TUIATy MPAIIBHUKIB 3arajiIbHOJCPKABHUX 3aKIIaJiB OXOPOHU
310pOB’st — 2.3 MIIpJ TpH; CYOBEHIIT Ha 3A1MCHEHHS MATPUMKHA OKPEMHX
3aKJIaJIiB 1 3aX0/IIB Y CUCTEM1 OXOPOHU 370pOB’° st — 915.4 MIIH rpH.

Boanouac mnpoGnema paepxaBHOro (iHaHCyBaHHA po3BUTKY JIK
MOJIATAE HE JIMIIE Y CIIPOMOYKHOCTI OpraHiB Jep;KaBHOI BIIaAu MOOLII3yBaTh
pecypcH, a ¥ y MIABUIIEHHI SIKOCTI BIAMOBITHUX (DIHAHCOBO-OIOIKETHUX
IHCTPYMEHTIB. Ba)XJIMBUM 3aBHaHHSAM 3aJIUIIAETHCS MMIBUIICHHS €(PEKTUBHOCTI
BUKOPUCTAHHS JEpXKaBHUX (DIHAHCOBHX PECYpCiB, CIPSIMOBAHUX Ha PO3BHTOK
JIIOJICBKOTO KariTamy.

Cucrema JI®OPPJIK mae Ga3yBaTHCh Ha NPUHIUIAX CHUCTEMHOCTI,
e(eKTUBHOCTI Ta Pe3yJbTaTUBHOCTI 3 ypaxyBaHHSIM BIUIUBY €K30T€HHUX Ta
eHJ0reHHUX (aKTOpiB Ha CHCTEMY JepKaBHUX (iHaHCIB. BaxnuBum €
3abe3mneueHHs agantuBHocTI cuctemu JIOPPJIK no cycniibHO-TOMITHYHUX
1 CoIllaJIbHO-€KOHOMIUHUX MPOIECiB. 3a OIIIHKH JIE€BOCTI ITi€l CHCTEMH,
30KpeMa B YAaCTHHI BHJIATKIB Ha OCBITY Ta OXOPOHY 3/10pOB’sl, BATOMY yBary
JOLIJIBHO TPUIUISATH  3ICTABJICHHIO IJJAHOBAHOIO Ta  JOCATHYTOIO
COLIIAJIBHOTO €EKTY.

3 meroro migBuieHHs epektuBHOCTI cuctemu JJOPPJIK BaxkmuBoro
€ CHUHEeprisi MK 1i IHCTUTYIINHUMU KOMIIOHEHTAMH, MIiJABUIICHHS PIBHS
KOOpJWHAIT MIX OpraHaMH Jep>KaBHOTO YMpaBIiHHA, ACPKAaBHUM Ta
HEJIEpKaHUM CeKTopamMu eKOHOMiKU. CTpaTeriyHUMU 3aBIaHHAMU (HiHAHCOBO-
OIOJKETHO1 MOJITUKH € TiABUILEHHS PIBHA Pe3yJbTaTUBHOCTI BHJIATKIB Ha
OCBITY Ta OXOPOHY 3JI0POB’Sl B KOHTEKCTI MOCHUJICHHS JCIICHTpali3aIliiHUX
MPOLIECIB.

BucHoBku. PiBenp (iHAHCOBOI MIATPUMKH PO3BUTKY JIOACHKOTO
KaliTajgy € BaXIMBUM I1HCTPYMEHTOM BIUIMBY Ha COLIaJIbHO-€KOHOMIYHI
Mporecu SK B KpaiHaX 3 PO3BHHYTOK EKOHOMIKOIO, TaK 1 B KpaiHax
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3 TpaHcopMarliiiHol0 eKoHOMiKol. Ha choromni y KkpaiHax 3pocrae
nuBepcudikaiis mpxepen ¢iHancyBaHHs mporpam po3ButTky JIK. Baromum
3aBIaHHSAM € 3MiHa apXITEeKTOHIKM JEP)KaBHUX BUTPAT Ta iX ONTHMi3allis.
JIoUUIbHUM € TiABUIIEHHS €(PEKTUBHOCTI BUKOPUCTAHHS JIepyKaBHUX (DiHaH-
COBHX PECYpCiB, CIIPSIMOBAHUX HA PO3BUTOK JIFOJICHKOTO KamiTally, 30KpemMa
B YaCTHHI BUJIATKIB HA OCBITY Ta OXOPOHY 3A0poB’si. [IpuiHSATTS pariioHaIbHUX
YIPaABIIHCHKUX PIIICHb MO0 3MIHU CTPYKTYypU OEpKaBHUX (PiHAHCOBUX
pecypciB, cupsiMmoBaHuXx Ha po3BuTok JIK, mae Ga3zyBaTuch He nuiie Ha
OLIIHLI TEHAEHLINH Ta OUHAMIKM IX BHUKOPHCTaHHS, a W 3a CTyNEHeM iX
OOTPYHTOBAaHOCTI, BPaxOBYIOUM BaXKIHMBICTh 3a0€3MEUYCHHS aJalTUBHOCTI
($1HaHCOBO-0F0IKETHOI MOTITUKH JI0 CYyCHUTFHUX MPOILIECIB.
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Problem. Banks strive to function in the format
of financial assistants available 24 hours a day.
Therefore, virtual banks or neobanks which carry out
their activities exclusively through remote sales
channels with the help of Internet banking tools and
mobile applications are actively developing.

The aim of the article is to study foreign trends
in the development of neobanks and prospects for the
development of neobanking in Ukraine.

Methods. The methods of theoretical genera-
lization, analysis and synthesis, grouping, and
systematic approach were used in the research
process.
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IHUPPOBI3ALIA BAHKIBCbKHUX
ITPOLECIB TA OIIEPALIIN

Bcemyn. Yepes momanvhy yugposizayiio 6an-
KIBCbKUX npoyecié ma onepayiti 3aKOpOOHHI ma
GIMUUSHAHI OAHKU AKIMUSHO MPAHCHOPMYIOMb CE0I0
OisbHicmb 3 mpaduyitinoco gopmamy o6ciyzo-
8Y8aHHA KNIEHMIB V 8i00iNeHHAX DAHKIE HA OUCTAH-
YitiHUtl (hOpMAam HAOAHHSA NOCTLY2 Y PEXHCUMI OHNALIH.

Ilpoobnema. banku npaznyme gynxyionysamu
v gopmami ¢hinancosux nomiuHuKis, ki 00CMYnHi
Yino0oboso. Biomax axmueHozo po3sumky Habysaons
BIpMyanvhi 6anKu abo Heobauku, wo 30IUCHIOIOMb
CB0I0  OISIbHICMb  GUKTIIOYUHO uepe3 OUCMAHYIUHL
Kananu 30ymy 3a608Ku iHCMpPYMenmam iHmepHem-
b6aHKiney ma MobinbHUM 000aAMKAM.

Memoro cmammi € OocniddxcenHa 3aKopoo-
HHUX MeHOeHYIll PO36UMKY HeoDAHKI8 I nepcnekmus
PO36UMKY HeobaHKIHeY 8 YKpaiHi.

Memoou. Y npoyeci docniodicents BUKOPUCIAHO
Memoou meopemuiHo20 y3a2aibHen s, anaizy ma
cunmesy, epynyeamHsl, CuCmemMHuti nioxio.
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Results. The key trends in the development of
neobanks in Ukraine and the world have been
studied. The foreign experience of the licensing
mechanism of neobanks is considered. The dynamics
of the number of neobanks in the world and their
geographical affiliation are analyzed. The global
trend of growth in the number of clients-users of
neobanks is indicated. The peculiarities of the
activity of domestic neobanks have been studied. The
general problems and prospects for the development
of neobanks in Ukraine have been identified.

Conclusions. Neobanking in the world is in
great demand by consumers of financial services and
is interesting for investors, so the number of
neobanks and their users in the world is growing at a
high rate. The domestic banking sector is gradually
introducing and implementing innovations in accor-
dance with global trends in the development of banking
services. Domestic neobanking gained a particularly
noticeable development during the coronavirus
pandemic and in the conditions of martial law. Due
to the lack of a legislative initiative regarding the
licensing and regulation of the activity of neobanks
in Ukraine, their potential development is restrained.
Currently, the development of domestic neobanks
directly depends on state support for their activities,
internal regulatory policy and competitive environment.

Keywords: neobanks, digitalization, digital
economy.

JEL Classification: G21, G20, 016, F29.

Pesynomamu. [locniosceno kmouogi menoeHyii
po3eumky neobauxie 6 Ykpaini ma ceimi. Posens-
HYMO 3aKOPOOHHULL 00CBI0 MeXaHi3MY NiYeH3VEAHHS
Heobankig. Ilpoananizosano OuHamiKy KiibKocmi
Heobauxie y ceimi ma ixuwo zeocpaghiuny npuma-
JedicHicmy. 3a3HaveHo ceimosy meHOCHYilo 3p0CaHHs.
KLIbKOCHE KIIEHMIG-KOPUCMY8aie HeoOankis. Busuerno
0cobIU80CMI OIAILHOCMI GIMUUZHAHUX HEOOAHKIS.
Busnaueno 3acanvui npobnemu ma hepcneKmusu
po36umKy HeobaHKie 6 YkpaiHi.

Bucnoexu. Heobankine y ceimi xopucmyemucs
3HAYHUM NONUMOM CHOJICUBAYIS DIHAHCOBUX NOCTY2
ma € yikagum Ons iHEecmopis, Gi0mMax KilbKicmb
HeobOauKie ma ix Kopucmyeauig y ceimi 3pocmac
sucokumu memnamu. Bimuusnuanuii 6anxiscokuil
CeKmop NOCMYno6o 6NPOSAONHCYE MA  Peanizye
iHHOBAYIT GIONOBIOHO 00 CEIMOBUX MPEHOI8 PO3-
sumky 0OaHkiecbko2o obcryzo8ysantsa. Ocobnugo
BIOUYMHO20 PO3GUMKY GIMUUSHAHUL HEODAHKIHe
HabOye nio yac nanoemii KOPOHAGIPYCy ma 6 yMo8ax
80€HH020 cmaHy. Yepes gi0cymHicmb 3aKOHO0A840T
iHiyiamueu w000 NiYeH3Y8aHHs ma pecyltO68aHHs
OisnbHocmi  Heobankie 6 Yxpaini cmpumye ix
nomenyitnuti pozsumox. Hapazi pozsumox gimuu3z-
HSHUX HEOOAHKIE HANPMY 3ANENCUMb 610 OEPIHCAGHOT
niompuMKy ix OIILHOCI, 6HYMPIWIHBLOT Pe2yIAMOPHOL
NONIMUKYU Ma KOHKYPEHMHO20 cepeoosuiyd.

Kniwuoei cnoea: HeobaHku, w1udpoBi-
3allis, TUHKATATI3AI, H(poBa eKOHOMIKA.
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Introduction. The current global trend in banking activities is
application of IT and digitalization of banking processes and operations.
Foreign and domestic banks have transformed their activities from the
traditional format of customer service in bank branches to the remote
format providing online services in recent years. Banks strive to function in
the format of financial assistants available 24 hours a day. Therefore, virtual
banks or neobanks that carry out their activities exclusively through the
remote sales channels with the help of Internet banking tools and mobile
applications are developing actively now.

Analysis of recent research and publications. The scientific works
devoted to the research of the development of neobanks in Ukraine and the
world were completed by a number of domestic and international scientists.
In particular, the team of scientists M. Guba, A. Linnyk, D. Kolesnyk
researched the essence and specifics of neobanks as the newest financial
institutions of the modern IT generation, provided a description of the main
global trends in their development [1]; scientists S. Teslyuk, N. Matviychuk,
O. Derkach, N. Korkh considered theoretical approaches to defining the
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essence of neobanks, characterized the mechanism of legislative regulation
of their activity in Ukraine, and also summarized the peculiarities of the
activities and development trends of the largest European neobanks and
carried out an analysis of the influence of modern trends in the banking
sector on the reduction of structural divisions of traditional banks, and the
readiness of the population for a new type of banking service — the service
in neobanks [2]; scientists O. Irshak, O. Tvorydlo revealed the issue of the
formation of domestic virtual banks, as the modern banking, which
functions on the basis of a license obtained from the parent bank,
which provides an updated list of traditional banking services in real time
through information and communication technologies [3]. Although a large
number of scientific works have been devoted to this topic, today the issues
of peculiarities of activity and prospects for the further development
of neobanks in Ukraine remain extremely relevant, which determines the
high level of relevance of the researched topic.

The aim of the article is to study foreign trends in the development
of neobanks and prospects for the development of neobanking in Ukraine.

The tasks of the article are: to research the main trends in the
development of neobanks in Ukraine and in the world; to study the foreign
experience of the licensing mechanism of neobanks; to identify the
problems of domestic neobanks activity; to determine the prospects for
the development of domestic neobanks in the future.

Methods. The following scientific methods were used in the
research process: theoretical generalization, analysis and synthesis,
grouping, system approach. The information and analytical base of the
research includes materials of scientific articles, etc.

Results. A key trend in the development of the economy of many
countries is the digitalization of the economy with the help of modern
information technologies. The global trend of digitalization has led to the
rapid development of digitalization of financial services in recent years.
Thus, banks as the main providers of financial services cease to be just only
banks in the traditional sense, transform and go beyond the boundaries of
the financial industry. The emergence of innovative digital banks, which are
virtual banks or neobanks, was due to the need for remote provision of
financial services and the implementation of related banking processes that
accompany any banking operations. The activities of virtual banks or
neobanks are based on the principles of convenience for their customers and
constant access to accounts without any restrictions. After all, neobanks
carry out their activities through remote sales channels using Internet
banking tools and mobile applications.

The foreign experience of the development of neobanking, unlike the
domestic one, is more rapid. Neobanks appeared in the UK in 2016,
although technically neobanks started their activities back in 2010.
Neobanks began to gain popularity in 2017, when the German bank Ne 26
and the British Revolut first appeared on the EU market. Ukraine is just
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beginning its path to the development of neobanks. Considering that
domestic legislation does not yet regulate the activities of such institutions,
this topic is particularly relevant in the modern conditions of development
and functioning of the banking market. It is obvious that the development of
neobanks requires regulatory and legal support from the state, a clearly
developed legal framework, broad economic and technological development,
as well as stable trust of all groups of consumers.

The term «neobank» means a modernized bank that operates without
physical branches and provides banking services to clients online using
electronic communication channels. The idea of creating and organizing
neobanking was precisely to satisfy the need of corporate clients to access
their own accounts and carry out financial transactions without leaving the office.

Since the development of neobanks opens up great investment
opportunities, demand and interest in neobanks from consumers and
investors is growing rapidly. The start of neobanks activity is associated
with certain bureaucratic procedures, in particular with obtaining a license
to carry out banking activities. There are several types of banking licenses
for the opening and operation of neobanks in foreign practice:

Full banking license. A full banking license allows financial
institutions to provide all types of banking services, which include tradi-
tional customer deposits and lending services. Such license is issued by the
authorized supervisory and regulatory bodies of the countries. Depending
on the geographical location of neobank incorporation, these authorities can
be national banking regulators like Hong Kong Monetary Authority
(HKMA), and supranational regulators, for instance, the Federal Reserve
(the Fed) in the US or European Central Bank (ECB) in Europe [4].

License on financial technologies. The number of fintech companies
has grown significantly in recent years, prompting governments in various
countries to issue fintech licenses (or virtual or digital banking licenses).
This is a light version of a full banking license that allows institutions to
provide financial services, but at a lower regulatory and compliance
threshold.

E-money license. The European e-money license is also called EMI,
electronic money institution or sometimes the ‘e-wallet’ license. It can
provide payment services such as transfers and card transactions, create
digital account or digital wallet for the customers, who can hold funds in
that accounts. Such license enables to provide the same banking payment
services as a full banking license. But, there are some limitations to
e-money license. Firstly, this license does not allow to provide crediting,
which is often an important part of banks profit. Secondly, an EMI should
use a partner bank for holding customer funds. Thirdly, an e-money license
can have limitations about the maximum amount of money in the customers
e-wallets and also transaction limits, depending on the level of due
diligence/KYC conducted on the client. However, an EMI license can be
cost-effective option for a new virtual bank. The regulatory license
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application process can be long and it usually takes for 6—12 months.
The fees for the license application range from € 75 000—150 000, and the
average total cost to set up the neobank varying from € 1-2 million [5].

A payment service provider agent model helps financial startups and
institutions to start neobank, they do not have to request for a banking
license and wait for it for 15 months Instead, fintech companies can operate
under the payment service provider agent model. Such agents, which
approved by National Competent Authorities (NCAs), can offer digital
payment services under their own responsibility. In this way it is faster and
easier to start a virtual bank, avoiding the complicated and time-consuming
process of issuing a license. [4].

Researching the domestic experience of the development of
neobanks in the aspect of their creation and licensing, it should be noted
that Ukrainian neobanks have the opportunity to work exclusively on the
basis of existing licenses of traditional banks, which is due to the absence of
legal acts regulating the licensing of neobanks in Ukraine.

It is worth noting that neobanks are becoming more and more
popular every year (Figures 1, 2). Until 2021, the number of neobanks was
constantly growing.

Researching the global trend of the development of neobanks shows
that on July 1, 2022, there are 250 neobanks in the world, 8 of which were
created in 2022 (Figure I). The countries with the most developed
neobanking market are the USA, Great Britain, South Korea, France,
Brazil, and Germany. Regionally, the largest number of neobanks is in
Europe — 77 units, which is 31 % of the total number of neobanks, and the
smallest — in Africa and the Middle East, where there are only 13 of them
(approximately 5 % of the total number of neobanks) (Figure 2).
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Figure 1. The total number of neobanks
and the number of newly created neobanks per 2010-2022

Source: developed by the authors based on [6, 7].
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Figure 2. Distribution of the number of neobanks
by regions on July 1, 2022, %

Source: developed by the authors based on [6, 7].

As we can see, the European neobanking market is the largest in

terms of the number of neobanks (77 units). In our opinion,

this can be

explained by the favorable influence of certain factors on the development
of the financial and technological industry, in particular, the widespread use
of FinTech by residents of European countries. Figure 3 shows the number

of neobanks in European countries.
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Figure 3. Number of neobanks in European countries on July 1, 2022

Source: developed by the authors based on [6].
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From the data in Figure 3, it can be seen that among European
countries, the leaders in the number of neobanks are the United Kingdom
and France. The third place in terms of the number of neobanks among
European countries is occupied by Germany.

According to Grand View Research, the volume of the global
neobanking services market is expected to grow from USD 47.1 billion in
2021 to USD 722.6 billion by 2028, growing at compound annual growth
rate (CAGR) of 47.7 % during the forecasted period [8]. This surge is
driven by several factors, including increased consumer use of mobile apps
and FinTech tools, lower interest rates and more favourable regulatory
requirements. In addition, an important factor influencing the development
of neobanks is the time saving and cost reduction of consumers of financial
services, as they do not need to visit banks personally to carry out various
financial transactions, thus saving time on the road to the bank and reducing
the consumers costs.

Therefore, the global development of neobanks is also due to the
growing trend of increasing demand from consumers — clients of neobanks.
We consider the dynamics of the client base of neobanks on the Figure 4.

120

* 2023 2024

2
|-
[ S T i

2018 2019 2020 2021 0

Figure 4. The number of neobanks users
in the world for 2018-2024, million people.

* forecast indicators

Source: developed by the authors based on [9].

As we can see from the data in Figure 4, every year the number of
clients-users of neobanks continues to increase.

The activity of neobanks in different countries of the world has its
own characteristics and largely depends on the specifics of legislation, the
level of technological development of the country, the system for protecting
the rights of consumers of financial services, the interaction of banks and
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technological companies, traditions and customs that have formed in the
financial market of a particular country.

Thanks to the active development of neobanks in the world, in
Ukraine the format of the activities of neobanks is gradually being
implemented into the domestic banking system, and it is currently
developing quite dynamically. The creation of neobanks in Ukraine began
in 2017, Monobank became the first domestic neobank, and today there are
already 6 Ukrainian neobanks. We consider the characteristics of neobanks
in Ukraine in Table.

Table
Characteristics of the Ukrainian neobanks on July 1, 2022
Number of
Name NBU License .- the clients Year of Customer
of the bank (Ne, dated) Profit, UAH million by year, launch segment
million people
Works on the 2019 — UAH 533 million | 2018-0.4
banking license of 2020 — UAH 685.7 million 2019 -1.7 Individuals,
Monobank [JSC «Universal 2021 — UAH 3.07 billion 2020 -3.1 2017 |Individual
Bank» forecast value for 2022 — 2021 -4 entrepreneurs
(Me 92, 10.10.2011) |USD 8.6 million 2022 -5
Works on banking
license of 2 banks: | At the beginning of 2022
JSC «Taskombanky [losses are being 2020-0.1
Sportbank [(Ne 84, 10.25.2011) |monitored, but it is 2021 -0.24 2019
And JSC «Oxy planned to overcome 2022 -0.3
Bank» (M 247, losses within the year
15.11.2011)
Works on banking Individuals
license of JSC «Idea |At the beginning of 2022 2020-0.014
O Bank Bank» unprofitability is observed | 2021 —0.110 2020
(Ne 96, 04.11.2011)
Works on the
. banking license of | At the beginning of 2022
lzibank | 15 Taskombank» |the profitis USD 4.4 million | 2021~ 0-1 2021
(MNe 84, 10.25.2011)
Works on the Individuals
banking license of and legal
NEOBANK 2021 |entities,
JSC «Concord» individual
(e 230, 07.08.2006) Data is not available entrepreneurs
Bank Own Works on the JSC of
Account PJSC «Bank Vostok» 2021 Individuals
(Ne 204 18.10.2011)

Source: developed by the authors based on [10-15].

As we mentioned above, the first domestic neobank was Monobank.
This bank was founded in 2017, using a license from JSC «Universal
Bank», became the leading domestic neobanking, having no bank branches.
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Monobank provides all services using a mobile application. Communication
with clients is carried out using instant messaging applications Viber,
Messenger, Telegram. The client base of this bank in 2018 numbered
40 0000 clients, and at the beginning of 2022 — already 5 million users.
Monobank clients can be individuals and individuals-entrepreneurs.
According to forecasts, the bank’s profit by the end of 2022 will reach
USD 8.6 million.

In 2019, 2 neobanks started activity in Ukraine: Sportbank under the
license of PJSC «Oxy Bank» and JSC «Taskombank», and TodoBank under
the license of JSC «Megabanky, but the latter ceased its activities in June 2022,
due to the recognition of JSC «Megabank» as insolvent bank. The interface of
the Sportbank mobile application is quite similar to Monobank, but it is not
as successful. At the end of 2020, Sportbank’s customer base numbered
100 000 customers, it had grown to 240 000 users in 2021, and at the
beginning of 2022 reached 300 000 users. At the beginning of 2022,
Sportbank’s activity was unprofitable, but it is planned to overcome losses
during the year, although it will obviously be quite difficult to achieve this,
especially in the conditions of martial law.

In 2020, the fourth neobank started operating in Ukraine — O.Bank
under the license of JSC «Idea Bank». O.Bank offered the newest card
overdraft service with a grace period of up to 120 days. As a result, in the
first half of 2020, O.Bank was able to attract 14,000 customers, and by
the end of 2021, it had more than 110 000 users. As of the beginning of
2022 the bank’s activity was unprofitable.

In 2021, three more neobanks started operating in Ukraine:
NEOBANK under the license of PJISC AKB Concord, Izibank under the
license of JSC TASKOMBANK, and Bank Own Account under the license
of PJSC Bank VOSTOK. Banks are focused on serving individuals, with
the exception of NEOBANK, which was the first among domestic neobanks
to start serving legal entities. Currently only NEOBANK and Monobank
offer cooperation for individual entrepreneurs.

In general, all domestic neobanks offer traditional banking services,
mainly in the retail sector. However, being aware of the tough competition
from traditional banks, neobanks are looking for specific niches for
themselves for the provision of banking services: Monobank is engaged in
brokerage, Sportbank works with physically active people, NEOBANK
positions itself as a bank for business and services for individual
entrepreneurs, Bank Own Account serves customers of the Fozzy group’s
retail network, etc. Taking this into account, it can be noted that the activity
of neobanks in Ukraine corresponds to the global trend of focusing
neobanks on specific market segments, specific regions and specific
categories of consumers. Although the level of development of neobanks in
Ukraine is not high enough yet, however, in our opinion, today, especially
in the conditions of martial law, this can become a catalyst for the
development of the domestic banking system.

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

ISSN 2616-6100. 30BHiIITH: TOPriBAsA: €EKOHOMiKa, (piHaHcy, mpaso. 2022. No 4 77



DIHAHCHU. BAHKU. AYAUT

It should also be noted that there are a number of problems and
shortcomings in Ukraine that prevent the active development of neobanks.
In particular, this concerns the licensing of the activities of neobanks. The
main normative acts regulating this aspect are the Laws of Ukraine «On
Licensing of Certain Types of Economic Activities», «On Financial
Services and Regulation of Financial Services Markets», as well as «On
Banks and Banking Activities». At the same time, the type of licenses
required for the activity of a neobank depends directly on the range of
services to be provided. It is doubtful that it will be enough to obtain a
license to provide financial loans for the full-fledged activity of neobank.
After all, full-fledged neobanking is not only lending. As a rule, the
minimum package of neobank services includes maintaining current client
accounts and the ability to use the funds placed on it for payments.
A problem arises in this direction of the activity, since opening and
maintaining current accounts is currently exclusively a banking activity,
which is provided for in Art. 47 of the Law of Ukraine «On Banks and
Banking Activities». Our legislation does not provide for any «partial»
licenses, as in Great Britain. Therefore, the activity of neobanks, which
involves maintaining client accounts, is possible only on the basis of a
classic bank with a full license of the NBU.

In addition, the issuing and maintenance of payment cards is a rather
problematic area of activity of neobanks. Despite the fact that cards can be
served by various payment systems, they can only be issued by a bank that
has entered into an agreement with the relevant payment organization. This
1s provided for in Art. 14 of the Law of Ukraine «On Payment Systems and
Money Transfer». Thus, the activities of neobanks in Ukraine must
necessarily involve cooperation with any existing bank that has a license
from the National Bank of Ukraine. This format of the work of neobanks in
Ukraine is primarily caused by the lack of the necessary regulatory and
legal framework that can ensure the full-fledged activity of neobanks as
equal participants of the financial market. The lack of legislation makes it
impossible to effectively implement innovative approaches in the field of
banking services. So, for now, the development of domestic neobanks
directly depends on traditional banks due to the lack of a legislative
initiative regarding licensing and regulation of their activities.

Furthermore, the development of neobanking in Ukraine is accompanied
by a number of risks, among which there are technological risks, the risk of
data loss and cyber security. In particular, they include technological
failures and cyber-attacks, such as DDoS attacks, which can interrupt
neobanks from working continuously. Such attacks are aimed at blocking
access to networks, suspending hosting services through remote control by
malicious software. Although Ukraine is not included in the top rating of
countries with DDoS attacks, from the beginning of 2022 the banking
sector has repeatedly been subjected to such attacks. Another significant
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risk for neobanks is an insufficiently developed cyber-security system that
protects personal data, because due to improper use of data, banks can
suffer significant losses. In foreign practice, there are quite strict security
protocols defined by the FATF. They include strong authentication to
protect accounts from intruders and hackers, as well as system alerts to
detect large or suspicious transactions. Neobanks must also comply with
security requirements for their mobile applications. In addition, in order to
protect and preserve the confidentiality of account holders’ information,
neobanks must comply with the general data protection regulations in
within the limits of the legislation of the European Union on the protection
of personal data (General Data Protection Regulation). Therefore, violations
of data confidentiality and information security can significantly reduce the
level of consumer trust in neobanking.

Conclusions. Summarizing the results of the research, we can
conclude that the global financial market is developing very intensively.
The emergence of neobanking was an adequate response to the need of
consumers of financial services for constant access to their own accounts
and savings. The format of neobanks activity ensures satisfaction of the
defined need of clients to manage their own funds from anywhere in
the world in a convenient schedule 24 hours per day. The number of
neobanks in Ukraine and the world is growing. Neobanks are in demand by
consumers of financial services and attract the keen interest of investors,
because the development of neobanks opens up significant investment
opportunities.

The domestic banking sector is gradually introducing and
implementing innovations in accordance with global trends in the
development of banking services. One of the goals of the NBU Strategy
until 2025 1s to move towards the activation of financial technologies and
an open banking policy, which support society’s transition to digital banking.
Domestic neobanking gained a particularly noticeable development during the
coronavirus pandemic and also now in the conditions of martial law. It is
these circumstances that stimulate the development of digitalization of
almost all processes in the country and, of course, domestic neobanking.
However, the lack of a legislative initiative regarding the licensing and
regulation of the activities of neobanks in Ukraine restrains their potential
development and, accordingly, prevents the effective introduction of
innovative approaches into the domestic practice of banking services. So,
for now, the future development of domestic neobanks directly depends on
state support for their activities, internal regulatory policy and competitive
environment. Therefore, in our opinion, in the near future domestic
neobanks due to their competitive advantages will become equal
participants of the financial market and will be able to compete seriously
with traditional banks. And this should become a catalyst for the recovery
of the economy and development of our country in the post-war period.
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AUDIT IN THE DIGITAL ECONOMY

Introduction. The rapid transformational
processes of the economy and the mass digitization
of all spheres of life require clear, coherent and
systematic approaches to the construction of their
activities from the subjects of audit activity. Ukraine
is not lagging behind in the introduction of the latest
forms of control, and therefore actively incorporates
the experience of EU countries into the domestic
audit practice. Such a form of control, which is
actively introduced into the practice of control and
verification work, taking into account the experience
of EU countries, is e-audit.

Problem. Serious concerns among users of
financial statements, business entities, and entities of
audit activities are caused by a massive increase in
the amount of data, which requires interested users
to search for new, progressive approaches to the
construction of their activities, in particular, in terms
of a conceptual change in the approach to the
construction of the work of audit activities.

The aim of the study is to reveal the essence of
the concept of «e-audity and critically assess theore-
tical and practical approaches to the transformation
of audit activity in the context of modern business
challenges.

Methods. General scientific and special
methods are used: theoretical generalization and
grouping, formalization, analysis and synthesis;
logical generalization of the results.
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AYJUT Y LM ®POBII EKOHOMILII

Bcemyn. Cmpivki mpancgopmayiiini npoyecu
EeKOHOMIKU ma MAco8a ouddcumanizayis écix cgep
Jlcummst gumazaoms 6i0 Cy0 '€kmie ayoumopcokoi
OIANILHOCMI  YIMKUX, 3/14200HCEHUX 1 CUCEMHUX
nioxo0ie 00 noby0osu ceoei dianvHocmi. YKpaina
He gidcmac i3 3aCMOCYBAHHAM HOBIMHIX popm
KOHMPOIO U GKMUBHO 8NPOBAVNHCYE 00CEI0 Kpain
€C y eimuusuany npakmuxy ayoumy. Taxorw
@DOPMOIO KOHMPOTIO, WO AKMUBHO 8HPOSAONCYEMBCS
6 NPAKMUKYy KOHMPOJbHO-NEPEGIPOUHOl pobomu
3 ypaxyeanuam oocsidy kpain €C, € e-ayoum.

Ilpoonema. Cepiio3ni 3aHenOKOEHHA Y KOPUC-
myeauig (iHancoeoi 36imHocmi, cy6’e€xmie 20cnooa-
prosanHs ma cy6 ’ekmie ayoumopcvbkoi OBLIbHOCHI
BUKTUKAIOMb MACO8e 3POCMAHMA 00cA2i6 OaHUX,
wWo eumazaromev 6i0 3aYiKAGIEHUX KOPUCTY8aYie
NOWLYKY HOBUX, NPOSPECUBHUX NiOX00i8 00 nobyoosu
CBOET DiTLHOCHI, 30KpeMa 8 YACHUHI KOHYeNnyanbHoi
3MIHU NI0X00Y 00 n06Y008U pobomu ayoumopcoKoi
OisnbHOCHI.

Memoio docniodicents € po3KpUmms CymHocmi
NOHAMMA «e-ayoumy» ma Kpumuuna oyinka meope-
MUYHUX | RPAKMUYHUX NI0X00i8 00 mparcghopmayii
ayoumopcokoi’ QisbHOCME 8 KOHMEKCMI CYYACHUX
BUKTIUKIE OI3HEC).

Memoou. Buxopucmano 3a2anbHoHayKosi ma
cneyianbhi Memoou: meopemuiHo20 y3a2anbHeHHs
ma epynyeamHs, opmanizayii, aHarizy ma CuHmesy;
JI02I4HO20 Y3a2aNbHEeH S Pe3YIbMamis.
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Results. An author’s approach to revealing the
essence of the conceptual and categorical apparatus
of electronic audit has been formed.

Conclusions. A conceptual and categorical
apparatus of electronic audit has been developed,
within which: the concept of «e-audit» is substan-
tiated (systematic, independent and documented
audit of the correctness, completeness, timeliness
and compliance of data (operations, reporting and
other documents), which is carried out using modern
digital — technologies that automate processes and
contribute to more effective achievement of the goal
of electronic audit tasks), in which, unlike existing
definitions, a systematic approach was applied,
which allowed to characterize it from economic
and audit  approaches to the definition. This
contributes to the deepening of the understanding of
the essence of concepts, the unification of the
terminological apparatus to increase the efficiency
of decision-making in the field of control and
verification work.

Keywords: audit, e-audit, transformation of
activities, digital technologies.

Pesynomamu. Chopmosaro asmopcokuti nioxio
w000 pOo3KpUmMms CymHoOCMi NOHAMILIHO-Kame2o-
pianvrozo anapamy enekmpoHHO20 ayoumy.

Bucnosku. Possunymo nonamiiino-kamezo-
pianvhuil anapam eiekmpoHHO20 ayoumy, y mMeicax
SAK020: OOIPYHMOBAHO NOHAMMA «e-ayoumy (cucme-
Mamuyua, He3anedcHa ma OOKYMeHMOBAHA ayou-
mMopcbka nepegipka npaguIbHOCHI, NOBHOMU, CGOE-
yachocmi U 6ionosionocmi  damux  (onepayit,
36IMHOCMI MA THWUX OOKYMEHMIB), W0 NPOBOOUMbCA
3 BUKOPUCIMAHHAM CYYACHUX OUOHCUMAN-TNEXHO-
J02il, AKI agmoMamu3yioms npoyecu ma CHpUusiomb
eekmueHiuoMy OOCACHEHHI0O Memu 3d 3a80aHb
eIeKMPOHHO20 ayOumy), 8 KoMy, Ha GIOMIHY 6i0
HasI6HUX OeiHiyill, 3aCMOCO8AHO CUCEMHUL NIOXIO,
Wo 0ano 3M02y 0XapaKmepu3y8amu 1o20 3 eKoHo-
MIUHO2O MaA AyOUMopCbKo2o NiOX00i8 00 GUSHAUEHHS.
Le cnpusie noanubnenmio po3yminHs cymnocmi noHsms,
VHibikayii mepminonoziynoeo anapamy 05 NiO8uU-
WeHHs echekmusHoCmi NPUUHAMA piuileHb y cpepi
KOHMPOIbHO-NEpesipoyHoi pobomu.

Knwuoei crnoea: aymur, e-ayIouT, TpaHC-
(dhopmallis AisUIBHOCTI, ANUIKUATAI-TEXHOJIOTII.
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Introduction. During Ukraine is placed under the martial law of
quick response required such questions as: new realities of doing business are
more relevant than ever, provision of quality services in remote conditions of
the audit team; security in providing users with confidence in the adequacy
of presented financial information for interested users. Therefore, the
relevance of the implementation of e-audit and its proper realization in
the practical activities of the Companies determined the choice of the topic of
this research. Ukraine is not lagging behind in the introduction of the latest
forms of control and therefore actively incorporates the experience of EU
countries to the domestic audit practice. E-audit is a form of control that is
actively implemented in the practice of control and verification work, taking
into account the experience of EU countries.

Problem. Users of financial statements and subjects of audit
activities are seriously concerned and cautioned by the new e-audit
methodology, which is not adapted to practical use, particular in terms of
understanding its essence and the specifics of its implementation in real life.

Analysis of recent research and publications. The works of many
scientists, both domestic and foreign, are devoted to the problems of audit
development and functioning. In the scientific literature and legal acts,
attention is mainly focused on the essence of audit in its classical definition.
Considering the issue of modernization of audit activity, in particular the
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introduction of such concept as «e-audity», this issue is not comprehensively
covered in the available publications, since the vast majority of the
presented works still focus on classic, well-tested approaches to building
audit activity.

The issue of determining the economic essence of the concept of
«e-audity was considered by researchers at different times from the
following perspectives: as part of a standard tax audit (A. Asadov, 1. Shtuler,
I. Podik, V. Korotun, D. Rybalchenko, A. Novytskyi, N. Repekha [1-7]); as
a fundamentally new approach that will allow building an audit that is
based not on the formation and study of a sample, but to fully cover the
entire general population (Yu. Krot [8]); as the automation of the activities
of the audit activity subjects (H. Pchelianska, T. Markova, K. Doicheva [9],
N. Kovtunovych [10]); in the format of digital methods of electronic
information analysis (S. Wilson, T. Haiduchok, T. Dmytrenko, S. Oneshko,
S. Viter, A. Viremeichyk [11-13]); as an innovative control tool (I. Podik [4]).

However, to date, questions remain debatable regarding: the essence
of the concept of «e-audit»; adaptation of the established audit practice to
modern market requirements and the transformation of this process into a
digital business environment, outlining the risks and benefits of its
application, as well as the inadequacy of outlining possible ways of
its development and implementation.

The aim of the study is to reveal the essence of the concept of
«e-audit» and to critically evaluate theoretical and practical approaches to
the transformation of audit activity in the context of modern business
challenges.

Methods. The following methods were used in the research process:
theoretical generalization and grouping (to determine the essence of the
concept of «e-audit»), formalization, analysis and synthesis (to substantiate
methodological approaches to the implementation of e-audit); logical
generalization of results (formulation of conclusions and proposals).

Results. First of all, it is necessary to clearly define the essence of
the concept of «e-audit» and to standardize this definition. Thus, Table 1
presents the definition of the essence of the concept of «e-audit» in various
scientific sources.

Table 1

Definition of the essence of the concept of «e-audit» in scientific sources

Author Definition

Electronic audit is a general term that covers a number of concepts, namely:
«audit of electronic data»; «computer audit methods» or «computer audit tools
N. Lewis [14] and methods»; «continuous auditing» and «data mining». Basically, it is the
use of computers and computer software to obtain useful information from the
organization's computer systems

The technique of electronic audit (e-audit) is used to analyze electronic data
during the audit of companies, especially for large companies with a huge
A. Asadov [1] volume of electronic transactions. Electronic audit is the most important and
basic part of modern on-site tax audit. The difference between an in-house tax
audit and an out-of-office tax audit is that an
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The continue of the table 1

Author

Definition

in-house tax audit is based on the data of declarations (i.e. tax returns)
and financial reports, while the e-audit is carried out on the basis of
electronic transactions of the taxpayer, directly imported from the
accounting system, and cross-reconciliation analysis with electronic data
of third parties. Any discrepancies in electronic transactions detected by
the special software for electronic audit of the tax authority during the
electronic audit are completed by a physical check of primary
documents at the enterprise. However, the initiation of an electronic
audit must be justified, and this justification is the high tax risk of the
taxpayer, revealed during the desk tax audit

L. Boiko ta O. Pustiak [15]

A computer audit is a check of computer accounting data and indicators
of electronic financial reporting of a business entity in order to
determine their reliability, completeness and compliance with current
legislation

S. Manson,
Sc. McCartney [16]

Audit automation refers to the use of information technology in
planning, control and documentation of audit work

S. Ivakhnenkov [17; 18]

A computer audit can be conducted only if the enterprise uses an
automated form of accounting, as well as a computer program that
automates the audit is implemented.

A. Williamson [19]

Audit automation — the application of information technologies to facilitate
the auditor's planning, control and business documentation processes

U. Hutsalenko [20]

Computer audit is the application of computers and modern information
technologies for the organization of audit activities, including audits of
financial statements and the preparation of an audit opinion, as well as
the provision of related audit services.

O. Dodonov, M. Horbachyk,
M. Kuznietsova [21]

The term «electronic audit» is interpreted as the application of information
technologies by the auditor in the process of checking information generated
in the environment of the client's computer information system, based on the
assessment of risks inherent in such an environment

H. Biletska [22]

A computer (electronic) audit is a check of accounting operations (and
their sources/origin) of a business entity, provided in electronic form
with the help of appropriate specialized software, in order to determine
their reliability, completeness and compliance with current legislation

K. Bezverkhyi [23]

Electronic audit (e-audit) is an innovative tool for monitoring the
completeness of assessment and payment of taxes

0. Volot, O. Akymenko [24]

Audit automation means, first of all, the use of information technologies
at the preparatory stage of the audit, at the stage of planning, verification
and issuance of an audit opinion

K. Zakalinska [25]

Audit automation is a universal tool for researching the effectiveness of
auditing firms, as it makes it possible to reduce the labor intensity of an
audit, to implement elements of management accounting and activity
control in parallel with financial accounting, to work in accordance with
developed algorithms, to comply with audit and internal firm standards,
to automate not only the audit, but also and the implementation of
consulting projects, which allows maintaining the appropriate level
of competitiveness through information resources

L. Sukhareva,
O. Mihulina [26]

The fundamental difference of the automated audit is that the auditor has
the opportunity to check the general population, which forms a certain
type of facts of economic activity, a set of documents or accounts of
analytical accounting, and not rely only on samples.

Yu. Krot [8]

The fundamental difference of the automated audit is that the modern
auditor today has the opportunity to check the entire general population
that forms a certain type of transactions or account balance, the entire set
of documents or accounts of analytical accounting, and not rely only on
samples. Computer programs that will allow such an analysis are called
generalized audit software (GAS)

. Shtuler [2]

E-audit, as part of a standard tax audit, is a study in the electronic
environment of accounting transactions (their sources/origin) with the
help of computerized tools, using analytical, evaluation and test audit
methods, and is implemented by including in its methodology and
procedure a unified format of submission of electronic data by taxpayers
to the control body
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The end of the table 1

Author Definition
I Podik, M. Zhyvko, Electror}ic audit.is deﬁr.led as 1the chc.ack agd Veriﬁcatign of accounFing
A. Volnykh [3] transactlf)ns carrled out 1n an e‘ ectronic env1r0pment using computerized

tools, using analytical, evaluation and test audit methods

Computer audit refers to a high level of automation of auditors'
activities, which is characterized by: the use of the latest information
technologies as the main tool in the process of preparing and conducting
an audit in a computer information system; approach to the verification,
which involves assessing the reliability of the environment of the
computer information system as a basis for forming a conclusion
regarding the reliability of financial reporting
The main difference between e-audit and the traditional one, which is
implemented in the domestic space, is the use of digital methods of
analysis of electronic information contained in accounting and primary
documents
Electronic audit — a type of audit, primarily aimed at checking the
correctness and completeness of the display in the relevant programs (in
the electronic environment) of economic transactions of accounting and
tax accounting, registers of synthetic and analytical accounting,
checking accounting transactions (and their sources of origin),
identifying probable causes of discrepancies in analytical and credentials
Electronic audit is a systematic, independent and documented process of
obtaining evidence using electronic means to determine the degree
of compliance with audit criteria. Electronic auditing is an effective
method for risk-based thinking, working with external suppliers to
ensure process control, viewing product-related issues in real-time, and
improving understanding between all stakeholders
Electronic audit (or e-audit) is the newest data inspection tool. The
essence of the e-audit mechanism is the use of a special format of
electronic reporting, which ensures unhindered receipt of information
for conducting an effective tax audit and minimizes any additional
requests for information. An example of such an electronic data standard
is the Standard Audit File for Tax (SAF-T)
E-audit is the verification of accounting transactions (and their
sources/origins) provided electronically using appropriate software.
E-audit, as part of a standard tax audit, is implemented by adding SAF-T
to the methodology and procedure of a standard tax audit

H. Pchelianska, T. Markova,
K. Doicheva [9]

T. Haiduchok, T. Dmytrenko [12]

H. Biletska, H. Kovtunovych [27]

S. Wilson [11]

. Podik [4]

V. Korotun [5]

Source: developed by the authors.

Generalization of approaches to determining the economic essence of the concept
of «e-audit» are presented in the Table 2.

Table 2
Generalization of methodological approaches to determining the economic
essence of the concept of «e-audit» in the analyzed sample of literary sources

Approaches to defining Number of Share of
. The authors sources, o
the concept of «e-audit» . sources, %
units
0. Akymenko, A. Asadov, O. Volot, A. Volnykh,
. . H. Biletska, L. Boiko, M. Zhyvko,
Modern inspection H. Kovtunovych, V. Korotun, Yu. Krot, 10 4347
O. Mihulina, O. Pustiak, L. Cukhareva, I. Shtuler
Using computers and A. Williamson, O. Dodonov, M. Horbachyk,
software to obtain U. Hutsalenko, N. Lewis, Sc. McCartney, 6 26.08
information S. Manson, M. Kuznetsova, M. Matiukha
An innovative control tool | K. Bezverkhyi, I. Podik 2 8.70
Digital methods of
electronic information S. Wilson, T. Haiduchok, T. Dmytrenko 2 8.70
analysis
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The end of the table 2

Approaches to defining
the concept of «e-
audity

The authors

Number of
sources,
units

Share of
sources, %

Automation of auditors'

K. Doicheva, S. Ivakhnenkov, T. Markova,

activities H. Pchelianska 2 8.70
Activity effectiveness K. Zakalinska | 435
research tool

Total: 23 100

Source: calculated by the authors based on the results of the analysis of sources
[2-5; 8;9; 11; 12; 14-17; 19-22; 24-25].

It should be noted that the researchers' interpretation of the concept
of e-audit does not fully reveal it. In none of the specialized works on audit
automation, a holistic concept of the operation of the information system
capable of achieving a comprehensive solution to the automation of audit
tasks, as required by the requirements for the auditor's activity, was not
proposed. Approaches to the definition of electronic audit do not provide an
answer regarding the procedural consolidation of the features of the
application and implementation of electronic audit. Therefore, it is
appropriate to analyze the approaches to determining the economic essence
of the concept of e-audit [7; 29].

The Table 2 demonstrate that the largest share of authors who
propose approaches to determining the economic essence of the concept of
«e-audit» falls on modern verification.

According to the summarized data given in the table 2, the largest
percentage of researchers are of the opinion that electronic audit is a type of
modern verification, which cannot be disagreed with, because audit is the
verification of data and indicators of a business entity, and e-audit is a more
modern type of audit.

Almost half as many researchers define e-audit as the use of
computers and software to obtain information. However, it is worth noting
that this is a rather simplified concept, because electronic audit is not
limited to this and is a more complex automated process.

Less popular, although quite correct, is the approach to determining
the economic essence of the concept of e-audit as an innovative control
tool, since it is thanks to innovative methods and technologies that
electronic audit has emerged as a new separate category that requires
in depth research. and further development. Undoubtedly, electronic audit is
also an effective means of control [4; 23].

The same share falls on the definition of the concept of «electronic
audit» as the use of digital methods of electronic information analysis [11; 12];
and the same — as the automation of auditors' activities [9; 17], thereby
emphasizing that process automation is a necessary component of the
studied concept.

The share of definitions of electronic audit as a tool for researching
the effectiveness of activities is the smallest [25]. Undoubtedly, electronic
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audit provides higher efficiency at all stages of verification and data
analysis, but this approach focuses on defining the concept from the point
of view of auditors, and not in general.

Currently, for the formation of the definition of the electronic audit
concept, it is necessary to envisage not one-sided proactive activity of the
auditor, but rather two-sided activity. On the one hand, this is the profe-
ssional activity of a specially authorized body, which at the legislative level
1s empowered to carry out the relevant audit, or the professional activity of
an auditor, and on the other hand, it is the active participation of a subject of
entrepreneurial (economic) activity that can properly ensure such an audit
process activity. In addition, it should also be noted that other subjects (soft-
ware developers, administrators of information systems (databases), providers)
are also active participants in electronic audit as a system process [7].

Conducting an electronic audit has many advantages, including time
savings, reduced travel to remote areas, less paper required, and real-time
audit observation and tracking.

Conclusions. Increased access to the Internet, speed of data transfer,
convenience and mobility of communication are among the driving forces
that provoked the global digitalization of all spheres of life. E-audit, in its
essence, is designed not only to speed up access to information, but to allow
conducting audits as accurately, extensively and with multi-level degrees of
control as possible. The main advantages are: mobility, convenience,
overcoming the problems of remoteness of both the client and the audit
team, increased profitability of all market participants; availability of
information from anywhere in the world (of course, provided there is an
uninterrupted and secure Internet connection); the ability to process and
store large amounts of data; ensuring transparency and openness of
business. In light of recent domestic events, in particular the current martial
law, business entities that have implemented and continue to develop
information technologies in their activities manage to ensure uninterrupted
functioning, provide workers with jobs, and as a result, support the
economy in order to bring victory closer.

It should be noted that at the same level as the obvious advantages,
there are also several restraining factors, in particular: the problem of data
security; possible resistance of the client and the audit team staff (internal
boycott of the introduction of transparent work tools), and, in fact, the
qualification of the staff of both the client and the subjects of audit activity;
the need for significant financial investments for the development of this
technology; the question of jurisdiction — the ownership of information, in
the case of using «cloud» technologies. However, the world mainstream of
digitization is impossible to stop, and in fact, it is impractical, and therefore
the development of e-audit as one of the new tools of digitalization is
a necessary and promising direction in the development of auditing activities.

The digitalization of society, in parallel with the simplification of life
and the initiation of the process of maximum openness and availability of
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data for a certain range of users, gives rise to a number of problematic
issues that are currently still insufficiently researched, in particular,
regarding the correctness of the construction of audit work by the subjects
of audit activity, and in terms of ensuring the proper access and quality of
information that is in the area of responsibility of the business entity
undergoing audit. What is an e-audit, what is its essence, purpose and what
methodological techniques should be applied by subjects of audit activity to
ensure the provision of a complete, true and unbiased conclusion on the
reliability of financial reporting in all essential aspects? — These are the
main challenges business community currently faced.

Therefore, the concept of «e-audit» can be defined as an innovative
form of control, a systematic, independent and documented audit check of
the correctness, completeness, timeliness and compliance of data
(operations, reporting and other documents), which is carried out using
modern digital technologies that automate processes and contribute to more
effective achievement of the goal of audit tasks.

In further scientific research, attention will be focused on: clarifying
the essence of the concept of «e-audit»; expanding the list of users with this
information; disclosure of the features of the transformation of the
established practice of conducting audits to modern realities of management
and total digitization of the economy and other spheres of life.
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DIGITIZATION OF EDUCATION:
EUROPEAN FORMAT

Introduction. During the last decade, the
transition to digital education has become one of
the main policy issues of the European Union.
The importance of responding to the challenges
facing higher education lecturers in the digital world
has become apparent.

Problem. The unprecedented transition to
online learning caused by the COVID-19 pandemic
has shown the real unpreparedness of the EU
education system for a full transition to online
education and demonstrated the main policy
weaknesses that need to be eliminated.

Methods. General scientific methods are
applied: analysis and synthesis, comparison, genera-
lization, analytical and statistical.

Results. The Digital education action plan
2021-2027 of the European Commission stated that
digital competences should be among the core skills
for all educators and training staff. In its Conclusion,
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LIUPPOBI3ALIS OCBITU:
EBPONENCBKU ®OPMAT

Bcmyn. [Ipomsazom ocmannso2o oecaimunimmsi
nepexio Ha yugposy oceimy cmag 0OHUM 3 20T08HUX
numars nonimuxu €sponeticokoeo Corosy. Bascnusicmo
Ppeazy8ants Ha GUKAUKU, 3 AKUMU CIUKAIOMbCA
suKIadayi 3axkaadie euwjoi oceimu y yugpogomy
ceimi, — oyesuoHa.

IIpoonema. besnpeyedermuuil nepexio 00 OHIALIH-
Haguanna, cnpuyunenuti  nawdemiclo  COVID-19,
N0KA3a6 peanbiy He20MOGHICMb OCGIMHLOI cucmemu
€C 0o nosHoco nepexody Ha 6eb-ocgimy ma
NPOOEMOHCMPYBAB OCHOBHI HEOONIKU NOTITMUKU, K]
HEeoOXIOHO YCYHYymU.

Mermoou. 3acmocosano 3a2anbHOHAYKOBI MEmoou:
aHaniz i CUHMe3, NOPIGHAHHS, V3A2ANbHEHHS, AHATIMUYHI
ma cmamucmuyHi.

Pesynomamu. YV Ilnaui 0iti €sponeiicokoi
Komicii 3 yugpoeoi oceimu na 2021-2027 pp.
3a3Haveno, wo yu@posi komnemenyii maroms 6ymu
OOHUMU 3 OCHOBHUX HABUYOK OISl 6CIX BUKAAO0AYI8
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the Council of the European Union confirmed the
importance of digital competences of teachers. In its
Resolution, the European Parliament stressed the
importance of providing financial support for training
courses and making them accessible to ensure that
teachers possess the necessary digital skills. The
EUA emphasized the importance of actions of
the governments of EU member-states as the main
policy developers at the national level to ensure the
financial and professional support for universities
staff.

Conclusions. Only the urgent transition to
online learning, caused by the total closure of
educational institutions of all levels during Covid-19,
showed the real state of the EU digital education
system and clarified the main problems that EU
policy makers have to solve. Two strategic priorities
have been identified that should be promoted at the
EU level: promoting the development of a highly
effective digital education ecosystem and enhancing
digital skills and competences for the digital
transformation.

Keywords: e-education, digital education,

ma HaeuanvHoz2o nepcouarny. Paoa €C y ceoemy
Bucnosky niomeepouna easwcnugicmes  yugposux
KOMnemeHyitl 8UKIa0ayie. €eponelicoKuti napiamenm
Y  ceoiti  pe3ontoyii  niOKpeciug  8aANCIUBICMb
HAOaHHA iHaHCOB0T NIOMPUMKU 0Nl HABUATLHUX
Kypcie [ 3abesneyenns ix odocmynHocmi, woob
2apanmysamu, wo GUKIA0AL 80100I0Nb HEOOXIOHUMU
yugpposumu Hasuuxkamu. €sponeticbka acoyiayis
VHIGEpCUMEemi8 HA20NOCUNA HA 8ANCIUBOCMI Ol
ypAaoie kpain — unenie €C aK 20106HUX PO3POOHUKIE
NONIMUKU HA HAYIOHANLHOMY pi6Hi wodo 3abes-
newenns QiHancogoi ma npoghecitinoi niompumxu
nepcoHay yHieepcumemis.

Bucnoeku. Jluwe mepminosuil nepexio 0o
OHNIAUH-HAGYAHHSA, BUKTUKAHUL NOGHUM  3AKPUIMMAM
oceimuix 3axnadis ycix pienie nio wac COVID-19,
NOKA3a6 peanvHuil Ccmaw cucmemu Yugpposoi
ocsimu ¢ €C ma 3’scysas ocHo8Hi npobremu, AKi
matoms eupiwtyeamu norimuxu €C. Busnaueno osa
cmpameziuni npiopumemu, AKi 6apmo npocyeamu
Ha pieni €C: cnpusHHA PO38UMKY BUCOKOEDEeKMUBHOT
exocucmemu  yughposoi oceimu ma nioeuUjeHHs
Yupposux HABUYOK i KOMnemeHyitl 01si yugpposoi

digital education action plan, digital competences, mpanceopmayii.
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Introduction. Digital transformation in education is a comprehensive
work based on building digital ecosystem solutions in education and
science which include creation of secure digital educational environment,
providing the necessary digital infrastructure of educational institutions,
increasing digital competence of teaching staff and students, digital
transformation of educational processes and services.

In its overview [1] of digital transition the European University
Association (EUA) stated «The digital transition is influencing large parts
of society, including universities. Digital communication, the sharing of
data and information, digitally enhanced learning, and teaching, as well as
research, digital skills and many other topics are high on universities’
agendas.»

Problem. The global lockdown caused by COVID-19 pandemic in
March 2020 resulted in the closure of education institutions all over the
world. The COVID-19 crisis put the world in a situation where there was
little choice but use digital technologies to provide education and training [2].
Digitally enhanced learning and teaching has increased during the pandemic
with universities quickly pivoting to remote learning [1].
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Although digital technologies enabled many pupils, students, and
adult learners to continue learning, it also proved a major barrier when
access, equipment, connectivity, or skills were lacking. Many Member
States experienced shortcomings in the system and a widespread lack of
digital readiness [2].

According to UNESCO research [3], nearly 1.6 billion learners in
more than 190 countries — 94 % of the global learner population — were
affected by the closure of education and training institutions at the height of
the COVID-19 crisis. According to European commission [4] only 39 %
of EU teachers were totally ready to shift for the remote learning and use
digital technologies in their professional activity.

The COVID-19 crisis required to rethink how education and training,
in all disciplines, are designed and provided to meet the demands of a
rapidly changing and increasingly digital world [5]. The importance to
respond to the challenges the tertiary educators face in digital world, the
necessity to ensure their digital skills and competences development, the signi-
ficance of materials copyright and ownership insurance were obvious.

Analysis of recent research and publications. Over the past
decades, many initiatives and investments have been undertaken in high
education digital skills development in the European Union: improvement
and modernization of education [4], shaping of the future of European
Education area by 2025 [6], renewing EU agenda for higher education [7].
Finally, in 2018 the EU framework for digital education was set in the first
Digital Education Action Plan 2018-2020 [2] as an integral part of the
European Education Area. The initiatives were often short-lived or limited
in scale and had marginal impact at educational system levels possibly
because the need for digitalization was not understood.

In Ukraine the problem of digital education and e-learning also
attained an unprecedented significance among the scientific communities
after the COVID-19 lockdown. The questions of improving distance
learning in higher education in the context of pandemic were considered in
the articles of A. Oleshko and S. Bondarenko [8], V. Bakirov and
M. Ogarkov [9], N. Prytulska, T. Bozhko and S. Kaminskyi [10].

The aim of the study is to carry out an in-depth analysis of the latest
steps and developments of the European Union in resetting education for
the digital age.

Methods. General scientific methods of analysis and synthesis,
comparison, generalisation, as well as analytical and statistical methods to
assess the EU approach to the digitalization of education were applied in
the study.

Results. The need for a new Action Plan, based on the first Digital
Education Action Plan (DEAP) was expressed in the Political Guidelines
[11] of European Commission President, President Ursula von der Leyen,
in July 2019. She stressed that the best investment is the EU citizens
education and skills development that would «drive Europe’s

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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competitiveness and innovation». Nevertheless, Europe was not yet totally
ready to shift to digital education, Ursula von der Leyen ensured to use all
tools and funds available to commit to «making the European Education
Area a reality by 2025» [2]. It was also stated that the barriers to access the
quality education should be brought down, the mobility and lifelong
learning should be ensured.

To better face the new challenges raised before EU educational
system by COVID-19 lockdown and urgent switch to online learning, the
European Commission carried out the analysis of outcomes of the first
DEAP 2018-2020.

The 2018 DEAP focused on formal education (primary and
secondary schools, VET, and higher education) and covered three priority
areas:

making better use of digital technology for teaching and learning;
digital competences and skills development;
improving education through better data analysis and foresight.

According to the Communication of the European Commission [4]
the 2018 Digital education Action Plan played an important role in bringing
together existing and new EU initiatives within one framework and
coordinating the overall approach to technology in education and digital
competence development. It triggered discussion and influenced policy
more widely across Europe. Its implementation boosted cooperation and
dialogue on digital education. Mainly, the first DEAP focused on using
digital technologies to respond to changing labour market needs [2].

In 2019 the EUA published its research [1] on the role of universities
in the digital transformation, emphasizing on the fact that «new
technologies will spread widely in society and the graduates without the
necessary skills to use the technologies of tomorrow’s labour market will
not be able to get a job».

The spread of COVID-19 all over the world caused the restrictions of
most EU countries to access to buildings and campuses of schools,
universities and other centers of education and training, as part of their
measures to slow down the spread of the virus [13]. It appeared a real test
of the DEAP 2018 effectiveness and the readiness of all the players in the
field of education to switch to the remote learning.

The numerous research on the higher education’s impacts and lessons
from the COVID-19 crisis showed that about 76 million pupils and students
in the EU were affected [14], access to and quality of the learning experience
varied a lot depending on the availability of infrastructure and devices, the
presence of digitally competent educators, including capacity to adapt
pedagogical methods and digital content, tools, services and platforms [2].

The UNESCO International commission on the future of education
reported [15] that COVID-19 has brought to the surface weaknesses and
vulnerabilities along with positive features of education within our
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societies. Among the main challenges to deal with are mentioned the
accentuation of inequality, risks caused by privatization of education, and
unpreparedness of all parties for a massive shift to digital and distance
learning.

The European Expert Network on Economics of Education (EENEE) [16]
as well as OECD [17] in their reports on assessment of COVID-19 impact
on education defined that the educational system of the EU was not ready
totally shift to online learning as all the students should have a device,
internet connection, technical equipment, and experience to receive the
course materials. The different level of access to above mentioned facilities
of all members of educational process revealed the inequality as the main
problem in digital education.

At the same time EENEE [16] states that «in line with the mechanism
of self-regulation and metacognition of students, there is little observed
impact of the COVID-19 crisis on learning in higher educationy.
The preparedness to urgently switch to the online learning is proved to be
higher at tertiary institutions compared with secondary ones.

From February to September 2020 the European Commission
organised the stakeholder' consultations to inform and gather evidence for
this initiative. The consultations involved public and private-sector,
education and training organisations, research institutions and civil
society (Figure).

STAKEHOLDERS CONSULTATIONS ON DIGITAL EDUCATION ACTION PLAN

44% @ Education and 44% @ Educator and staff
training institution 4% @ P
b arent
7% @ Learner
2% @ Researcher

21% @ Private sector

19% Civil society
including youth

6% @ Public authority
5% @ Research
5% @ Other

1% Employer
1% @ No answer
2% @ Other

Contributions to Open Public Consultation divided by respondents Contributions to Open Public Consultation divided by respondents
replying in organisational capacity by category replying in personal capacity by category

https://ec.europa.eu/education/sites/default/files/document-library-docs/deap-communication-sept2020_en.pdf

Figure. DEAP 2021-2027 stakeholders’ consultation structure [5]

As a result of stakeholders’ consultation, it was revealed [7] that the
education authorities highlighted the need to learn from the COVID-19
crisis, stressed the importance of the Member states' experience exchange
on implementation of different educational approaches, identifying their
strengths and weaknesses. The crisis has increased the need to boost the
digital skills of educators with the elaboration of practical guidelines for
educational institutions at EU level. The importance of strategic and
consistent approach by the EU on digital education was highlighted [5].
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According to respondents on DEAP [5], action at EU level should
support professional development for teachers; guidance on digital
education; enhance Member States’ efforts to improve connectivity and
infrastructure, provide support to education and training institutions for the
development of digital education strategies and specific measures for
disadvantaged groups.

Respondents from several Member States consider it essential to
invest in infrastructure, digital skills, digital literacy, and secure online
environments (platforms/ tools) with high-quality content. Respondents said
that educational institutions should do this by making the most of
innovative solutions offered by private education providers and technology
developers

Having taken into consideration the results of consultations, on
September 30, 2020, the European Commission issued its Communication
«Digital Education Action Plan 2021-27 «Resetting education and training
for the digital age» that was a collegial work led by Directorate-General for
Education, Youth, Sport and Culture of the European Commission.

According to the Communication [2] the European Union should
ambitiously address the opportunities and challenges of digital
transformation in education. The two strategic priorities to be taken forward
at the EU level were defined:

fostering the development of a high performing digital education
ecosystem,;

enhancing digital skills and competences for the digital
transformation.

It is stated [5] that digital competence should be a core skill for all
educators and training staff and should be embedded in all areas of teacher
professional development.

In December 2020 the Council of the European Union issued its
Conclusions [18] on digital education in Europe’s knowledge societies
noting that the European Commission has published a renewed Digital
Education Action Plan 2021-2027 [5], which should be followed-up in
a co-creative process with the Member States, where appropriate and relevant.

The Council also stated that «digital competences and adequate
pedagogical approaches are needed for teachers, trainers, educators and
other pedagogical staff and learners of all ages in all types and levels of
education and training to make meaningful use of digital technologies in
education. The provision of digital competences should be age- and
gender-sensitive and should also cover media, digital and data literacy,
critical thinking, and the fight against mis- and disinformation, hateful and
harmful speech, and cyberbullying and addiction, and address security
issues such as the protection of privacy, data protection and intellectual
property rights».

96 ISSN 2616-6100. 30BHIIITH TOPriBAs: €EKOHOMIKa, (piHaHcy, Ipaso. 2022. No 4



BUIITA OCBITA

The Council [18] invited the Member states, in accordance with
national circumstances:
to reflect on pedagogical models and the education and training of
teachers, trainers and educators and other pedagogical staff in order to better
take advantage of the various opportunities offered by digital education
technologies;
to enable and motivate teachers, trainers and educators and other
pedagogical staff, such as teacher trainers to undertake initial and
continuous professional development to develop and improve their own
digital skills and competences and basic knowledge of information and
communications technology (ICT) to a level that enables them to work
confidently with digital education technologies and to deliver high quality
education and training.

On March 25, 2021, the European Parliament (EP) issued Resolution
on shaping digital education policy (2020/2135(INI) [19]. The document
reflected the position of the EP on digital education policy, in particular
after the COVID-19 pandemic, and welcomed the Digital Education Action
Plan [5], its ambition, expanded scope beyond formal education.

The European parliament admitted that «inclusive, equitable and
properly funded quality education is a key driver of the green and digital
transitions and represents an investment in our common future, contributing
to social cohesion, sustainable economic growth, job creation and
employment and thereby to a fair a society».

In its Resolution the EP stated that whereas the content of teaching
and the education systems structuring is a national competence, new
challenges nevertheless call for effective coordination, and the appropriate
European Union digital education policies and tools is an important
dimension of the European Education Area.

The European Parliament believes that embracing and maximising
the potential of digital technologies must go together with modernising
existing curricula and learning and teaching methods and stresses in this
regard the importance of providing financial support for training courses
designed for teachers. It insists, that greater attention be devoted to
accessible teacher training to ensure that teachers and educators not only
possess digital skills but can also teach them.

The EP also encourages, in this regard, investments in specialisation
courses in digital teaching skills for teachers and stresses the essential role
of Erasmus+ and teacher mobility for the acquisition of skills. It notes the
potential of the future Teacher Academy and calls on the European
Commission to present to the Parliament a clear concept and budget. The
EP calls for a pan Union initiative to develop new pedagogical and
assessment methods for the digital environment, recognising specific digital
challenges such as asynchronous learning and the importance of fostering
critical engagement.

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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In respond to the suggestion of the European Commission for ‘active
involvement of the Committee of the Regions and local authorities’ in the
implementation of high-performing digital education ecosystem and
fostering digital skills and competences for the digital transformation,
the Committee issued on May 7%, 2021, its Opinion [20] on the Digital
education action plan 2021-2027.

The Committee in its Opinion called for direct public funding aimed
at the development of new teaching models and promoting 21% century
skills at all education levels, from school to university, as well as at further
simplifying the structure of EU funding programs.

The Committee suggested that teacher training models across the
European Union should be harmonized through enhanced co-operation
among the universities and teacher training centers. Furthermore, it urged
for the creation of physical «hubs» in university cities so that «teachers
across the education system can avail of in-service and quality continuing
professional developmenty.

In January 2021 the EUA published the report [21] describing the
situation regarding digitally enhanced learning and teaching (DELT) at
European higher education institutions mainly based on data from a survey
conducted between April and June 2020. Among the main enablers for
digital learning and training, staff training achieved the second highest
rating. As the concrete challenges, educators referred to the pressure on
research achievement and lack of protection from overly high workload
resulting from digitalisation that often resulted in cancellation of plans for
curriculum reform and staff development.

During the preparation of the Digital Education Action Plan
(2021-2027), extensive stakeholder consultations carried out by the
European Commission highlighted the need for strengthened cooperation
between relevant organizations and the fragmentation of digital education
policies. The Digital Education Hub should be a way to address the issues
in the field of digital education [22; 23].

According to Communication of the European Commission [5], the
European Digital Education Hub (EDEH) should support European Union
Member States to exchange experience and good practice on the digital
education, link stakeholders, monitor the implementation of the Action Plan
and the development of digital education in Europe, share best practices by
contributing to research experimentation and the systematic collection and
analysis of empirical evidence, support cross-sector collaboration and new
models for the seamless exchange of digital learning content.

The EDEH has been launched in July 2022. To achieve the
objectives, the creation of the following communities is foreseen under
the EDEH: a community for cooperation on digital education; a network of
National Advisory Services (NAS) for cooperating on the implementation
of digital education polices and a new Support, Advanced Learning and
Training Opportunities (SALTO) resource centre for digital education [22].
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In October 2021, the European Commission supported a dialogue
within the creation of a network of National Advisory Services working
primarily on the implementation of digital education policies. The network
aims at promoting the exchange of experiences concerning digital education
and ensures cooperation between countries. The preparatory work was
launched in 2022 for creation of a new Digital SALTO resource center,
which will develop as a resource centre working to support Erasmus
National Agencies in the digital dimension of the programme. The National
Agency of Finland was appointed for implementing this new network
of SALTO, which started its activities from August 2022.

Conclusions. Digital education has already been in the EU policy-
making process for more than a decade, but only the full urgent shift to the
online learning caused by total closure of educational institutions of all levels
during COVID-19 showed the real state of EU digital education system and
figured out the main problems to be addressed by EU policy makers.

The Digital Education Action Plan 2021-2027 of the European
Commission sets out a coordinated policy response at EU level promoting
high-quality and inclusive digital education, addressing unequal access, and
improving connectivity and empowering educators.

It is important to highlight that EU level policy makers mainly focus
on students’ digital literacy development and equal accessibility to the
learning resources. The EUA stresses that National governments of the
Member states as main policy makers on the national level should assess
the current digital environment of the MS universities, perform the research
of teaching staff readiness to deliver online trainings, uncover main
difficulties and needs of educators, enable the possibility, and provide
support for educators’ digital literacy development.
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